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Company at a Glance

NIl Lbly

AAG Energy, the Leading
Independent CBM Producer in China

DRAER - PEIERERT

Our Vision FE=

To be the world’s leading, most enduring
clean energy company for today and
tomorrow.

BERRBER RN KEERNERE
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Mission & @p
To create best value for society, optimized

platform for employees and highest return
for shareholders.
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About AAG Energy Holdings Limited
(“AAG Energy”)

AAG Energy Holdings Limited is a leading international energy company in the
field of Coal Bed Methane (CBM) exploration and production in China. It is
committed to developing and optimizing the value of unconventional gas
resources to supply clean energy to the economy in China. AAG Energy’s key
operating assets, Panzhuang and Mabi concessions, are located in the
southwestern part of Qinshui Basin in Shanxi Province, which boasting the
largest proved CBM geological reserves among basins in China. AAG
Energy’s Panzhuang concession, which is in partnership with China United
Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd. (“CUCBM”), is the most commercially
advanced Sino-foreign CBM asset in China and the first Sino-foreign CBM
cooperative project with full-scale commercial development and production.
The project has a designed annual production capacity of 500 million cubic
meters. The Overall Development Plan for the southern area in Mabi
Concession, in cooperation with China National Petroleum Corporation
(“CNPC”), was approved by the National Development and Reform
Commission (NDRC) of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) in
September 2018. The designed annual production capacity for commercial
development is 1 billion cubic meters. With its successful experience in the
commercialization of CBM and excellent management team, AAG Energy will
contribute more clean energy to society and create higher return for investors.
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Company at a Glance
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2018 Performance Highlights of AAG Energy
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We delivered strong financial results
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* Due to the different units of expression and decimal places reserved of data, there may be slight deviation in the percentage

of increase or decrease; the percentage of increase or decrease is based on the calculation of the minimum units of
expression and decimal places reserved available in the report.
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o Realized ASP excludes the directly attributable pass through cost, these reflecting the realized wellhead price.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

To create best value for society,
optimized platform for employees
and highest return for shareholders.
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Mr. Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman
HEEEE
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of
AAG Energy Holdings Limited (“AAG Energy” or the “"Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the "Group”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Overview

In 2018, world economy has maintained a moderate growth and energy
transformation has become a consensus in both international
community and energy industry in response to global climate change.
China’s macro economy ran steadily with its environmental policies
continuously conductive to the flourishing of domestic natural gas
market. The government has introduced various environmental policies
to sustainably take forward the prevention of air pollution and
strengthen "Coal to Gas” policy for civil use, heating and industrial use
in core regions, resulting a rapid growth in national consumption of
natural gas. According to the market report of SIA Energy Co., Ltd.
(“SIA"), an independent consulting firm, in 2018, China’s natural gas
consumption was approximately 279 billion cubic meters, representing
an increase of 16% compared to last year; annual import of natural gas
amounted to 124.8 billion cubic meters, representing a year-on-year
increase of 32%. China’s import of natural gas exceeded Japan for the
first time and China has become the largest importer in the world
which resulted in a sharp rise in average import price of natural gas.
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Chairman’s Statement
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In 2018, AAG Energy completed an internal major reform. On 24
August 2018, Liming Holding Ltd. (“Liming”), a wholly-owned second-
tier subsidiary of Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. ("XTRQ"), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603393),
has duly registered as the shareholder of AAG Energy holding 50.5% of
total issued shares of AAG Energy held. During this period, with its
consistent excellent operating ability and adequate technical reserve,
as well as professional teams with superior execution capability, AAG
Energy achieved a smooth personnel change and transition within its
board and management team, and maintained the production
operation under control and operating results improved remarkably in
2018: the gross production grew by 27.37% from 2017 to 802 million
cubic meters (28.3 billion cubic feet). The income (including
government subsidies and VAT refund) increased by 71.02% to
RMB1,258 million and the profit for the year of the Company increased
by 125.40% to RMB413 million. The EBITDA for the year rose 86.64%
from 2017 to RMB807 million and our earnings per share increased by
123.64% to RMBO0.123.

As the prevention of air pollution is a key point of national
environmental policy, “Coal to Gas” policy has been further
progressed with the implementation of the “Gasification of Shanxi
Province” strategy. AAG Energy reached a higher realized average
selling price (“realized ASP") from RMB1.30 per cubic meter in 2017 to
RMB1.64 per cubic meter in 2018.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Major Results Review in 2018:

— Health, Safety and Environment ("HSE"): Target zero on HSE
performance indicators

Outstanding HSE indicators are of the most essential edges for AAG
Energy in maintaining its leading position as an independent CBM
producer in China. In building a solid foundation for steady
development, AAG Energy has insisted on ensuring health, safety and
environment (HSE) from its start through the endeavours of improving
HSE management system. The Company sets its goal at zero injury of
staff and zero pollution of environment, and is willing to be the role
model in coal-bed methane industry in this regard. In 2018, the
Company continued to achieve excellency in HSE performance
indicators recorded zero on total recordable injury rate (“TRIR"), lost
time injury rate ("LTIR") and preventable motor vehicle accident rate
("PMVA").

Meanwhile, the Company actively responded to the government’s
"Green Mountains, Clean Waters” ecological protection strategy by
strictly complying with both national and local laws and regulations
associated to CBM and committed to reducing the environmental
impact from its activities related to exploration, development,
production and operations. We recorded zero in both environmental
pollution and ecological destruction in 2018.

— Panzhuang concession: New record high on gross production
Panzhuang concession maintains its performance as the best CBM
asset in China with its gross production reached 705 million cubic
meters (24.9 billion cubic feet) in 2018, outperformed the original
target of 626 million cubic meters, representing a year-on-year increase
of 23.44% from 2017. Sales utilization rate remained at 98%. Through
enhanced operating efficiency, we have finished drilling a total of 63
wells in 2018 that recorded a new high in annual well drilling.

Pursuant to the agreement entered into between us and China United
Coalbed Methane Corporation Ltd. (“CUCBM"), our concession
Chinese partner, 34 wells located in the cooperation area of Panzhuang
concession which operated by CUCBM due to historical reasons were
duly transferred to Sino American Energy Inc. (“SAEI"), a subsidiary of
the Company on 1 November 2018, which resulted in a production rise
of approximately 60,000 cubic meters per day for Panzhuang
concession.
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Chairman’s Statement
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— Mabi concession: Overall Development Plan approved and
ready for commercial development

The Overall Development Plan (“ODP”) of Foreign Cooperation CBM
Project in Southern area of Mabi concession was duly approved by the
National Development and Reform Commission of the People’s
Republic of China (“NDRC") in September 2018. It implied that the
southern area in Mabi concession had entered into commercial
development phase with compliance conditions ready for large scale
development. According to the approval, the project has a constructed
production capacity of 1 billion cubic meters per year for a construction
term of four years with gross investment amounted to RMB4.64 billion.

In 2018, the production of Mabi concession outperformed its
production in 2017. Gross pilot production increased from 58.28 million
cubic meters (2.1 billion cubic feet) in 2017 to 96.68 million cubic
meters (3.4 billion cubic feet) in 2018. Annual sales volume reached
87.35 million cubic meters (3.1 billion cubic feet) in 2018, increased by
62.97% from 53.60 million cubic meters (1.9 billion cubic feet) in 2017.
Annual sales utilization rate for 2018 was 90%.

— Corporate Management: Management system optimization and

implementation of development plan

The aim of corporate management is not simply managing but the
delivery of a harmonious development of corporate, individual and
society via a scientific, reasonable and efficient management system.

In 2018, AAG Energy completed the formulation of the 2019-2021
three-year development plan to further clarify the vision and mission of
the Company, as well as the development objective, management
objective, operating objective and financial objective for the coming
three years. The Company will also formulate practicable measures in
detail based on the development plan to guide the Company’s future
development.

To ensure the smooth implementation of the Company’s development
plan, we streamlined our structures by optimizing management
hierarchy and workflow to increase work efficiency. We followed the
principle of “simple and efficient, professional value, outstanding
effects” in establishing and defining the responsibilities of each
department and position in the headquarters of the Company in 2018,
to realize an integration between power and responsibility of
employees, and maximize the value of management.
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Through the optimization of our structures, the total number of AAG
Energy’s employees reduced by 74 to 569 as of 31 December 2018. On
the basis of personnel optimization, we continued to progress the
reform of the performance appraisal system by proposing the “value
appraisal system” to raise the performance standards and create a
challenging but exciting working environment. Thus, staff value can be
truly embodied by the appraisal and provides strong support to team
management.

Business Outlook

In 2019, the demand of domestic natural gas will continue to grow at a
relatively slower pace compared with last two years. Unconventional oil
and gas include CBM, shale gas and coal-based synthetic gas are
expected to become important supporting factors for steady
facilitation of the Action Plan for Defending the Blue Sky and “Coal to
Gas” strategy in China. To achieve efficient development of oil and
gas exploration, the effort for domestic oil and gas system reform will
be further strengthened with relevant policies following. The “Opinions
on Promoting the Coordinated and Stable Development of Natural
Gas" released by the State Council in 2018 issued signals such as
enhancement in domestic oil and gas exploration development,
encouragement in construction of storage and transportation
infrastructure, acceleration in overseas cooperation of natural gas
resources, etc. In 2019, new policies in facilitating steady development
on the establishment of natural gas coordination system will be
successively formulated and issued. Driven by the system reform and
policies implementation, the oil and gas exploration costs by
enterprises will be lowered.

As such, in 2019, the Company will primarily maintain the leading
edges of the existing concessions, through the completion of planned
drilling program in a timely manner, focusing on efficient exploration
with low-cost development and upgrading production and efficiency in
full force to increase concession production volume. At the same time,
the Company will keep insisting on production-based sales to
maximize sales utilization rate, adhere to resources-based and market-
oriented principles in reasonable allocation of CBM resources for sales
to generate higher operating income.

Meanwhile, AAG Energy will also actively respond to external
environmental changes, make full use of favourable policies to seek
new business development opportunities including both domestic and
overseas CBM or other unconventional oil and gas assets, and also
other assets with high potential for development in the entire natural
gas industrial chain.
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Optimization and reform will be continually intensified for corporate
management. Remuneration and welfare system will be refined to
improve welfare package of our employees in order to motivate their
working passion and attract high-caliber candidates to join the team.
The Company will enhance high-tech innovation and management
innovative capacity and accelerate the research and development of
competitive coal seam permeability improvement techniques to
promote its sustainable development.

Finally, on behalf of the Company, | would like to express my heartfelt
thanks to the shareholders and investors for their years of trust and
support. | would also like to express my sincere gratitude to all the
employees. The Company will continue to make unremitting efforts to
bring positive returns to the shareholders.

Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman of the Board

ERAREESH  #ERMZESTENBCE
HE ZFTETNFHENER  RSET
MRMFE  BBEBINIERE  WalSH
GATIABER o AEf R S Bl & # M E 2 Al
FEVRE ) - INIRFAE R AR R IR B2
BUERAT - RAFEERIIARDE S -

Ri& - AABRRKRAR MZFEREEMH
ARBBMIR - EHBHLREEBAR
DHME  TRE2EBE TRENEORE - K
RAGEETRE N FRRABRRGEREEN
B -

REE
EFRTE

DEREREBRERRIF/ 2 \FFH 9




/

%
\

\ ) /

)

.

f

\

Management Discussion
and Analysis

BEEENWR D




Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

We are pleased to announce that the Group continues to deliver
strong growth in gross production of coalbed methane ("CBM")
compared with 2017. The Group's 2018 gross production increased by
27.37% to 802 million cubic meters ("MMCM") (28.3 billion cubic feet
("bef")) (comprising Panzhuang concession’s production of 705 MMCM
(24.9 bcf) and Mabi concession’s production of 97 MMCM (3.4 bcf))
compared with 2017.

Compared with the budgeted capital expenditure of RMB490 million
for the full year, the actual capital expenditure this year was RMB323
million. The average drilling cost of each single lateral horizontal well
("SLH") in Panzhuang is basically the same as that of 2017, of which the
average drilling cost of SLHs in 3# coal seam and 15# coal seam are
RMB2.85 million and RMB2.98 million respectively. We are committed
to lowering the cost to increase our profit margin.

In 2018, the Group achieved a higher realized average selling price
("realized ASP") of RMB1.64/cubic meter, comprising realized ASPs of
RMB1.67/cubic meter and RMB1.39/cubic meter for Panzhuang and
Mabi, representing an increase of 27.48% and 21.93% compared to
RMB1.31/cubic meter for Panzhuang and RMB1.14/cubic meter for
Mabi for 2017 respectively. The increase in the realized ASPs for
Panzhuang and Mabi were driven by the government policy of unifying
the city-gate prices of natural gas for residential and non-residential
use and the increased prices of natural gas and growth of natural gas
consumption brought about by the ongoing implementation of
prevention measures towards air pollution.

The revenue for 2018 (including government subsidy and VAT refund)
increased to RMB1.258 billion, representing an increase of 71.02% over
2017. Operating profit increased to RMB604 million, representing an
increase of 87.38%. Profit for the year increased by 125.40% to RMB413
million. EBITDA increased by 86.64% to RMB807 million. Earnings per
share increased by 123.64% to RMBO0.123.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Key financial indicators for the last 5 years are as follows:

Current assets

Non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Revenue

Other income

Profit before income tax

Profit/(loss) for the year

Net cash generated from
operating activities

Net cash used in investing
activities

Net cash (used in)/
generated from
financing activities

mMBEE
FRBEE
mEE

mBRIE
FRBEE
mafm

YA

HAb WA

BR PSR AT A
FEAE (F18)
REZHABRLIFR

RERSIARSFR

BMEERE (M), 5
REFER

¥ BB )

RO hFMHRRERIIRNT -

2,537,341
3,595,348
6,132,689
422,062
760,282
1,182,344
541,598
193,913
310,941
183,198

438,301

(455,556)

26,392

2,699,512
3,238,962
5,938,474
443,775
657,765
1,101,540
411,278
149,276
178,980
106,635

257,418

(337,742)

12,874

2,820,279
2,667,486
5,487,765
392,893
503,426
896,319
536,655
127,672
51,717
(56,939)

317,382

(743,937)

1,517,712

1,347,769
2,147,103
3,494,872
316,439
375,432
691,871
425,895
151,197
275,048
194,988

297,587

(420,954)

1,014,039
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

We have achieved significant progress towards certain principle

operational objectives for the two key assets operated by the

Company's two subsidiaries: Panzhuang concession operated by SAEI
and Mabi concession operated by Asian American Gas Inc. ("AAGI").

1.

Panzhuang Concession

Our Panzhuang concession, which is in partnership with CUCBM,
continues to be the CBM project with the highest output in
China, and was listed as China’s key CBM project in production
under the 13th Five-Year Plan for the development and utilization
of CBM (coal mine gas) prepared by the NEA and issued by the
NDRC of the People’s Republic of China.

Production Update

In 2018, the gross production from Panzhuang concession
reached 705 MMCM (24.9 bcf), 12.70% higher than the
original target of 626 MMCM (22.1 bcf), with a 23.44% year
on year ("YoY") increase compared with 572 MMCM (20.2
bcf) in 2017. The average daily gas production was 1.93
MMCM. By the end of 2018, 243 wells were in production,
including 67 pad drilling wells ("PDW"), 49 multi-lateral
drilling wells (“MLD") and 127 SLHs. According to the
agreement between SAEl and CUCBM, 34 wells originally
operated by CUCBM due to historical reasons in Panzhuang
concession were officially transferred to SAEl on 1
November 2018, thus increased the production of
Panzhuang project by about 60,000 cubic meters per day.
Further details on production and well count are set out
below in Table 1.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Panzhuang Concession (Continued)

1.

14

Drilling and Surface Facilities Update

In 2018, we have drilled a total of 63 wells (of which 50 were
SLHs and 13 were PDWs) in Panzhuang concession, 8 more
wells had been drilled compared to that of 2017. Average
drilling time for each SLH was just 16.53 days, representing
an improvement of 2.19% in our drilling efficiency
compared to that of 2017. With more input of new wells
and the improvements of operational efficiency, a solid
foundation has been laid for the increase of 2019 annual
production.

The 34 SLHs drilled in 15# coal seam completed in 2018
successfully explored and applied a series of drilling,
completion, extraction and surface facilities engineering
technologies suitable for 15# coal seam development. The
drilling fluid system for the drilling of this coal seam section
has been applied and verified in practice, showing a good
stability effect on coal seam protection and wellbore
protection. We have accumulated rich technical and
operational experience in building up, landing, and geo-
steering in horizontal section. A mature system for lateral
drilling in the thin coal seam has been formed, which
examplified the successful development of SLHs in thin 15#
coal seam in the Qinshui Basin.

Currently, the surface facilities of our Panzhuang concession
include 6 gas gathering stations, 24 wellhead compressors,
61 km of trunk lines and 94 km of single well pipelines. The
central gas gathering station has a secondary processing
capacity of 800,000 cubic meters per day, and compressors
at remaining stations and wellheads have a processing
capacity of 3.65 MMCM per day. The construction progress
of a double circuited 35 kilovolt power line lags behind (the
company reserves its right to hold the relevant parties
accountable). This power line will be able to satisfy the
electricity demand of the Panzhuang project and further
improve the gas distributing capacity after becoming
operational, thus increasing our production and sales.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

2.

Mabi Concession

Our Mabi concession, which is in partnership with CNPC, was
listed as China's key CBM project under construction under the
13th Five-Year Plan for the development and utilization of CBM
(coal mine gas) prepared by NEA and issued by NDRC, and
became one of the key CBM construction projects in Shanxi
Province in 2018.

Pilot Program Update

Mabi concession showed promising success in 2018 with its
gross production increased to 96.68 MMCM (3.4 bcf)
compared with 58.28 MMCM (2.1 bcf) in 2017. The 2018
average daily production for Mabi was 260,000 cubic
meters, compared to 160,000 cubic meters in 2017. By the
end of 2018, Mabi had a total of 175 pilot wells in
production. Further details on production and well count
are set out below in Table 1.

ODP Approval

On 8 October 2018, NDRC formally announced the
Approval Regarding the Overall Development Plan (“ODP")
in respect of the Foreign Cooperation CBM Project within
the Southern Area in Mabi Concession, Qinshui Basin,
Shanxi Province. According to the Announcement, the
approval was officially issued in September 2018. With this
approval, Mabi is eligible for its commercial development.
Pursuant to the approval, the project has a constructed
production capacity of 1 billion cubic meters (“bem”) per
year, and the construction period is 4 years. It has been
planned to use a gas-bearing area of 131.7 square
kilometers and a CBM reserve of 19.623 bcm. The total
investment is RMB4.64 billion, and Chinese and foreign
partners hold 30% and 70% equity, respectively. At present,
preliminary design of surface facilities has been approved
by CNPC, and we are now preparing to kick off the
development activities according to the approved ODP.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Table 1 — Operation Update* of Panzhuang (“PZ") and Mabi
("MB") Concessions

Gross production (MMCM)
Total average daily production
(MMCMD)

mEE(BEMLIXK)
BT HEE (B8R
FX)

Gross production of PZ (MMCM)
PZ MLD
PZ SLH
PZ PDW
Total producing wells of PZ**
PZ MLD
PZ SLH
PZ PDW
PZ wells drilled
PZ wells fracked

EHBEE (BB K)
EAEMLD
SBHESLH
SEHPDW
E B E
SEHEMLD
EHESLH
& PDW
E R
BRI ERREHE

Gross production of MB (MMCM)
MB MLD
MB SLH
MB PDW

Total producing wells of Mabi**
MB MLD
MB SLH
MB PDW

MB wells drilled

MB wells fracked

BUBEE(BBMLAK)
BMLD
B4 SLH
5 PDW
B AR A EE R
B M MLD
B4 SLH
5 A PDW
5 ARS8 EE R BE 21

* Operation update as of 31 December 2018, 08:00 CST.

*x Well count is calculated from pumping start date.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

2.

Mabi Concession (Continued)

— Mabi Acreage Decrease Under New Exploration License
and Potential Impact on Reserves
According to the “Notice With Regard to the Strengthening
of Joint Verification on the Overlap of Land for Exploration
Rights and Mining Rights Construction Projects and Various
Protected Areas” jointly issued by the Shanxi Provincial
Department of Land and Resources (currently the Natural
Resources Department) and the Shanxi Provincial
Department of Environmental Protection (currently the
Ecology & Environment Department), the overlapped area
of the national forest parks and protected areas was
excluded from the 2018 renewed exploration license of
Mabi concession accordingly. The excluded area accounted
for only 7.68% of the original exploration right area in Mabi
concession, and the estimated proved reserves was
reduced by 11.28%. Accordingly, we filed an application
with the Natural Resources Department of Shanxi Province
to retain the excluded exploration right area until the issue
of new regulation related to overlapping areas.

Exploration and Reserve Upgrade

Based on reports issued by Netherland Sewell & Associates Inc.
("NSAI"”), an independent reserve certification company, the
Group's 1P and 2P natural gas reserves as at the end of 2018
("2018YE") were 205.4 bcf and 656.9 bcf respectively,
representing a 34% increase over the 1P reserve of 153.0 bcf as at
the end of 2017 (“2017YE") and a 6% increase from the 2P
reserve of 617.6 bcf as at 2017YE.

Panzhuang concession contributed a 1P reserve of 162.2 bcf and
a 2P reserve of 209.5 bcf as at 2018YE, representing an increase
of 46% and 10% respectively over the 1P reserve of 111.4 bcf and
the 2P reserve of 190.9 bcf as at 2017 YE. Both the 1P and 2P
reserves increased significantly from 2017YE due to the good
performance of existing wells and the improved efficiency of
drilling program in 2018. We have been able to fulfill our
commitment to upgrading Panzhuang concession’s original
designed capacity of 22.1 bcf for 2018. The increased 1P and 2P
reserves will further contribute to the production of Panzhuang in
the future.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued) E 3 C1 - 1E)

3. EXPLORATION AND RESERVE UPGRADE (Continued) 3. BERFEEHK(E)
Mabi concession contributed a 1P reserve of 43.2 bef and a 2P 55 A& 582018 6 JEE Y 1P AN 2P 1 & 9 Bl
reserve of 447 4 bcf as at 2018YE, representing an increase of 4% BARET HERMALTLESL FHER
and 5% respectively over the 1P reserve of 41.6 bcf and the 2P 2017 FER 1P E416ET HRRIE
reserve of 426.8 bef as at 2017YE, which benefited from the KT 4% 82017 FIRA 2P fEE 4,268 18
performance of existing wells. In order to achieve better NAHRREBRT 5% & FmNIRAHH
economic benefits, we developed a new Long Range Plan (the BIFRIE o AEDE A&
“LRP") based on the prioritized development strategy of the 2018 FHMEN B LB LITHMER
advantageous region in 2018. According to the LRP, the 1P, 2P B HIE T REREI(TLRP)) - B IE
and 3P reserves of Mabi concession have increased. REBHE - BSURBAIP - 2PFI3PHEE

EARATIEI -

Table 2 *®2

Total 5

Proved (1P) HEFEE(OP) 205.4 153.0
Proved + probable (2P) EFE+BERECP 656.9 617.6
Proved + probable + possible (3P) & + & + AJ4EfE = (3P) 876.3 822.2
Panzhuang concession %QEEL%

Proved (1P) mﬁﬁ’ﬁ 162.2 111.4
Proved + probable (2P) EE +$E%'§1E%E 2P) 209.5 190.9
Proved + probable + possible (3P) & + & + Al gEf# E (3P) 247 1 2365
Mabi concession BEYER

Proved (1P) FERE(P 43.2 416
Proved + probable (2P) BE+HERE QP 447 4 4268
Proved + probable + possible (3P) EE +#lE + AIRL = (3P) 629.2 585.6
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
EXPLORATION AND RESERVE UPGRADE (Continued)

3.

Notes:

*%

Net gas reserves are the Company's share of the gas reserves according to
the terms of each production sharing contract and after adjustment for fuel
and shrinkage.

Our reserve estimates and the future net revenue have been prepared by
NSAl in accordance with generally accepted petroleum engineering and
evaluation principles set forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating
and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the
Society of Petroleum Engineers. NSAl used standard engineering and
geosciences methods or a combination of methods, including performance
analysis, volumetric analysis, and analogy, that it considered to be
appropriate and necessary to classify, categorize, and estimate reserves
according to the definitions and guidelines of the 2018 PRMS (the Petroleum
Resources Management System published by the Society of Petroleum
Engineers (the “SPE"), the World Petroleum Council (the "WPC"), the
American Association of Petroleum Geologists (the “AAPG"), the Society of
Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (the "SPEE"), the Society of Exploration
Geophysicists (the “SEG"), the Society of Petrophysicists and Well Log
Analysts (the “SPWLA") and the European Association of Geoscientists and
Engineers (the "EAGE") in June 2018). Our reserve is an estimate only and
should not be construed as exact quantities.

NEW BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES

The

Group has been actively pursuing new business

opportunities for future growth, mainly covering oil and gas

assets inside and outside China. In 2018, the Group's

management team identified certain deals and approached

several target companies for preliminary negotiations. We

believe that the Group is well positioned for further expansion in

the near future.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW

AAG Energy attached great importance to Health, Safety and
Environment (HSE) and the fulfillment of social responsibilities.
Focusing on building a health, safety, environmental and social
responsibility management system and continuous improvement,
through the multi-dimensional work of compliance assurance,
employee training, inspection and audit, accident management, social
welfare activities, etc., it does its best to strengthen the concept of HSE
and to improve the performance. In 2018, the Group recorded zero on
LTIR, TRIR and PMVA in respect of its safety and environmental
protection performance. In April 2018, Asian American Gas, Inc., a
subsidiary of the Group, was awarded the “Outstanding Enterprise in
Environment Protection 2017 (2017 FEA BIR R (R & LIEEFERE)" by
the People’s Government of Jincheng and also the "Advanced Unit of
Safe Production 2017 (2017 E & & 4 £EFL#EN)” by the Coal and
CBM Industry Bureau of Qinshui County. As of December 31, 2018,
AAG Energy has achieved extraordinary results of a total of 4 years and
117 days without lost time injury.

AAG Energy has been committed to the research and development of
CBM exploration technologies and the improvement in the application
of foreign technologies in the commercial development of CBM in
China. In response to particular coal reservoir features, we adopted
development technologies adapted to local geological conditions. The
production of CBM in Panzhuang and Mabi concessions increased by
23.44% and 65.89% respectively in 2018. These include the approach
optimization of geologic assessment, fine gas reservoir
characterization, optimization of SLH layout and liner size, precise geo-
steering, geo-steering by using mud pulse MWD with azimuthal
gamma, gas rate enhancement by foaming agent, modification of
surface workflow, optimization of sucker rod centralizer, assembly
optimization of guider and sucker rod, improvement of liner hanger,
hydraulic fracturing technique of roof rock layer of tectonically
deformed coals as well as hydraulic fracturing technique of tip screen
out.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW (Continued)

In 2018, with the help of the environment policy of the government, the
natural gas market of China was prosperous. The government
implemented a series of policies on environmental protection to
proceed with the control on air pollution and unify the city-gate prices
of natural gas for residential and non-residential use, thus bringing
about a rapid increase in the consumption of natural gas. By seizing
the market opportunities, the Company takes a leading role in
optimizing the structure of sales, upgrading service quality, identifying
high-end clients, thus resulted in uplifting the selling price
continuously. The realized ASP of Panzhuang concession increased by
27.48% from RMB1.31 per cublic meter in 2017 to RMB1.67 per cubic
meter, and the realized ASP of Mabi concession increased by 21.93%
from RMB1.14 per cublic meter in 2017 to RMB1.39 per cubic meter.

In 2018, through strict investment and cost control measures, we
fulfilled the various cost reduction and efficiency targets set at the
beginning of the year, realized a higher investment income and a lower
operating cost by following the refined project management concept,
strengthening the whole process management of the operation,
improving the production efficiency and paying attention to the
weighted factors affecting the cost.

2018 is a new milestone in the history of AAG Energy. The new
management team re-planned the Group’s medium and long-term
development strategy. While optimizing its management structure and
establishing a sound internal control system, we focus on improving
the internal management efficiency and strengthening our external
relationship with the government and partners.

With the experience accumulated from the progression of its own and
the knowledge of the development pattern of the CBM industry, we
prepared the 2019-2021 three-year development plan and the 2019
work plan, and also stipulated specific, detailed and feasible
implementation plan for achieving the targets, thereby giving the
direction for the development in the next three years and laying a solid
foundation for the bright future of the Group.

With the adjustment introduced to flatten the organizational hierarchy
and the implementation of the new job setting optimization plan, the
construction and process of the Group’s new internal control system
was refined and integrated accordingly to improve the operating
efficiency of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT REVIEW (Continued)

Focusing on the theme of “value dedication”, we actively promoted
the reform of the performance appraisal system of AAG Energy with a
“value based plus/minus matrix” to make sure various departments of
the Company would take proactive actions in accordance with our
vision, mission and strategy and realize value growth for the Company.

In October 2018, the headquarters of the Company moved from
Beijing to Jincheng City, Shanxi Province, in a bid to allow the
management to stay closer to the exploration and development sites
of our projects, so that the work efficiency could be significantly
improved and the Group's decision-making could be faster and more
efficient. The combination of offices has greatly reduced the expenses
related to the round-trip between the headquarters and project sites.

The new management of AAG Energy has conducted in-depth and
constructive communication with CUCBM and CNPC. A series of
reform measures have won the full support from our partners. Through
professional consultations at different levels, we obtained three major
achievements in 2018: (1) According to the agreement with CUCBM,
the 34 wells that was originally operated by CUCBM in the cooperation
area in Panzhuang project due to historical reasons were officially
transferred to SAEl on 1 November 2018, which increased the output
of Panzhuang project by about 60,000 cubic meters per day. (2) Mabi
ODP was officially approved by the NDRC. (3) A new consensus was
reached with CUCBM and CNPC on the proposed technical
cooperation, thus laying a solid foundation for the further development
of cooperation concessions.

MARKET OPERATION REVIEW

The annual total sales volume of Panzhuang reached 694 million cubic
meters (or 24.5 bcf), representing a year-on-year increase of 23.90%,
including 253 million cubic meters (8.9 bcf) from LNG customers, 429
million cubic meters (15.2 bcf) of pipeline gas customers and 12 million
cubic meters (400 million cubic feet) from CNG customers. The annual
realized average selling price of Panzhuang was RMB1.67 per cubic
meter, representing a year-on-year increase of 27.48%. The annual
production-to-sale ratio of Panzhuang project was 98%, still
maintaining a very high production and sales rate.
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MARKET OPERATION REVIEW (Continued)

The annual total sales volume of Mabi reached 87 million cubic meters
(or 3.1 bcf), representing a year-on- year increase of 62.97%, including
79 million cubic meters (2.8 bcf) of pipeline gas customers and 8 million
cubic meters (300 million cubic feet) from CNG customers. The annual
realized average selling price of Mabi was RMB1.39 per cubic meter,
representing a year-on-year increase of 21.93%. The annual
production-to-sale ratio of Mabi project was 90%.

Six new down stream customers were added within the year,
representing an increase of 46.15% over the previous year.

UPDATES OF PARTIAL OFFER BY LIMING

On August 16, 2018 (i.e. the final closing date), Liming announced that
it had received (i) valid acceptances of the partial offer in respect of
2,758,498,386 Shares, representing approximately 82.3% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the announcement (or
approximately 82.3% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
16 August 2018), (i) 194,462,080 valid acceptances in respect of the
option offer, and (iii) 36,116,793 valid acceptances in respect of the
restricted share unit offer. According to the terms of the partial cash
offer, Liming will acquire 1,692,871,886 shares at HK$1.75 per share.
Pursuant to the terms of the option offer and the restricted share unit
offer, Liming will acquire and cancel 100,323,140 share options and
20,154,383 restricted share units for each share option of HK$0.5647
and each restricted share unit of HK$1.75.

According to the Shareholders’ Register issued by Computershare (the
Company's share registration and transfer office) on 28 August 2018,
Liming was officially registered as a shareholder of the Company on 24
August 2018, holding 1,692,871,886 shares of the Company, accounting
for 50.5% of the total number of issued shares of the Company at the
closing date of the offer. As a result, the shares accepted and taken up
by the offeror under the partial offer have been registered under the
name of the offeror in accordance with the relevant requirements of
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission and the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong.

According to the Company's latest registers of option holders and
restricted share unit holders, 100,323,140 share options and 20,154,383
restricted share units of the Company have been canceled.

According to the written confirmation of the Tricor Investor Services
Limited and the “Remittance Notice”, Liming has paid the
corresponding consideration and taxes according to the terms of the
offer and the final acceptance result.

For details, please refer to the announcement of XTRQ dated 30
August 2018.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% ol B

Revenue WA 541,598
— Panzhuang — &M 512,886
— Mabi — 5w 28,712

Subsidy income AN A 143,850
— Panzhuang — & 134,320
— Mabi — B8 9,530

VAT refund BEHRRHR 50,063
— Panzhuang — & 45,850
— Mabi — B 4,213

Other gains/(losses) — net HttFIE (BkX) — F8 (83)

Operating expenses REFEX (413,306)
Depreciation and amortization WTE K (110,419)
Employee benefit expenses BT &M (142,130)
Materials, services and logistics ME - RIS R (134,686)
Others HAth (26,071)

Panzhuang SEAL (231,281)
Depreciation and amortization e KB gy (90,993)
Employee benefit expenses BImRAMALZ (49,389)
Materials, services and logistics ML BRI R (79,959)
Others EHAth (10,940)

Mabi B (84,760)
Depreciation and amortization e K (15,375)
Employee benefit expenses BT &M (35,110)
Materials, services and logistics TR RIS RYR (25,787)
Others HAth (8,488)

Headquarters A ey (97,265)
Depreciation and amortization e I 8 (4,057)
Employee benefit expenses BTIRAMMAX (57,631
Materials, services and logistics ML BRI R (28,940)
Others HAftb (6,643)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

EBITDA EBITDA

— Panzhuang — &

— Mabi — B
Profit from operations ReERHE
Interest income F B A
Finance costs %5 E R
Exchange losses RSP S
Finance costs — net BEER— B8
Profit before income tax BR P 1584 A1 R
Income tax expense Fri5®i & A
Profit for the year FERE

Revenue. Our revenue increased by RMB437 million or 80.70% from
RMB542 million in 2017 to RMB979 million in 2018. This increase was
mainly generated from the increases in both net sales volume and the
realized ASP as a result of the increased production in Panzhuang.
Panzhuang's gross production increased by 23.44% from 572 MMCM in
2017 to 705 MMCM in 2018, with a constant production-to-sale ratio of
98% for both 2017 and 2018. Panzhuang's realized ASP for 2018
increased to RMB1.67/cubic meter compared to RMB1.31/cubic meter
for 2017. The gross production of Mabi increased by 65.89% from 58.28
MMCM in 2017 to 96.68 MMCM in 2018. The production-to-sale ratio
remained at 90% in 2018, and the realized ASP increased to RMB1.39/
cubic meter in 2018 from RMB1.14/cubic meter in 2017. The increase of
selling price was due to the rapid increase in the consumption of
natural gas brought about by the implementation of a series of
environment policies and the impact of the unification of city-gate
prices of natural gas for residential and non-residential use.

Bt 7% [B1 8 ()

432,541
552,844
(26,889)

322,122

6,306
(12,977)
(4,510)

(11,181)

310,941
(127,743)

183,198

WA o BTRUW A R2017 FAREES421(E
TGN T AR B 4.37 (87080 80.70% = 2018 FF
MARBEQTIEIL - ZIMNEBZRAREH
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EREMm- FHMNBRESAH2017FHE72E
S KIER T 23.44% % 2018 F K9 7.05(8 3 77
Koo W B EE #5 t 72017 F1 2018 4F E AR 15 £
98%  FHERBEEEBBW2017TFNE LT
KARE13MTEME2018FMARE1.67
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KIBE T 65.89% FE2018F H)96.68 A &8 3L 77
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Production, sales, realized ASP and revenue are set out below:

Gross production volume (bcf)!
Panzhuang
Mabi

Gross production volume (mmcm)'
Panzhuang
Mabi

Gross sales volume (bcf)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Gross sales volume (mmcm)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Net sales volume (bcf)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Net sales volume (mmcm)?
Panzhuang
Mabi

Realized average selling price*

RMB per cubic meter
Panzhuang
Mabi

Revenue (RMB'000)°
Panzhuang
Mabi

REE(HEZHRR)
&

REE(ABEMIIK)
AR

MHE (HRIER)?
AR

MIHE (AELTTK)?
&

FIHE (HEZ T RR)?
AR

FHE (EBIITK)
&

DA

FHRB B
ANRBETT,/ 3175 %
&

DA

WA (ARETT)S
&

B

Bi ¥ E1EE ()
EE B FIHEREEESRKALSIM
—|T :

22.30
20.20
2.10

629.84
571.56
58.28

21.70
19.80
1.90

613.30
559.70
53.60

15.30
13.80
1.50

433.00
390.50
42.50

1.30
1.31
1.14

541,598
512,886
28,712
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Notes:

1. Gross production volume is the total amount of CBM produced.

2. Gross sales volume is gross production volume less utilization loss.

3 Net sales volume is the portion of gross sales volume allocated to us under the

production sharing contract, after the deduction of amount sold to pay applicable
VAT and local taxes.

4. Realized ASP excludes the directly attributable pass through cost, thus reflecting
the realized wellhead price.

5. Revenue includes the directly attributable pass through costs rising from the
adoption of new accounting standards from 1 January, 2018. Pass through costs
include fees for transportation, processing, and other expenses included in
materials, services, and logistics, but are charged to our customers.

Subsidy income. Our subsidy income is RMB144 million and RMB187
million in 2017 and 2018, respectively. Our subsidy income increased
by RMB43 million or 29.93%, mainly due to the increased sales volume
of Panzhuang and Mabi. The sales agreement for the exploration
phase of Mabi started to implement in the second half of 2017, subsidy
income related to sales for twelve months was recognized in 2018
when compared with only six months in 2017.

VAT refund. Our VAT refund is RMB50.06 million and RMB92.27 million
in 2017 and 2018, respectively. Our VAT refund increased by RMB42.21
million or 84.30% in 2018, mainly due to the increase in annual
production volume and the ASP for Panzhuang and Mabi in 2018 when
compared with those of 2017. In addition, 12 months VAT refund from
production was recognized in Mabi with the execution of exploration
phase sales agreement in 2018 while this recognition was only 6
months in 2017 in comparison.

Other gains/(losses), net. Our other gains/(losses) switched from the
losses of RMB83,000 in 2017 to an income of RMB371,000 in 2018,
representing a decrease in losses of RMB454,000, mainly due to the
transfer of individual income tax refund to other gains.

Operating expenses. Our operating expenses increased by RMB241
million or 58.39% from RMB413 million in 2017 to RMB654 million in
2018, mainly due to the increase in depreciation and amortization
arising from the increase in production wells, the increase in employee
welfare expenses resulting from the Change of Control, and the
increase in electricity, materials, services and logistics expenses due to
more wells being put into production. In addition, the sales agreement
for the exploration phase of Mabi started to implement since the
second half of 2017, the operating expenses for twelve months was
recognized in 2018 when compared with only six months in 2017.

Bi ¥ E1EE ()

M EE -
1. BEBRODAEREREE -
2. BB REESHEEREX -

3. FHERARMBRBERIKARESFNAHERE
RAXEMEERREBTENMEHENHMN

B
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BREO R PIER A OB -
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E018FMARKEOSAETL TER2ERE
EEFF I AE R AT B R S A0 - S

ERME T MMM REREZHHE
ANEEBYMNEE - 8 - RIS EYRFAI G
MATER - B9 B ENVIR B & B 12017
FTREFRBERR  2018FH 2017 F L HR
FFEENLEEFRY -

DEREREBRERRIF/ 2 \FFH 27



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWmR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
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Depreciation and amortization. Our depreciation and
amortization increased by RMB94 million or 84.47% from RMB110
million in 2017 to RMB204 million in 2018, mainly due to the
increase in production wells and gas production in Panzhuang. In
addition, the sales agreement for the exploration phase of Mabi
started to implement since the second half of 2017, the
depreciation and amortization expenses for twelve months were
recognized in 2018 when compared with only six months in 2017.

Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses
increased by RMBé8 million or 47.72% from RMB142 million in
2017 to RMB210 million in 2018, mainly due to the increase in
share-based compensation expenses arising from the Change of
Control and the increase in expenses for relocation of Beijing
headquarters and termination benefits of employees. In addition,
the sales agreement for the exploration phase of Mabi started to
implement since the second half of 2017, the employee benefit
expenses for twelve months were recognized in 2018 when
compared with only six months in 2017.

Materials, services and logistics. Our materials, services and
logistics expenses increased by RMB79 million or 58.98% from
RMB135 million in 2017 to RMB214 million in 2018, mainly due to
the increase in electricity, sewage treatment and other operating
costs arising from the production of more wells in Panzhuang. In
addition, the sales agreement for the exploration phase of Mabi
started to implement since the second half of 2017, the materials,
services and logistics expenses for twelve months were
recognized in 2018 when compared with only six months in 2017.

Others. Our other expenses are RMB26.07 million and RMB26.85

million in 2017 and 2018, respectively, and there were no material
change.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

EBITDA. Our EBITDA increased by RMB374 million or 86.64% from
RMB433 million in 2017 to RMB807 million in 2018. The increase was
mainly attributable to the increase in net sales resulted from a 27.37%
increase of Panzhuang and Mabi's gross production, the increase of
realized ASP from RMB1.30/cubic meter in 2017 to RMB1.64/cubic
meter in 2018, the increase in subsidy income and VAT refund, the
increase in share-based compensation at headquarters, the increase in
termination benefits arising from the relocation of Beijing
headquarters, the increase in materials, services and logistics expenses
due to more wells in Panzhuang being put into production in 2018. In
addition, the sales agreement for the exploration phase of Mabi
started to implement since the second half of 2017. The income and
expenses for twelve months were recognized in 2018 when compared
with only six months in 2017. In conclusion, higher production volume
and ASP, as well as strict cost control measures, have led to an increase
in EBITDA, which could even be greater than the increase in income.
The EBITDA of 2017, RMB433 million, includes share-based
compensation expenses of RMB20.5 million and non-operation related
business development and legal advisory service expenses of RMB10.4
million and the one-off consultation fee of RMB1.7 million paid to our
former co-CEO. The EBITDA of 2018 amounted to RMB807 million,
includes share-based compensation expenses of RMB36.08 million and
non-operation related business development and legal consulting
service fee of RMB10.29 million and termination benefits of RMB51.70
million arising from the relocation of the Beijing headquarters.
Panzhuang's EBITDA increased by RMB343 million or 62.12% from
RMB553 million in 2017 to RMB89%6 million in 2018. The increase in
EBITDA of Panzhuang in 2018 was mainly due to the increase in
production, ASP and the increase in subsidy income and VAT refund,
but was partially offset by higher materials and electricity expenses as a
result of more wells being put into production. Mabi’'s EBITDA
increased by RMB67.02 million or 249.26% from a negative position of
RMB26.89 million in 2017 to RMB40.13 million in 2018 because the
subsidy income and VAT refund increased and the sales agreement for
the exploration phase of Mabi started to implement since the second
half of 2017. Accordingly, the income and expenses, production and
ASP of Mabi for twelve months was recognized in 2018 when compared
with only six months in 2017.

Profit from operations. As a result of the foregoing, our operating
profit increased by RMB282 million or 87.38% from RMB322 million in
2017 to RMB&04 million in 2018.
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Interest income. Our interest income increased by RMB19.39 million or
307.56% from RMB6.31 million in 2017 to RMB25.70 million in 2018,
primarily due to the increase in cash at bank and fixed deposit rates.

Finance costs. Our finance costs increased by RMB12.58 million or
96.93% from RMB12.98 million in 2017 to RMB25.56 million in 2018,
mainly due to the one-off provision for financial cost to be amortized in
the future arising from the early repayment of the new US$250 million
reserve-based facility (“New US$250 million RBL").

Exchange losses. Our exchange losses increased by RMB2.97 million or
65.85% from RMB4.51 million in 2017 to RMB7.48 million in 2018,
mainly due to the elimination of impact of exchange gains and losses
because of the repayment of the New US$250 million RBL in 2018 and
the exchange losses of cash deposit in HK dollar arising from the
exchange rate between HK dollar and US dollar.

Profit before income tax. Our profit before income tax increased by
RMB285 million or 91.76% from RMB311 million in 2017 to RMB596
million in 2018, mainly due to the factors affecting EBITDA stated
above and the increase in interest income, but partially offset by the
increase in depreciation and amortization expenses, exchange losses
and financial losses.

Income tax expense. Our income tax expense increased by RMB55
million or 43.51%, from RMB128 million in 2017 to RMB183 million in
2018, mainly due to the increase in profit before income tax of
Panzhuang in 2018. Income tax expense was related to the operation
of Panzhuang. Mabi had no income tax expense given it had no
taxable profit.

Profit for the year. Our profit for the year increased by RMB230 million
or 125.40% from RMB183 million in 2017 to RMB413 million in 2018,
mainly due to the factors affecting profit before income tax stated
above but partially offset by the increase in income tax expense.
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

We provide a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA to profit
for the year, which is the most directly comparable financial
performance calculated and presented in accordance with HKFRS.
EBITDA refers to earnings before interest income, finance costs,
exchange gains/losses, income tax and depreciation and amortization.
Adjusted EBITDA refers to EBITDA adjusted to exclude non-cash
expenses, non-recurring items or non-operations-related expenses to
show EBITDA of the Group's core operations.

We have included EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA as we believe they are
financial measures commonly used in the oil and gas industry. We
believe that EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are used as supplemental
financial measures by our management, investors, research analysts,
bankers and others to assess our operating performance, cash flow and
return on capital as compared to those of other companies in our
industry, and our financing ability. However, EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or construed as
alternatives to operating profit or any other measure of performance or
as an indicator of our operating performance or profitability. EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA are unable to account for income tax, exchange
gains/losses, interest income, finance costs and depreciation and
amortization.
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)
The following table sets forth a reconciliation of EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA to profit for the year.

Reconciliation of profit for the year to
EBITDA:

FEFHEEBITDANE IR :

EBITDA K &KL FIZ EBITDA (&)
TR & 71| FF [Z EBITDA % 4% i Z2 EBITDA £ 7
TR EER o

Profit for the year FERE 183,198
Income tax expense FriSH &R 127,743
Interest income MBI A (6,3006)
Finance costs Bi5E R 12,977
Exchange losses BE IRk 4,510
Depreciation and amortization Pree sy 110,419

EBITDA EBITDA 432,541

Share-based compensation expenses

Non-operation-related business
development and legal consulting RS BRI X
service expenses

Severance payment and consulting
fees paid to our ex-Co-CEO BB NZNE

Termination benefits for staff arising from
the relocation of Beijing headquarters

VAR 47 A5 EE T 0 7 B B S
FFE B R RS ERAAR

NHERMNAEEERRITEN

LA ERIRE H B T RER 15

Adjusted EBITDA KR EBITDA

465,202

Our EBITDA increased by RMB374 million or 86.64% from RMB433
million in 2017 to RMB807 million in 2018. This increase was mainly due
to the increase in net sales volume of Panzhuang and Mabi as a result
of a 27.37% increase in gross production, the increase in realized ASP
from RMB1.3/cubic meter in 2017 to RMB1.64/cubic meter in 2018, the
increase in subsidy income and VAT refund, the increase in share-
based compensation at headquarters, the increase in termination
benefits arising from the relocation of Beijing headquarters, the
increase in materials, services and logistics expenses due to more wells
being put into production in 2018. In addition, the sales agreement for
the exploration phase of Mabi started to implement since the second
half of 2017. The expenses for twelve months were recognized in 2018
when compared with only six months in 2017. In conclusion, higher
production volume and ASP, as well as strict cost-control measures,
have led to an increase in EBITDA, which could even be greater than
the increase in income.
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EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA (Continued)

Our adjusted EBITDA increased by RMB440 million or 94.61% from
RMB465 million in 2017 to RMB905 million in 2018. In addition to the
factors described above, this increase was also due to the share-based
compensation expense in 2018, the termination benefits arising from
the relocation of Beijing headquarters, as well as the increase in non-
operation related business development and legal consulting service
fees.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group's financial management department is responsible for the
financing and fund management policies related to the overall
operations of the Group. Our primary sources of funding include cash
generated from operating activities, bank balances and bank loans.

As at 31 December 2018, we had cash and bank balances of RMB1,700
million (RMB2,275 million as at 31 December 2017).

On 8 July 2015, SAEI entered into a New US$250 million RBL with The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Standard
Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, Bank of Communication Ltd,
Offshore Banking Unit and Societe Generale, Singapore Branch, and
on 16 July 2015, SAEI successfully drew down US$70 million from the
New US$250 million RBL to prepay and replace the original US$100
million reserve-based facility.

As at 31 December 2017, our long-term borrowing was RMB514 million.
On 6 September 2018, we prepaid all outstanding loans and the total
facilities of the borrowing was cancelled.

As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio (ratio of total borrowings to
total equity) of the Group was 0% (31 December 2017: 10.4%). Save as
the information disclosed above or otherwise in this report, we had no
outstanding mortgage, pledge, debentures or other loan capital issued
or agreed to be issued, bank overdrafts, borrowings, liabilities under
acceptance or other similar liabilities, hire purchase and finance lease
commitments, or any guarantee or other material contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2018.

EBITDA K &KL FIZ EBITDA (&)
HPIM A EEBITDAH 2017 FH) AR 4.65
BxEimT AR 44018 T5094.61% % 2018
FHAREE.05ETT ° ;2L INZ AP LA
#) EBITDAE INEY R A AN L 2018 F B LARR (D &
EWROFHWESY - SR RETRBEED
BITEEAEE - WL ERAEBERE
EERREE RSB INATE -

RBEEREXEIR
AEEMHERNEERAEEAREEN
MOBERESERRE - BfNWRAESE
SRR EBFELNRS - RITEHR
RITER -

R2018F 12 A31H » MR LRIT4HE
ABARK17008T (2017128318 : AR
¥ 22.75187C) °

R2015%7 A8H  HEBRARFEFREEGRA
RIEAFES ESELRITAR AR BITRTT
(BR)ERAR - KBBITRMDAER BB F
BT REB B E R THIIE D1 TR] S HT2.5
BETHERE  EFRERABMRAFMN215
F7R16BEHF25BETLHERMERINIER
70008%TT - ALEERBEREI1EELRE
A& o

R2017F12 8318 P ERBERAEAR
514187 - R2018FE9 A6 H - TR AIE
BTBEREEER  BERtEEECDWECH -

MR2018F 12 A31 B » REE B EER L X
(FERBREEAEEMEE) B0% (2017 F 12
A318 1104%) ° B ECe AR EEAMEH
FrifsE 2 E R0 - 1220184912 8318 » B M
WEAERAREEERE BB E5HEMBE %
THRAEBHITEREAR BB B3 &
HAaBxEnREaE BELRMEHERE
S AIERFEMERKAEBE -
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Cash Flow

The table below sets forth our cash flow for each of the years indicated.

RBESRELRER®)
BehE
TEBEIREAREERFOESHE -

Year ended 31 December

BE12B31BLEEE

2018 2017
2018 & 2017 5
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETET
Net cash generated from operating activities & & /EZF TSI € F5 404,933 438,301
Net cash used in investing activities REEEFTRARE 58 (419,593) (455,556)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES (FTA),/ R4 F5 (635,140) 26,392
financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash BeRBEEEYCRD) e IFEE (649,800) 9,137
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FUNEE KRS EFEY 2,236,970 2,343,764
the year
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and He RIRSEEYEN IS (1B%) 69,353 (115,931)
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRHIRE MIREEEY 1,656,523 2,236,970

Operating Activities

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB405 million in
2018, mainly due to profit before income tax of RMB596 million,
depreciation and amortization of RMB204 million, the increase of
accounts receivable and other receivables by RMB295 million, the
share-based compensation of RMB36.07 million, the financial costs of
RMB25.56 million for the New US$250 million RBL, the decrease of
accounts payable and other payables by RMB23.32 million and
exchange losses of RMB7.48 million. These were offset by RMB28.12
million of interest paid and RMB83.31 million income tax paid.

Net cash generated from operating activities was RMB438 million in
2017, mainly due to profit before income tax of RMB311 million,
depreciation and amortization of RMB110 million, the decrease of
accounts receivable and other receivables of RMB22.3 million, the
share-based compensation of RMB20.5 million, the financial costs
mainly for the commitment fee of RMB13 million, the increase of
accounts payable and other payables of RMB12.7 million and the
unrealized exchange loss of RMB4.5 million. These were offset by
RMB32.90 million of interest paid and RMB16.20 million of income tax
paid.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)
Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was RMB420 million in 2018, mainly
comprised of purchases of property, plant and equipment of RMB439
million, increase in restricted bank deposits of RMB64.1 million, offset by
interest received of RMB25.84 million. The purchase of property, plant
and equipment mainly comprised of payment for more wells drilled,
additional well head compressors and construction of gas gathering
stations and power facilities.

Net cash used in investing activities was RMB456 million in 2017, mainly
comprised of purchase of property, plant and equipment of RMB456
million, increase in restricted bank deposits of RMB6.1 million, offset by
interest received of RMB6.5 million. The purchase of property, plant
and equipment mainly comprised of payment for more wells drilled,
additional well head compressors and construction of gas gathering
stations and power facilities.

Financing Activities

In 2018, the net cash used in financing activities was RMB635 million,
mainly due to the repayment of principal, interests and commitment
expenses of the New US$250 million RBL of RMB614 million and the
payment of final dividend of RMB67.94 million of 2017. It was offset by
a sum of RMB 44.49 million drawn from the New US$250 million RBL.

In 2017, the net cash generated from financing activities was RMB26.4
million, mainly due to the equivalent of RMB39.7 million from the New
US$250 million RBL, offset by finance costs of RMB13.4 million arising
from the commitment fees paid for unutilized portion of the New
US$250 million RBL.

Cash and Bank Balances

We had cash and bank balances of RMB2,275 million and RMB1,700
million as of 31 December 2017 and 2018, respectively. Our cash and
bank balances consist of cash on hand, cash at banks, and restricted
bank deposits. The decrease in our cash is mainly due to the purchase
of property, plant and equipment and the early repayment of the New
US$250 million RBL. As at 31 December 2017 and 2018, approximately
75.11% and 55.46% of our cash and bank balances were held in Hong
Kong dollar or US dollar.

RBEERELRAER @)

BEEH

R20184F BB EHHAEL FHBAARE
420870 TEREEEARBLNETHT
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FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

Our activities expose us to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, foreign
exchange risk, liquidity risk and concentration risk. Our overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on our

financial performance.

Credit Risk

As the majority of the cash at bank are placed with state-owned and
international banks and financial institutions in the PRC and Hong
Kong, and there has been no recent history of default in relation to
these banks and financial institutions, the corresponding credit risk is
relatively low. Therefore, our credit risk arises mainly from trade and
other receivables.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, particularly with respect to US dollar. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognized assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency other
than the entity’s functional currency.

Prior to 30 April 2016, we were exposed to non-cash foreign exchange
risks arising from retranslation of inter-company loans denominated in
US dollar. To manage the foreign exchange risk, the management
decided to execute a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by converting
the inter-company loans into perpetual loans through entering into
perpetual loan agreements between respective group companies such
that the perpetual loans do not bear interest and the lenders cannot
request repayment. Upon completion of this debt restructuring, any
foreign exchange difference arising from the retranslation of these US
dollar denominated perpetual loans was recognized in equity in the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 1%
against US dollar, with all other variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year would have been RMB2,250,000 (31 December
2017: RMB902,000 lower) lower/higher, respectively, mainly as a result
of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of US$ denominated
receivables and payables held by our entities with their functional
currency as RMB.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended
31 December 2018.

ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or
associated companies for the year ended 31 December 2018.

OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2019

According to the report of SIA a consultant focused on studying the
total industry chain of the oil and gas industry in China, given the “Coal
to Gas” policy continued by the government of China and the
promising macro economic environment, the demand for natural gas
grew rapidly to 279 bcm in 2018, representing a 16% increase when
compared with that of 2017. It is estimated that the demand for natural
gas in 2019 will increase to 306.6 bcm, representing a 9.9% increase
when compared with that of 2018. On the other hand, the natural gas
market in China is characterized by a slow growth in local production
as well as a rapid import growth. The growth rate of natural gas
production is far lower than the rate stipulated in the 13th Five-Year
Plan and the growth of actual demand. In 2018, the State Council of
China issued “Some Opinions on Facilitating the Stable and
Coordinated Development of the Natural Gas Industry”, stating that it
is necessary to speed up the establishment of a system for the
production, supply, storage and sale of natural gas so as to facilitate
the stable and coordinated development of the natural gas industry.
The rapid growth of demand for natural gas and the policy
encouraging increase in proved reserve and output may drive
expeditious development of the Group.

Meanwhile, due to the Chinese government tends to attach higher
importance to the protection of ecological environment and the
diversity of energy supplies, newer and higher requirements are
imposed on the Group and its development. We will take the lead to
explore new technologies and techniques for systematic and relentless
innovation. By achieving these goals, the Group will be able to build
up its core strength, thereby laying a solid foundation to develop from
a leading CBM producer in China to a world’s leading most enduring
clean energy company for today and tomorrow.
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2019 (Continued)
Panzhuang Concession

The Group will continue investing in Panzhuang concession in 2019.
Details are as follows:

The Group will implement the full year plan upon receiving the
government approval on Panzhuang concession, including the planned
completion of pre-drilling works of 17 well sites, 75 SLHs and 23 PDWs,
the purchase of pumping equipment and production of new wells and
the execution of related ancillary surface facilities engineering.

With the scheduled project implementation and government approval
associated, the anticipated gross production of Panzhuang concession
is 810 MMCM (28.6 bcf).

Mabi Concession

In Mabi, the Group will focus on the ODP approved area, which locates
in the southern part of Mabi, and will select applicable types of wells
and technologies with reference to the underground geological
features and optimize the project implementation plan to secure a
guaranteed investment return rate.

The full year plan includes drilling and completion of 36 pilot
development wells and related surface facilities construction to ensure
that the output of new wells will contribute to the pipe sales on
schedule. Based on the performance of the 36 wells above, we will
continue to prioritize the allocation of 100 development wells in the
Sweet Zone and invest in the construction of related ancillary facilities.

With the scheduled project implementation and government approval,
the anticipated gross production of Mabi concession is 71 MMCM (2.5
bcf).

The application of certain new technologies and techniques identified

by the Group is also the focus of Mabi concession, which will be
implemented as scheduled.
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OUTLOOK AND GUIDANCE FOR 2019 (Continued)

According to the development plan of Panzhuang and Mabi
mentioned above, the Group is expected to incur capital expenditures
of approximately RMB622 million in 2019, which will be financed by its
own cash flow and part of the proceeds from its listing on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 23 June 2015 (the “Listing”). The Group will assess the
capital investment plan for 2019 from time to time, and will make
necessary disclosure in the interim results for 2019 for any movements.

The Group is highly confident in increasing the output while lowering
the production costs on an ongoing basis to deliver promising
operating results. Meanwhile, we will continue to enhance the
innovation in respect of technologies and management, thereby laying
a solid foundation for the stable production and development of
existing wells in Panzhuang and the advancement of development
technologies for Mabi. Besides, AAG Energy will identify new
development opportunities in China and other regions as planned to
expand our business, so as to provide more clients and relevant
communities with clean energy and create higher return for our
shareholders.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (BB E #&), aged 55, is an executive Director of the
Company, chairman of the Board and chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Ming is primarily responsible for the
Group's overall development and growth strategies, investor and
public relations, board governance and supervision of key
management issues. Mr. Ming was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company, chairman of the Board and chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 24 August 2018.

Mr. Ming has since January 2013 been chairman of the board of
Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (¥Ti2Z R RKARARMDBRAF]), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603393).
From June 2010 to December 2012, Mr. Ming was a director of Xinjiang
Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Xinjiang Xintai
Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. (#TIBEZ FIEE (£ E ) R A 7). From
March 1985 to May 1998, Mr. Ming served as the head of the
supervision and audit department, the head of the personnel
department, the chief audit officer and the vice president of the
Agricultural Bank of China Limited (Deyang Central District Branch) (4
B2 ZEIRITUERBTMHE=T)), and as the director and the secretary
of the Party committee of the credit cooperative union, respectively.

Mr. Ming graduated from the correspondence college of Party College
of Sichuan Province Committee of the Communist Party of China (F &
MY)I1E Z ER IR 2T ) in 1987, majoring in law.

Mr. Yan Danhua (& f3 %), aged 57, is an executive Director and the
president of the Company. Mr. Yan is primarily responsible for the
Group's overall operation management. Mr. Yan was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company on 24 August 2018 and was
appointed as the president of the Company on 7 September 2018.
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Mr. Yan has more than 10 years of strategic investment and operation
management experience in the energy industry. He was responsible
for managing the energy investment project in China AVIC Trust Co.,
Ltd. (FAUEFERMDBER A F) from 2016 to 2018. In 2015, Mr. Yan was
the vice general manager of Guangzheng Group Co., Ltd. (Jt1E & B %
A BBR7AF]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 002524), and was responsible for the business of natural gas and
new energy development. From 2007 to 2013, he worked as the office
director of balanced scorecard department for Xinjiang Guanghui
Industry Investment Group Co., Ltd. (¥Ti2BIEE XK E (LB BRE
£ A 7@l) and as the vice general manager for Guanghui Energy Co.,
Ltd. (BIEBLIRIR (D BPR A F]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 600256), respectively. In Guanghui Energy Co.,
Ltd., he was responsible for strategic planning, operations
management, natural gas project management and the development
of conventional gas and oil. From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Yan worked as the
general manager at the department of fruit business of Xinjiang Tunhe
Co., Ltd. (¥ 58 £ 7 I 9 B BR 2 7)) (currently known as Cofco Tunhe
Sugar Co., Ltd. (FRIEHAHEZEX D AR A F]), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock code: 600737)).

Mr. Yan has obtained the bachelor’'s degree in economics in Shaanxi
Institute of Finance and Economics (& 78 B &£ £2F52 ) in 1990.

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (3& #& ££), aged 55, is an executive Director, the
authorized representative and the vice president of the Company and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
Zhang is primarily responsible for the Company’s Board office and the
Group's market operations and human resources issues. Mr. Zhang was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 24 August 2018
and the authorized representative on 25 August 2018, and was
appointed as the vice president of the Company on 7 September 2018
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company on 21
March 2019.
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Mr. Zhang has worked in government departments and enterprises for
over 35 years. Mr. Zhang has management experience in industrial
economy, finance, safety production management and other
perspectives. Since April 2015, Mr. Zhang has worked as the director of
the general manager’s office of XTRQ, the general manager of Fukang
Xintai Gas Co., Ltd. (EEMERMRRK[BR AL AF]), the head of
investment management department and the general manager’s
assistant of XTRQ, respectively. From 2010 to 2015, Mr. Zhang served
as the deputy director of Deyang Municipal Committee of Economic
and Information Technology (2% AL{ZZ). From 2006 to 2010, he
was the director of Deyang Information & Technology Office (&[5 15
BAL#AZE). From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Zhang worked in Deyang
Municipal Government Office (5T EXAT##) as the deputy chief of the
administrative department and the deputy director of the supervision
and inspection office. From 1990 to 1999, Mr. Zhang served as a deputy
chief of the industrial transport department in Deyang Economic
Restructuring Committee ({25 M ERBHINELZE®).

Mr. Zhang graduated from the correspondence college of Party College
of Sichuan Province Committee of the Communist Party of China
(M)l & Z EREFEER) in 2000, majoring in law. Mr. Zhang has
obtained the Certificate of Secretary from the Shanghai Stock Exchange
in 2018.

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Cui Guiyong (£#7#£5), aged 56, is a non-executive Director and a
member of the New Business Committee (now renamed as strategic
development committee) of the Company. Dr. Cui is primarily
responsible for advising on strategic development and investor
relations. Dr. Cui was appointed to the board of Directors of the
Company in May 2014. He was one of the directors of Asian American
Gas, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company from July 2004 to
June 2006 and has resumed such role since July 2014. He has also been
one of the directors of Sino-American Energy, Inc., an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company since July 2014. He was appointed
as a non-executive Director of the Company on 28 January 2015 and
was appointed as a member of the New Business Committee (now
renamed as strategic development committee) of the Company on 7
September 2018.
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Dr. Cui has over 22 years of experience in investment in the energy and
resources sectors. He is a managing director of Baring Private Equity
Asia Limited and is primarily responsible for the firm’s investments in
greater China. Prior to joining Baring, he worked as a managing
director at HOPU Investment Management Co. Ltd. from May 2008 to
September 2009 and became a partner since October 2009. He worked
at Morgan Stanley Asia Limited from April 2007 to April 2008 and acted
as a managing director of investment banking. From March 2004 to
April 2007, he was employed by HSBC Group and held the position of
managing director of Global Investment Banking Asia Pacific —
Resources and Energy at HSBC Markets (Asia) Limited. From June 2002
to August 2003, he served as head of the investment banking division
at ICEA Capital Limited. Dr. Cui was employed by N M Rothschild &
Sons and assumed various positions from September 1994 to June
2002 including the position of managing Director, investment banking
and the chief representative China in N M Rothschild & Sons’ Beijing
Office. Dr. Cui is currently a non-executive Director of COFCO Meat
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1610). He also served as a non-executive
Director of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (stock code: 1432)
from March 2014 to June 2018. Both are companies listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Dr. Cui obtained his bachelor of engineering degree and master of
engineering degree from the University of Science and Technology of
Beijing (3t mEHEL K E), previously known as Beijing Steel College (3t
FMEERRT) in April 1982 and June 1987, respectively, and his doctor
of philosophy degree from the University of Oxford in the United
Kingdom in May 1995.

Ms. Gu Ren (E&8#)), aged 36, is a non-executive Director and a member
of the Audit Committee of the Company. Ms. Gu is primarily responsible
for advising on accounting, internal control and financial matters. Ms. Gu
joined the Company on 21 March 2019.

Ms. Gu has over 10 years of investment experience with special focus
on the energy, industrial estate, environment and manufacturing and
consumer goods sectors. She joined Warburg Pincus in October 2011
and currently serves as a principal with primary focus on investments in
energy, industrials and industrial estate sectors. Prior to her
employment with Warburg Pincus, she worked at J.P. Morgan as an
associate of investment banking division from July 2008 to September
2011, focusing on corporate finance, merger and acquisition
transactions in Asia.
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Ms. Gu obtained a bachelor of business administration degree from
the Fudan University in Shanghai in the Peoples’ Republic of China in
2005 and a master degree in accounting from the Fudan University in
Shanghai in 2008.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (BB R ), aged 61, is an independent non-
executive Director and a member of Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and New Business Committee (now
renamed as strategic development committee) of the Company and
the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Tai is
primarily responsible for independently overseeing the management.
Mr. Tai joined the Company on 24 August 2018, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee and was appointed as the
chairman of Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and New Business Committee (now renamed as strategic
development committee) of the Company on 7 September 2018.

Mr. Tai is currently a partner and officer in charge of corporate finance
department of VMS Securities Limited. Mr. Tai currently also serves as
an independent non-executive Director of Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited (Stock Code: 590), Anhui Conch Cement
Company Limited (Stock Code: 914), Jiayuan International Group
Limited (Stock Code: 2768) and G&M Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
6038) and Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 2066), all of which are
companies listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Tai was elected as a
member of the 12th session of Shandong Committee of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference in January 2018.

Mr. Tai is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, CPA Australia and New Zealand Institute of Chartered
Accountants. He has extensive experience in accounting, corporate
finance and investment in Hong Kong and overseas.

Mr. Tai received a bachelor degree in commerce and administration
from Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand in 1982.
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Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (BIREiI£f8 I), aged 56, is an independent non-
executive Director and a member of Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee of the Company and the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Dr. Liu is primarily responsible for
independently overseeing the management. Dr. Liu joined the
Company on 24 August 2018, was appointed as independent non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and was the chairman of the New Business
Committee (now renamed as Strategic Development Committee on 7
September 2018. He ceased to be the chairman of the New Business
Committee of the Company on 9 November 2018.

Dr. Liu has served as an independent non-executive Director of Kunlun
Energy Company Limited (Stock Code: 135) since 2004, Honghua
Group Limited (Stock Code: 196) since 2008, Cinda International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 111) since 2016, and Sunfonda Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1771) since 2017, all of which are
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was
also an independent non-executive Director of Hisense Kelon Electrical
Holdings Company Limited (now known as Hisense Home Appliances
Group Co., Ltd), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 00921). Dr. Liu is also the independent director
of the board of a non-listed company which is UBS Securities Company
Limited.

Dr. Liu has more than 20 years of experience in corporate finance. He
has served in a number of international financial institutions since 1993,
including N.M. Rothschild & Sons Limited, J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia
Pacific) Limited, N.M. Rothschild & Sons (HK) Limited, DBS Asia Capital
Limited and China Resources Capital Holdings Company Limited.

Dr. Liu obtained a master's degree and a Ph. D from the Faculty of
Economics, University of Cambridge in 1988 and 1994, respectively. He
obtained his master’'s degree in development studies from the
University of Bath in 1987, and he obtained his bachelor’s degree in
political economics from the Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics (AR B£8R 2) (formerly known as Sichuan Economic
College (7)1 BA £ Z2657) in 1983.
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Dr. Yang Ruizhao (%% &1 ), aged 53, is an independent non-
executive Director and the chairman of the New Business Committee
(now renamed as Strategic Development Committee) of the Company.
Dr. Yang is primarily responsible for independently overseeing the
management. Dr. Yang joined the Company on 9 November 2018.

Dr. Yang worked as a geologist in the Institute of Petroleum at the
Department of Geology and Minerals* (Mi7&&BA @ H B B 5T FT) from
July 1986 to April 1995. Dr. Yang then served as a senior geologist in
the Institute of Petroleum at China New Star Petroleum Co.* (12 A
A AIFFERT) from April 1995 to July 1996. From May 2000 to July 2002,
Dr. Yang joined the post-doctoral program and conducted research
work in areas of geological resources and geological engineering at
the China University of Mining and Technology (Beijing branch). In
December 2002, Dr. Yang started working as a senior geologist and
associate professor at the China University of Mining and Technology
(Beijing branch) and was later promoted as a professor in July 2017. He
has been working as a senior geologist and a professor at the China
University of Mining and Technology (Beijing branch) since then. Dr.
Yang has received several awards including a special award from the
China Coal Industry Association* (F Bk T % <) and a second
prize award from the State Council of the PRC. Dr. Yang was also
appointed as a member of the Mine Geophysical Committee of the
Chinese Geophysical Society* (Bl ERYIE B i@ IR EHEE
B8) for a term of 4 years from 2013 to 2017.

Dr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree of petroleum geology from the
Chengdu College of Geology* (B #B#E £Fr) in PRC in July 1986
and a doctoral degree in earth exploration and information technology
from the China University of Geosciences* (F BlitE K £2) in the PRC in
December 1999.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wei Jiangtao, aged 51, is the vice president and financial
controller of the Company.

Mr. Wei has served as the vice president and financial controller of the
Company since 7 September 2018 and is responsible for the Group's
financial compliance management and corporate financing activities.
He has over 20 years of experience in auditing, corporate finance,
corporate governance and financial management.

*  For identification only
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From 2016 to 2018, Mr. Wei served as a post-investment manager for
energy project in China AVIC Trust Co., Ltd. (FMEFERRMHDBIRARA]).
From 2008 to 2015, he was a financial controller of each of Jiangsu
YangKou Port Development and Investment Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu
Yangtong Investment and Development Co., Ltd., both are the
subsidiaries of PYI Corporation Limited (HK.0498). From 2006 to 2007,
he was a founding partner and general manager of Xi'an Junchung
Finance Consulting Limited (7% & Bl 81 757450 BBR A 7). From 1999 to
2005, he served as a business director in Shaanxi Yiyou Accounting

Firm Limited Liability Company (Bt fizx K € 5TRN E 15 FTA R A 7).

Mr. Wei obtained a bachelor degree in industrial economics from the
Xi'an Jiaotong University of China in 1990 and was admitted as a
member of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1999.

Mr. Zeng Pingxuan, aged 56, is the vice president of the Company.

Mr. Zeng has served as the vice president of the Company since
September 2018 and is primarily responsible for the Company’s
production operations, procurement and supply as well as HSE
matters. He has over 18 years extensive skills and management
experience in gas industry.

Before joining the Company, Mr. Zeng served respectively as deputy
general manager of Miquan Xintai Gas Co., Ltd. (KRR & RMABR
EEAF]) and Urumgi Xintai Gas Co., Ltd. (BB AREMERMAERE
f£72 7)) and general manager of Wujiaqu Xintai Gas Co., Ltd. and
assistant to general manager of XTRQ from 2001 to August 2018.

Mr. Wang Bing, aged 49, is the vice president of the Company.

Mr. Wang has been the vice president of the Company from November
2013 and is primarily responsible for the Group’s government relations,
executive management and information management matters. Mr.
Wang has over 14 years of experience in project management, public
relations, sales and marketing in the CBM business.

Mr. Wang served numerous positions in the Group after he joined the
Group in June 2005. Mr. Wang served as a director of operation from
February 2012 to November 2013 and as a general manager of
Panzhuang Project from September 2008 to February 2012. He was a
business development and sales manager of Mabi Project from 2005 to
2007.
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Before joining the Company, he was a vice general manager in Shanxi
Kotel Micro Technique Co., Ltd. (IUFARIZRMFEM AR A F]) from
September 2001 to May 2005 and the marketing manager in the
Beijing branch of American ATMEL Company from July 1997 to
September 2001.

Mr. Wang obtained his bachelor’s degree in metallic material engineering
from Northeast Heavy Machinery Institute (RIEEREEPT) in
September 1992 and his master’s degree in business administration from
the Open University of Hong Kong in December 2000.

Mr. Wei Jinmin, aged 51, is the vice president of the Company.

Mr. Wei has served as the vice president of the Company since
September 2018 and is primarily responsible for the Group’s legal and
audit monitoring issues. Mr. Wei has over 20 years of experience in
legal advising.

Before joining the Company, Mr. Wei served as an assistant to
general manager and a director of legal department in XTRQ from
May 2014 to August 2018. From 2006 to 2014, Mr. Wei was a partner
of Sichuan Huanfeng Law Firm (PY)I| 3R I& 2 B F 75 F7) and Sichuan
Liankun Law Firm (P0IBT PT) respectively.

Mr. Fan Mingzhu, aged 40, is the general engineer of the Company.

Mr. Fan was a chief geologist of the Company from June 2008 to June
2017. He has served as the general engineer of the Company since
September 2018. He is primarily responsible for the finalization of the
Group's technical projects, research and development of new
technology and technical assessment of new project. Mr. Fan has over
36 years of experience in CBM well drilling, exploration and
development.

Mr. Fan was a chief geologist of the Company from June 2008 to June
2017. From May 2002 to May 2008, Mr. Fan was a senior engineer in
Petroleum Exploration and Development Research Institute of Sinopec
and engaged in geological evaluation and exploration deployment of
CBM concessions. From December 1989 to April 2002, Mr. Fan was a
senior engineer in Planning and Design Institute of North China
Petroleum Bureau of Sinopec. From February 1982 to November 1989,
Mr. Fan worked as an engineer in the Ninth and Fifth Brigade of
Petroleum Prospecting and Exploration of North China Petroleum
Bureau and participated in geological logging work at various CBM
well sites.

Mr. Fan obtained his bachelor degree in petroleum and natural gas
geology from Northwest University (F3E K22 ) in January 1982.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company is a leading independent CBM producer in China. It
focuses on developing and optimizing value of unconventional gas
resources to supply clean energy to the Chinese economy. Details of
the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set
out in note 1 and note 31 to the section headed “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2018 and a discussion on the Group's future business
development are provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report. Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group
may be facing can be found in the section headed "Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. In addition, the financial
risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be found in
note 3 to the section headed “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group's
performance during the year ended 31 December 2018 using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the section headed
"Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Further,
discussions on the Group's environmental policies, relationships with
its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group are contained in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Report of the Directors”,
and “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report,
respectively. Discussions and information therein form part of this
Report of the Directors.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set
out in the section headed "Consolidated Financial Statements” of this
annual report.
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DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a dividend of RMB0.0737
per share (equivalent to approximately HKD0.0862 per share) for the
year ended 31 December 2018, subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the forthcoming
AGM to be held on 10 May 2019. The proposed dividends are
expected to be paid on 12 June 2019 to the Shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members on 22 May 2019. The
dividends payable to the Shareholders will be distributed in HK Dollar
at an average exchange rate of the central parity of RMB against HK
Dollar as announced by The People’s Bank of China for the five
business days prior to the dividend declaration date.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The total net proceeds from the Listing which involved the issue of
761,400,000 shares of the Company (the “Shares”) amounted to
approximately RMB1,506.9 million received by the Company after
deduction of the underwriting commissions and other estimated
expenses. As of 31 December 2018, RMB813 million of the proceeds
had been utilized. The net proceeds were and will continue to be used
in accordance with the proposed applications set out in the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 11 June 2015 (the “Prospectus”) which includes the
funding of capital expenditure set out in the section headed
"Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook and Guidance for
2019" of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
REVENUE GENERATING ASSETS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
revenue generating assets of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in note 6 to the section headed “Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report,
respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings during the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in note 15 to the section headed “Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE INCENTIVE
SCHEMES

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
incentive schemes are set out in note 12 to the section headed “Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report and
the paragraph headed “Share Incentive Schemes” below, respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
articles of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2018.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM") is tentatively
scheduled to be held on Friday, 10 May 2019. The notice of the AGM
will be published and issued to the Shareholders in due course. For the
purposes of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and
vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from 7 May 2019 to 10 May 2019, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfers of shares of the Company will be registered.
To be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all properly completed
transfer forms, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 6 May 2019.

The record date for determining the entitlements to the proposed final
dividend is 22 May 2019. In order to determine the Shareholders’ right
to receive the proposed final dividend, which is subject to the approval
by the Shareholders at the AGM to be convened, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 20 May 2019 to 22 May
2019, both days inclusive, during which period the registration of
transfer of shares will be suspended for registration. All properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 17 May 2019.

RESERVES

Details of reserve movement of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2018 are set out in note 30 to the section headed “Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

BEERBEE
AARAHEIRMR ([ HR]) 55 2 B8 %)
3 B I BB IR E A A AARR
BRI (B 5 AR -

BE - HEIED LHES

HE2018F 1231 BILFE KRR EN
BAREEE HEXERAQGIM LT

TERERRER
RERBFASE(IRRAFRG)EHERN
2019F5A10BEHAEHA - RWRBFRLHE
A @R FIEN T8 TR - BIRTEDFERE
BFReTEe FRENET - ZXAFKBR
20195 A7HE2019F5810B(BEERE
WME)EEERREREL((RERERT ) FE
FEUEE - A AR T EXEERKRODBRE
o ANAERSIBREAFTFASYES LK
=, REBATEN2019F5 A6H T F M
=+5  BARREMERNBFRREREGH
REREARANREEROBEELDEE BT
RBEAEDHER AT (MU - BEBEEFEFAKX
BEI183FE A M AL7HE1712-1716F ) - LA
PIBERD o

ETRAFAEREBRBIRENRBAKE 2 &
L BA019F5HA22H - AR TEREEREZE
FREBMERN - ANAE 2 IRERMIER2019
F5A208E2019F5 AN BHM(REERE
ME)EEREROBFPELFE LSRR
RERERZERLCANBEEANKBREBEFTFASE
#o AR B RGERMBEREETER
2019F5A17EH TFEF =+ 2R ER AR
RIZEBBRNBEELSBEBSFRELED
BRAR (b - FEEFTE2FRER1835
AP L1718 1712-1716 ) » HIBRRD B
BRFE -

&t

BEARREHE2018F12A31 B ILFEHE
MBEFBHANAER A HFTHERERN T
BizE30 e

DEREREBRERRF/ —E—\FFH 51



Report of the Directors
EEERE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the distributable reserves of the Company
was approximately RMB3,995 million.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group made
RMB180,000 charitable contributions.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 67.49% of the total sales in which the
sales to the largest customer represented 20.12%.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers accounted for 23.69% of the total purchases for
the year ended 31 December 2018 and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to 8.91%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or any substantial shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no material and

significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or
customers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2018 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors Date of Appointment

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (appointed on 24 August 2018)
(Chairman)

Mr. Yan Danhua
(President)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing
(Vice President)

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou

(appointed on 24 August 2018)
(appointed on 24 August 2018)
(resigned on 22 November 2018)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Cui Guiyong

Mr. Jin Lei

Ms. Gu Ren

Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal

(appointed on 28 January 2015)
(resigned on 21 March 2019)
(appointed on 21 March 2019)
(resigned on 21 March 2019)

Mr. Peter Randall Kagan (resigned on 25 August 2018)
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw
Mr. Wei Zhen

Mr. Nie Fei

(resigned on 25 August 2018)
(resigned on 25 August 2018)
(resigned on 8 May 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (appointed on 24 August 2018)
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (appointed on 24 August 2018)
Dr. Yang Ruizhao (appointed on 9 November 2018)
Mr. Wu Yaowen (resigned on 24 August 2018)

(

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks resigned on 7 September 2018)

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett

(resigned on 7 September 2018)
(resigned on 7 September 2018)

Mr. Ming was appointed as an executive Director, chairman of the
Board and chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect on 24
August 2018. Mr. Yan was appointed as an executive Director with
effect on 24 August 2018. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an executive
Director with effect on 24 August 2018; and later appointed as a
member of the Remuneration Committee on 21 March 2019. Dr. Zou
ceased to be the chairman of the Board and chairman of the
Nomination Committee with effect on 24 August 2018; and resigned as
an executive Director with effect on 22 November 2018 due to his
other work commitments.
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Mr. Nie ceased to be a non-executive Director with effect on 8 May
2018. Mr. Kagan resigned as a non-executive Director with effect on 25
August 2018 due to his other work commitments. Mr. Wei resigned as
a non-executive Director with effect on 25 August 2018 due to his other
work commitments. Mr. Shaw resigned as a non-executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee with effect on 25 August 2018 due
to his other work commitments. Mr. Agarwal ceased to be a member
of the Strategic Development Committee with effect on 7 September
2018; and resigned as a non-executive Director and ceased to be a
member of the Remuneration Committee with effect on 21 March 2019
due to his other personal and work commitments. Mr. Jin was
appointed as a member of the Audit Committee with effect on 7
September 2018; and resigned as a non-executive Director and ceased
to be a member of the Audit Committee with effect on 21 March 2019
due to his other work commitments. Dr. Cui was appointed as a
member of the Strategic Development Committee with effect on 7
September 2018. Ms. Gu was appointed as a non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee with effect on 21 March 2019.

Mr. Wu Yaowen resigned as an independent non-executive Director
and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Strategic
Development Committee (previously known as the New Business
Committee) with effect from 24 August 2018 due to health reasons. Mr.
Robert Ralph Parks resigned as an independent non-executive Director
due to the close of the Offer (as defined in the offer document issued
by Liming Holding Limited dated 5 July 2018) on 16 August 2018 and
ceased to be a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Strategic Development Committee and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 7 September 2018. Mr.
Stephen Cheuk Kin Law resigned as an independent non-executive
Director due to the close of the Offer and ceased to be a member of
the Nomination Committee and the chairman of the Audit Committee
with effect from 7 September 2018. Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett resigned as
an independent non-executive Director due to the close of the Offer
and ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
chairman of the Strategic Development Committee with effect from 7
September 2018.

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration Committee with effect from 24 August 2018; and
was appointed as a member of each of the Nomination Committee
and the Strategic Development Committee and redesignated as the
chairman of the Audit Committee with effect from 7 September 2018.
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect
from 24 August 2018; and was appointed as the chairman of the
Strategic Development Committee and redesignated as the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 7 September 2018;
and later resigned as the chairman of the Strategic Development
Committee with effect from 9 November 2018. Dr. Yang Ruizhao was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and the chairman
of the Strategic Development Committee with effect from 9 November
2018.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the current Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
therein, there was no other matter with respect to the appointment of
the Directors that need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders and there was no information relating to the Directors
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of
the Listing Rules as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the date of
appointment subject to the relevant provisions of retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting(s) of the
Company (the “AGM(s)") in accordance with the Articles. Each of the
non-executive Directors, Dr. Cui Guiyong, Ms. Gu Ren, Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander and Dr. Liu Xiaofeng, have signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from the date of appointment while Dr. Yang Ruizhao serves for a term
of one year commencing from the date of his appointment subject to
the relevant provisions of retirement by rotation and re-election at the
AGMs of the Company in accordance with the Articles.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Ming Zaiyuan, Mr. Yan Danhua, Mr.
Zhang Jianbing, Dr. Cui Guiyong, Ms. Gu Ren, Mr. Tai Kwok Leung
Alexander, Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Dr. Yang Ruizhao will, retire and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts, transactions and
arrangements of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year ended 31 December 2018 or at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2018.
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DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals are set out in note 32 and note 20 to the
section headed “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” of
this annual report. The remunerations of the Directors are determined
based on the market price and contribution made by such Directors to
the Company. There has been no arrangement under which any
Director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors and considered
them to be independent as at the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2018.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provides that each Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her officer or
otherwise in relation thereto. Provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of such directors or officers. In addition, the Company has
maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
have taken, or are deemed to have taken, under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code"”), to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

) i
e
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Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held shareholding
Name Position Capacity (Note 3) (Note 4)
RGOSR BFREAE D
HE ;- 21s 5% (Pfi=E3) (HtzE4)
Ming Zaiyuan (Note 1) Chairman and Executive Director Interest in a controlled 1,692,871,886 (L) 49.93% (L)
BREE (M) ITRERNTES corporation
X EEER
Jin Lei (Note 2) Non-executive Director Beneficial owner 521,000 (L) 0.02% (L)
& (2) FHNTESE ERBEAA
Cui Guiyong Non-executive Director Beneficial owner 106,360 (L) 0.003% (L)
EEE FHNTESE ERBEAA
Notes: ffEE -

M Liming Holding Limited beneficially owned interests in 1,692,871,886 Shares of the
Company. Liming Holding Limited was entirely controlled by Sichuan Liming Energy
Development Co., Ltd., which in turn was entirely controlled by XTRQ. Mr. Ming
beneficially owned interests in 1,692,871,886 Shares of the Company through his
holding of 57,249,553 shares in XTRQ, representing 35.78% of the total issued share
capital of XTRQ.

2 Mr. Jin has resigned as non-executive Director with effect from 21 March 2019.
(3) The letter “L" denotes long position in such securities.

(4) Approximate percentage of shareholding as at the date of 31 December 2018.

(1) BEBNBPZERER AR ERER LA R,692,871,886
AR - BEFBAIE AR A R A 7 i )1 FI8F s IR
BAREE RS WM PERAEER
ETRAIHFTRAR LG - AL BBERES
R R R R57,249,553 B i 10+ (R ¥ RAR @ BT
M AH)35.78% « H i A AR R 1,692,871,886 B R
e

) THREA2019F3A21 AL OEEENITES -
©)] FE L EZATEBLRODPOETR -

@) HZE2018F 12 A31 B IEMHRADL -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective
associates had or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executives
of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or were required to be recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
will be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons (other than the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company) have interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying shares or debentures as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

Br EXFTiEEESN - R2018%F 124318 » &
NAEBENEBITHRAEMBMS B ELA
BAREARRSEBBH AR (TEREFSHLED
BIEPIZEXVED) Bk - HEERGD RES
BURAEEIREES MG KROIEXVEET7
k8D EME ARG R R AR ERESAR
(BIEREZRSFLBEGRIEBIEREEEX
BIEARRIZEZRFEITHA B HAE MR
KE)  HIREEHF MEE DI 35215685
BRAAREEELMANESSAE - R
BAZAESFRIZE AN S AN 5] KRB 22 P e i 2 ook

PN
=

FERREADRRD - HEAKRD
RESFTHERNERNMAR

R2018F12A31H THAT(ARRES
HEBITHABRIN FEAR RIRIEES & H
EIEHIZE 336 I FE B CMATE MY - 187
D REFFHEEERSCABWNT ¢

Approximate

Number of percentage of

shares held shareholding

Name of shareholder Capacity (Note 1) (Note 6)

iR B E A BRESE D

R EE 514 (FF=E1) (FgzE6)

Liming Holding Ltd. (Note 2) Beneficial owner 1,692,871,886 (L) 49.93% (L)

ERMBERER AR (HF2) EnEAA
Sichuan Liming Energy Development Interest in a controlled corporation 1,692,871,886 (L) 49.93% (L)
Co., Ltd. (Note 2)

o)l FIR e IR B AR E A R (52 2) X EEER

Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co.,Ltd. (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 1,692,871,886 (L) 49.93% (L)
MEERRARRMARRA (H5E2) SR E R

Warburg Pincus & Co. (Note 3) (Ffi7E3) Interest in a controlled corporation 326,318,660 (L) 9.62% (L)
X EEER

Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC (Note 3) (#f#3)  Interest in a controlled corporation 326,318,660 (L) 9.62% (L)
S RE R

Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P. (Note 3) (Fif7E3) Interest in a controlled corporation 326,318,660 (L) 9.62% (L)
X EEER

WPP GP LLC (Note 3) (Fff5E3) Interest in a controlled corporation 326,318,660 (L) 9.62% (L)

REEES
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Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity (Note 1) (Note 6)
FrER e E BEREAEIL
BRRE® 227 (BFE1) (Fif=E6)
Warburg Pincus X GP L.P. (Note 3) (Fi#F3) Interest in a controlled corporation 326,318,660 (L) 9.62% (L)
SR EER
Warburg Pincus X, L.P. (Note 3) (Ff7£3) Interest in a controlled corporation 326,318,660 (L) 9.62% (L)
ZErEER
Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P. Interest in a controlled corporation 326,318,660 (L) 9.62% (L)
(Note 3) (Fi#7E3) ZErEER
Asia X Investment | LLC (Note 3) (Ffi5E3) Interest in a controlled corporation 326,318,660 (L) 9.62% (L)
X EEER
WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 326,318,660 (L) 9.62% (L)
(Note 3) (FH7E3) BERBEAA
Salata Jean Eric (Note 4) (Fft5E4) Interest in a controlled corporation 266,139,719 (L) 7.85% (L)
X EEER
Barings Private Equity Asia GP IV Limited Interest in a controlled corporation 266,139,719 (L) 7.85% (L)
(Note 4) (Ff5E4) ZErEER
Barings Private Equity Asia GP IV L.P. Interest in a controlled corporation 266,139,719 (L) 7.85% (L)
(Note 4) (P51 4) ZEEEER
The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P. Interest in a controlled corporation 266,139,719 (L) 7.85% (L)
(Note 4) (FffzE4) ZErEER
Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Beneficial owner 266,139,719 (L) 7.85% (L)
Limited (Note 4) (Fif5£4) ERHEA
Chongging Three Gorges Gas (Group) Company  Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.33% (L)
Limited (Note 5) R L E R
EE=ZWRR (EE) R A E (HFS)
Chongqing Three Gorges Energy Co., Ltd. (Note 5) Interest in a controlled corporation 180,833,000 (L) 5.33% (L)
EEZRERER A (FHFES) T EEER
Shenzhen Tong Yu Energy Investment Beneficial owner 180,833,000 (L) 5.33% (L)
Co., Ltd. (Note 5)
FYBRERIEERRAR (D) EnBAA
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Notes:

©)

Save

The letter “"L" denotes long position in such securities.

Liming Holding Limited beneficially owned interests in 1,692,871,886 Shares (long
position) of the Company. Liming Holding Limited was entirely controlled by
Sichuan Liming Energy Development Co., Ltd., which in turn was entirely controlled
by XTRQ. Mr. Ming was a controlling shareholder and actual controller of XTRQ who
directly owned interests in 57,249,553 shares of XTRQ, representing 35.78% of the
total issued share capital of XTRQ.

WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited beneficially owned 326,318,660 Shares
(long position) of the Company. Asia X Investment | LLC held 100% equity interest in
WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited. Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, L.P.
controlled 96.90% equity interest in Asia X Investment | LLC. Warburg Pincus Private
Equity X, L.P. was 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus X, L.P., which in turn was
100% controlled by Warburg Pincus X GP L.P., which in turn was 100% controlled by
WPP GP LLC, which in turn was 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P.,
which in turn was 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC, which in turn
was 100% controlled by Warburg Pincus & Co..

Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited beneficially owned 266,139,719
Shares (long position) of the Company. The Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P.
held 99.26% equity interest in Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited. The
Baring Asia Private Equity Fund IV L.P. was 100% controlled by Baring Private Equity
Asia GP IV L.P., which in turn was 100% controlled by Baring Private Equity Asia GP
IV Limited, which in turn was wholly-owned by Jean Eric Salata.

Shenzhen Tong Yu Energy Investment Co., Ltd. beneficially owned 180,833,000
Shares (long position) of the Company and was 100% controlled by Chongging
Three Gorges Energy Co., Ltd., which in turn was 37.68% controlled by Chongging
Three Gorges Gas (Group) Company Limited.

Approximate percentage of shareholding as at the date of 31 December 2018.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the

Directors and chief executives of the Company are aware of any other

person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)

who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares

as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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BAEMNPZERERA B ERERARAEN,692,871,886
FREE 1 (47 &) o BB FIBAE IR A PR A A M) 788
LR AREM AT 2R ) F88 R A
BERETAREFTRARDEES - BELERH
RARIZERBE - ERESNA  HEEREEH XA
§.57,249,553FX B 1 - (h T R AR B EITRAK
35.78% B infE e o

WP China CBM Investment Holdings Limited
B & A AR R E13263186600% AR 13 (4 B ) © Asia X
Investment | LLC#578 WP China CBM Investment Holdings
Limited 2 #8%#& ° Warburg Pincus Private Equity X, LP. 1%
il Asia X Investment | LLC. 96.90% % # ° Warburg Pincus
Private Equity X, L.P. B3 Warburg Pincus X, L.P. 2 # 5 il :
Warburg Pincus X,LP. F Warburg Pincus X GP LP. 2%
#l © Warburg Pincus X GP LP. B WPP GP LLC 24824 :
WPP GP LLC £ Warburg Pincus Partners, L.P. 2 # 12 il :
Warburg Pincus Partners, LP. F§ Warburg Pincus Partners
GP LLC# # & %l : Warburg Pincus Partners GP LLC 3
Warburg Pincus & Co. 2847 il ©

Baring Private Equity Asia IV Holding (4) Limited Bz %48
A B 266,139,719 8% f {5 (45 &) © Baring Asia Private
Equity Fund IV, LP.%# 7% Baring Private Equity Asia IV
Holding (4) Limited 99.26% K% # ° Baring Asia Private
Equity Fund IV, L.P. B Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV
LP. 2445 : Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV L.P. g
Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV Limited % # % I :
Baring Private Equity Asia GP IV Limited 8 Jean Eric
Salata 2 & A ©

RYBBRERREERAANEGEAART
180,833,000 % B 13 (4F &) » WA EE = REEIRAR
REAEEHEE MEE=WRGERERAFHEE=
BEEASR (52 18) BIR A RIJEAR 37.68% o

HZE2018F 12 A31 BILMBRADL -

Br EXCRT#EEE SN - 20184124318 » &
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SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

In order to incentivize the Directors, senior management and other
employees of the Group for their contribution to the Group and to
attract and retain suitable personnel of our Group, the Company
adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme (as defined below).

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) on 31 March 2015, the principal terms (such
as the purpose, participants and consideration for accepting any
options,) of which are set out in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information — Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in Appendix V
to the prospectus of the Company dated 11 June 2015 (the
"Prospectus”).

Outstanding Options

For the year ended 31 December 2018, 162,606,661 options have been
cancelled, 24,620,606 options have lapsed, and 30,718,269 options
have been exercised. As at 31 December 2018, there were a total of
5,068,744 options outstanding. If all the outstanding options are to be
exercised, there would be a dilution effect on the share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2018 of approximately 0.15%. Save as
disclosed above, no further options have been or would be granted by
the Company after the date of Listing pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

BB 8
AR RN E R DB 6 B AR MR BIA K
AHBERZRIRGECHBCEERT
X) BESBHAREEE SREEAER
HfbEEHAREIEHER - LRSI FRAA
EEMBEAAT -

BXAEBRENBRETE

RABR2015F3AINBHFERAERNAFRBE
AR E (B R ARMBEABRESE )
HFrBZRFR(BEEN - 28E  BEITAE
EMRE) SR ARRR2015F6 A 11 HE
HHBRRER((BRERDWHRE ATk —
BEM — BRAFREERERETS] —& -

RITEBRE

HE2018F 12 A31HIEFE + B 162,606,661
DEMRED T B 24,620,606 17 8 I% # 5
B 30,718,269 10 BE AR EE ETTE - 722018
F12 8318 » $£A5,0068, 74410 BB I HEH AR 1T
e BRMBRTEBREETE  XAFRK
2018 4F 12 A 31 H KRR AN 6 15 70 8 B B - i
EHEL0.15% ° B EXXCRIIEE SN - AR T
T A BRI AR I N A B R S AT R R
FFERH ISR L H AR E -

DEREREBRERRF/ —E—\FFH 61



Report of the Directors

EEERE

Movements of the Options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme  #HZE2018F 12 A31HIFFE » XA HES

for the year ended 31 December 2018: AIEE IR AT B 1E T A BB A i
Number Total number
of Shares of Shares  Approximate
represented represented percentage of
Exercise by options Exercised Lapsed Cancelled by options at  issued shares
Name of price  at1January  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 December of the Vesting Exercise
Share Option Grantees”  Date of Grant (US$) 2018 period © period period® 2018 Company® Period® period®
R BRER
2018 % 2018 % ERAF
1A18 12A318 BB
& P& FRRN  ROWEY
BREZRAZE RHiAH (%7) ROBE RMABTRS  BREAN HREZHO RHHE BAkY  BEA e
Directors of the Company
ANRESE
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou 31 March 2015 US$0.151 11,942,710 1,914,488 - 10,028,222 - - please see please see
(resigned on note2and  note 3 below
22 November 2018) note 5 below
PrAREL (20185 2015634318 01515 F2ETX  #F2ETX
MARBEL) a2 BEES M3
Wu Yaowen (resigned on 5 June 2015 US$0.151 477,708 76,579 - 401,129 - - - -
24 August 2018)
RIEX(R2018F8A24E 201566758 015127
BHE)
Robert Ralph PARKS 5 June 2015 US$0.151 477,708 76,579 - 401,129 - - - -
(resigned on
7 September 2018)
(R201859A7BEHE) 2015467508 01511
Fredrick J. BARRETT 5June 2015 US$0.151 477,708 76,579 - 401,129 - - - -
(resigned on
7 September 2018)

(R2018F9A7TREM)  2015F6A5R 0151

Other employees of the Company

AAREMESR
31 March 2015 US$0.151 209,638 446 28,574,044 24,620,606 151,375,052 5,068,744 0.15% please see please see
and 5 June 2015 note2and  note 3below
note 5 below
N15F3A3NAK  0151%ET FEMTX  FBHMTX
156 6A58 MiEE2 RS MizE3
Total 223,014,280 30,718,269 24,620,606 162,606,661 5,068,744 0.15%
@it
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Notes:

Prior to the Listing, certain of the grantees have transferred their options to
companies wholly-owned by them, in accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme.

Unvested options granted to the grantees pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme vested as follows (refer to note (5) for vesting manner during Liming's
takeover):

(a) 50% of the Options shall be time-based and shall vest at the rate of (i) one
half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if the
relevant date on which the employment relationship between the Company
(the “"Employment Date") is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (ii) one third
(1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant Employment
Date if such date is after 1 January 2014; and

50% of the Options shall be KPI-linked (the “KPI-linked Options”) and shall
be divided into three equal instalments, with each instalment being linked
with one of the three KPIs (as defined below) and vested at the rate of one (i)
half (1/2) for each 12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if the
relevant Employment Date is on or prior to 1 January 2014; or (i) one third
(1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from the relevant Employment
Date if such date is after 1 January 2014 pursuant to the following payout
schedule:

M 100% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest if 100% of the relevant KPI
Target is met; or

(2) if the relevant KPI Target is not met at 100%, 50% of the KPI-linked
Options shall vest if 80% of the Relevant KPI Target is met and an
additional 2.5% of the KPI-linked Options shall vest for each 1%
further improvement in such KPI Target; provided that if the
performance rate of any KPI Target exceeds 100%, then up to 10% of
the improvement of that KPI Target can be added to the performance
rate of other KPI Target(s) that is not 100% accomplished.

For the purposes of above, "KPIs" refer to (i) EBITDA; (ii) Reserves; and (iii) All-in
Unit Cost. “KPI Target” shall mean 95% (in the case of EBITDA and Reserves) or
105% (in the case of All-in-Unit Cost) of the estimated number of that relevant KPI
presented in (i) the annual work plan and budget of the relevant year approved by
the Board; or (ii) the revised annual work plan and budget for the relevant year,
which is subsequently presented to and approved by the Board. The treatment for
any unvested KPl-linked Options shall be determined by the Board or the
Committee as delegated by the Board.

Subject to any accelerated termination as set forth in the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, each option shall expire on the date specified under the Pre-IPO Share
Option, provided that in no event, shall the Exercise Period of an Option exceed
five years from the date upon which the relevant option has vested.
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4) Approximate percentage of issued Shares of the Company is calculated by dividing
the options held by the relevant grantees by the issued and outstanding Shares of
the Company as at 31 December 2018.

5) Pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, Liming's takeover resulted changes
in control of the Company and triggered accelerated vesting and exercise.
Reference is made to the announcements published by the Company on 14 May
2018, 24 July 2018, 2 August 2018 and 16 August 2018, and the offer document
published by the offeror on 5 July 2018. During Liming’s partial offer, 50.5% of
outstanding share options, being 100,323,140 share options, were cancelled.
Further, the consideration for 28,107,797 issued shares upon exercise of the option
was satisfied by the cancellation of 62,283,521 options. Hence, a total of 162,606,661
options were cancelled as of 31 August 2018. For more information, please refer to
note 1 of the monthly return of equity issuer on movements in securities for the
month ended 31 August 2018 published by the Company.

Further details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note
20 to the section headed “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report and the Prospectus.

POST-IPO RSU SCHEME

The Company adopted a post-IPO restricted share unit scheme (the
"Post-IPO RSU Scheme”) on 5 June 2015, which took effect on the
date of Listing, a summary of the principal terms (such as the purpose,
participants) of which is set out in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information — Post-IPO RSU Scheme” in Appendix V to the
Prospectus.

On 18 December 2015, the Company granted an aggregate of
41,234,696 restricted share units (“RSUs"”) to certain connected
grantees and non-connected grantees of the Group pursuant to the
Post-IPO RSU Scheme. On 31 January 2016, an aggregate of 19,865,199
RSUs were accepted by the connected grantees and an aggregate of
21,199,297 RSUs were accepted by the non-connected grantees,
respectively.

On 24 March 2017, the Board granted an aggregate of 26,333,182
RSUs to certain connected grantees and non-connected grantees of
the Group pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme. On 31 May 2017, an
aggregate of 26,333,182 RSUs were accepted by the relevant grantees.
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OUTSTANDING RSUs

For the year ended 31 December 2018, 30,031,994 RSUs have been
cancelled, 833,643 RSUs were lapsed, and 23,118,862 RSUs have been

vested. As at 31 December 2018, there were no outstanding RSUs.

The takeover of Liming resulted in change of control of the Company
and triggered accelerated vesting. For details, please refer to the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — LIMING

PARTIAL OFFER UPDATE".

RITEZREIR MG EN
HZE2018F12A31H IEF & 530,031,994
HDERHIIRDE Y - 5 833,643 R 8%
PRI - 423,118,862 17 5 [R HII A% {5 B fi1
FESE - 201812 A31H » EHAKRITHEZ
SRR IR0 BBAL ©

RIBERAFRERZRBIBDEME - 7
B ER A R B IRGIREE - BEIER
B ARF2R AR BMNAFER[EEER
iR — FIBAR D BB E R | — &7

it o

Number Total number
of Shares of shares
represented represented
by RSUs at Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled by RSUs at
Name of RSU 1 January during during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of Grant Consideration 2018 the period® the period® the period the period? 2018  Vesting Period™®
ERHRG ERHRG
EUi2018% BIR2018%
1818 12A31H
ERHRGEN &M e
ERAEE BHBH RE REHEE BHRERLS HRECHREC BRBAHK BREEH RB#E SEH
Directors of the Company
ARAES
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou 22 January 2016 5,062,314 - 2,262,124 - 2,800,190 - please see note 1
(resigned on 22 November 2018) 016F17228 and note 2 below
PARHEL(R2018F11 A2 BEE) FEHT XM
RbE2
31 May 2017 4,028,976 - 1,475,387 - 2,553,589 -
017%5A318
Wu Yaowen (resigned on 24 August 2018) 31 May 2017 337,500 - 147,612 - 189,888 -
RIBX(K20185F8 A 24 BEHE) 017E5A31H
Robert Ralph PARKS {resigned on 31 May 2017 337,500 - 147,612 - 189,888 -
7 September 2018) 017558318
(K20185F9 A7 BEHE)
Fredrick J. BARRETT (resigned on 31 May 2017 337,500 - 147,612 - 189,888 -
7 September 2018) 017558318
(K20185F9 A7 BEHE)
Stephen Cheuk Kin Law (resigned on 31 May 2017 337,500 - 147,612 - 189,888 -
7 September 2018) 017558318
FSZ(R2018F9 A7 BEHE)
Other employees of the Company
ARFEMES
18 December 2015 43543185 2% 18,790,903 833,643 23,918,663 -
and 31 May 2017
0154127188
R2017E58318
Total 53,984,475 24 23,118,862 833,643 30,031,994 -
@t
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(i)

(iii)

The RSUs granted to the subjected RSU grantee under the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme in 2015 and 2016 shall be vested in accordance with the vesting
schedule as follow:

(a) 50% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at the proportion
of one-fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period commencing from 31
March 2016; and

(b) 50% of the RSUs shall be KPI-linked RSUs (“KPI-linked RSUs") and
shall be divided into three equal instalments, with each instalment
being linked with one of the three KPlIs (as defined below) and vested
at the proportion of one-fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period
commencing from one-fourth (1/4) pursuant to the KPI-linked RSUs
payout schedule.

The RSUs granted to Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou and other employees of
the Company under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme in 2017 shall be vested in
accordance with the vesting schedule as follows:

(a) 50% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at the proportion
of one-fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period commencing from 31
March 2017; and

(b) 50% of the RSUs shall be KPI-linked RSUs (“KPI-linked RSUs") and
shall be divided into three equal instalments, with each instalment
being linked with one of the three KPIs and vested at the proportion
of one-fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period commencing from 31
March 2017 pursuant to the KPI-linked RSUs payout schedule.

The RSUs granted to the independent non-executive directors of the
Company under the Post-IPO RSU Scheme in 2017 shall be vested in
accordance with the vesting schedule as follows:

(a) 25% of the RSUs will be vested immediately after the acceptance of
the RSU Grants by the relevant independent non-executive directors;

(b) 37.5% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at the proportion
of one-third (1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from 31
March 2017; and

(c) 37.5% of the RSUs shall be KPI-linked RSUs (“KPI-linked RSUs") and
shall be divided into three equal instalments, with each instalment
being linked with one of the three KPIs and vested at the proportion
of one-third (1/3) for each 12-month period commencing from 31
March 2017 pursuant to the KPI-linked RSUs payout schedule.
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2) Pursuant to the Post-IPO RSU Scheme, Liming's partial offer resulted in change of
control of the Company and triggered accelerated vesting and exercise. Reference
is made to the announcements published by the Company on 14 May 2018, 24 July
2018, 2 August 2018 and 16 August 2018, and the offer document published by the
offeror on 5 July 2018. A total of 30,031,994 RSUs were cancelled as of 31 August
2018, among which 20,154,383 RSUs were cancelled by Liming's takeover, 9,877,611
RSUs were awarded by payment in cash according to the board resolution of the
Company passed on 2 August 2018. For more information, please refer to note 2 of
the monthly return of equity issuer on movements in securities for the month ended
31 August 2018 published by the Company.

3) As the issue of shares to the trustee for the RSUs was based on estimation, the
Company issued additional 24 shares after all the shares for the RSUs were vested
and issued. For more information, please refer to note 3 of the revised monthly
return of equity issuer on movements in securities for the month ended 31 August
2018 published by the Company.

Further details of the Post-IPO RSU Scheme are set out in note 20 to
the section headed “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements”
of this annual report and the Prospectus.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO RSU
Scheme disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted
at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above under the paragraph “Share Incentive
Schemes”, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any Directors
or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group had not entered into any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions which are required to be disclosed
in this annual report in compliance with the requirements of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2018. The
Directors confirm that they have complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions during the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in note 27 to the section headed “Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

The related party transactions as set out in note 27 to the section head
“Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report
do not fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or
“continuing connected transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2018.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, the Board confirms that the
Company has maintained the sufficiency of public float as required
under the Listing Rules at all times for the year ended 31 December
2018 and as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or likely to compete with the business of the
Group.
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SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND
COMPLIANCE MATTERS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company was not engaged
in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation
or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be
pending or threatened against the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company obtained all the
material licenses, permits and approvals necessary for the respective
development stages of projects in Panzhuang and Mabi.

For the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this
report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied
with applicable laws, rules and regulations in all material respects.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 8 July 2015, Sino American Energy Inc. (“SAEI") (as borrower) and
Asian American Gas Inc. ("AAGI") (as guarantor) entered into a senior
secured revolving credit facility agreement (the “2015 Facility
Agreement”) with certain banks in relation to a US$250,000,000 of 69
months term loan facility.

Under the 2015 Facility Agreement, it will constitute an event of
default, among others, if (i) Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou ("Dr. ZOU")
holds (whether directly or indirectly or by way of a trust) less than 25%
of the Shares that Dr. ZOU holds (whether directly or indirectly or by
way of a trust) as at 8 July 2015, representing approximately 1.45% of
the issued share capital of the Company; (ii) at any time, Dr. ZOU
ceases to be the chairman of the Board; or (iii) during the period from
23 June 2015 to 23 June 2016, any of the Controlling Shareholders
disposes of, or enters into any agreement to dispose of, any shares he/
it holds (directly or indirectly) in the Company in breach of his/its
undertakings to the Stock Exchange in relation to Rule 10.07(1) of the
Listing Rules as set out in the Prospectus. Upon and at any time after
the occurrence of an event of default, the majority of the lenders may,
among other actions, immediately cancel all commitments and declare
any or all outstanding amounts under the 2015 Facility Agreement and
the relevant financing documents together with interest accrued
thereon to be immediately due and payable.

For details of the 2015 Facility Agreement, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 9 July 2015.
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As at 31 December 2018, the operating profit of the Group marked
substantial increase with sufficient cash and bank deposits. In
September 2018, the Group repaid in advance the principal of the
utilized US$89 million reserve-based facility under the 2015 Facility
Agreement together with the interest thereon and commitment fees,
the aggregate facility was then cancelled. For details, please refer to
note 15 to the section headed “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report.

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

The management believes that talent is the basis for long-term
development and growth of enterprises. Through regular trainings and
education of our corporate culture, the Group provides its staff with
potentials for personal growth and increase our employees’ sense of
belonging to the Group. In addition, the Group provides its employees
with competitive remuneration packages and various benefits in line
with industry practice. At the same time, the Group creates a good
working environment, and establishes teamwork spirit among
employees. The Group regularly reviews human resources policies to
ensure that the policies align with market practice and comply with
regulatory requirements. As at 31 December 2018, the Group
employed 569 employees (31 December 2017: 643 employees). The
total employee benefit expenses (excluding termination benefits) for
2018 was approximately RMB158 million (2017: RMB142 million). Details
are set out in note 20 to the section headed”Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements” of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2018

There were no subsequent events between the end of reporting period
and the date of this report that would cause material impact on the
Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Information on the environmental, social and governance aspects of
the Company will be prepared based on the Environmental, Social,
and Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules. The environmental, social and governance report of the
Group will be published no later than 3 months after the publication of
this annual report.
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REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group's risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters with the
management. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Policy”) aims to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

Principles and Guidelines

The Board adopts the policy that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well as
its shareholder value.

The Company intends to distribute no less than 25% of its annual net
profits as dividends to its shareholders, subject to the conditions and
factors as set out below.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company, subject to the articles of association of
the Company and all applicable laws and regulations and the factors
set out below.
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The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

° financial results;

. cash flow situation;

. business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of Shareholders;

J any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

o any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Depending on the financial conditions of the Group and the conditions
and factors as set out above, dividends may be proposed and/or
declared by the Board for a financial year or period:

J interim dividend;

J final dividend;

° special dividend; and

J any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’
approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip
or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

Review of the Policy
The Board will review the Policy as appropriate from time to time.
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AUDITORS

There have been no changes of auditors in the past three years.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its appreciation to all the staff for their
outstanding contribution towards the Group's development. The
Board wishes to sincerely thank the management for their dedication
and diligence, and they are the key factors for the Group to continue
its success in future. Also, the Group wishes to extend its gratitude for
the continued support from its Shareholders, customers, and business
partners. The Group will continue to deliver sustainable business
development, so as to meet its business objectives for 2019 and realize
higher values for its Shareholders and other stakeholders.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Ming Zaiyuan
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
21 March 2019
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Review Period”)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance our corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code") contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. Save as disclosed below, the Company has complied with
all applicable code provisions under the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

During the period from 8 September 2018 to 8 November 2018, the
Company had only two independent non-executive Directors, the
composition of which fell below the minimum number requirement
under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules and the qualification requirement
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to this
chapter (the section headed “THE BOARD — Board Composition”).
The Company will continue to do its best to fulfill the requirement set
out in Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company'’s affairs, the Board has established four Board committees
including the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
Remuneration Committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
Nomination Committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
strategic development committee (the “Strategic Development
Committee”) (together, the "Board Committees”). The Board has
delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in

compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised three executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman of the Board)
(appointed on 24 August 2018)
Mr. Yan Danhua (President) (appointed on 24 August 2018)
Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Vice President)
(appointed on 24 August 2018)
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (resigned on 22 November 2018)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. Cui Guiyong
Ms. Gu Ren (appointed on 21 March 2019)
Mr. Jin Lei (resigned on 21 March 2019)
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal

(resigned on 21 March 2019)
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan

(resigned on 25 August 2018)
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw (resigned on 25 August 2018)
Mr. Wei Zhen (resigned on 25 August 2018)
Mr. Nie Fei (resigned on 8 May 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (appointed on 24 August 2018)
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (appointed on 24 August 2018)

Dr. Yang Ruizhao (appointed on 9 November 2018)

Mr. Wu Yaowen (resigned on 24 August 2018)

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks (resigned on 7 September 2018)

Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law (resigned on 7 September 2018)
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett (resigned on 7 September 2018)

The biographies of the current Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
Saved as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report (if any), to
the knowledge of the Directors, the Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material relationship with each other.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 9 September
2018, following the resignations of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Parks, Mr. Law and Mr. Barrett, the number of
independent non-executive Directors fell below the minimum number
of three as required under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules and fell
below one-third of the Board, as required under Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules. On 9 November 2018, Dr. Yang was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director. Following Dr. Yang's
appointment, the Company has fulfilled the requirement of minimum
number of independent non-executive Directors under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules. On 22 November 2018, Dr. Zou resigned as an executive
Director. Following the resignation of Dr. Zou, the Board consisted of
nine members, three of whom were independent non-executive
Directors, representing one-third of the Board. The number of
independent non-executive Directors has satisfied the requirements
under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Therefore, the Company has re-
complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules within three
months after failing to meet these requirements in accordance with
Rule 3.11 of the Listing Rules. For further details of the appointment of
Dr. Yang and the resignation of Dr. Zou, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 9 November 2018 and 22
November 2018, respectively.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his

independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Strategic Development Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations
and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time
involved to the issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under relevant status, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides Directors with regular updates on latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to perform
their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company and the lawyers engaged by the
Company have from time to time updated and provided written
training materials relating to the roles, functions and duties of a
Director.
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During the Review Period, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training courses and/or
referring materials on the topics related to the Group's business,
corporate governance and regulations on the roles, functions and
duties of a Director of a listed company:

Attending
expert briefings/
seminars/
conferences/
on-line courses
relevant to
Reading the business of
regulatory the Group or
Name of Director update directors’ duties
ZmEEAER
EBREEHE
ZEREHRE
D=V Ve
BEMNS BRFEEER B;ERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) ABEREE(FE) 4 v
Mr. Yan Danhua BFHEE SR L v/ 4
Mr. Zhang Jianbing SR L A 4 4
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou e REL - -
(resigned on 22 November 2018) (20184 11 A 22 HEkE)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Dr. Cui Guiyong e v v
Ms. Gu Ren BE Lt - -
Mr. Jin Lei G s v v
(resigned on 21 March 2019) (PR 20194 3 A 21 HEHfE)
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 4t 4 v v/
(resigned on 21 March 2019) (PA20194F 3 A 21 BEHE)
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan & 4 - -
(resigned on 25 August 2018) (FA20184F 8 A 25 HEHE)
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw R L E - -
(resigned on 25 August 2018) (7220184 8 A 25 HgHfE)
Mr. Wei Zhen REEA - -
(resigned on 25 August 2018) (PA20184F 8 A 25 HEH{E)
Mr. Nie Fei BRI E - -
(resigned on 8 May 2018) (FR20184F 5 A 8 H&HT)
Mr. Wu Yaowen RIBXF A - -
(resigned on 24 August 2018) (7220184 8 A 24 HgHfE)
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander HER 4 4 v
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng Bz g E+ v/ 4
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BimEE L v/ 4

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks

(resigned on 7 September 2018)
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law

(resigned on 7 September 2018)
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett

(resigned on 7 September 2018)
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors.

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement or a letter of appointment with the Company, in which the
terms of service for Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (chairman of the Board and
executive Director), Mr. Yan Danhua (executive Director and president),
Mr. Zhang Jianbing (executive Director and vice president) and Dr. Cui
Guiyong, Ms. Gu Ren (both are non-executive Directors) and Mr. Tai
Kwok Leung Alexander and Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (both are independent
non-executive Directors) are respectively three years from the date of
appointment or re-appointment; while Dr. Yang Ruizhao, the
independent non-executive Director, his term of service is one year
from the date of appointment. Such term is subject to his re-election
by the Company at an annual general meeting upon retirement. The
Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office until the first general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election at such meeting. Besides, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re- election. In accordance with
the Articles, at every annual general meeting of the Company, one
third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and being
eligible offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Ming Zaiyuan, Mr. Yan Danhua, Mr.
Zhang Jianbing, Dr. Cui Guiyong, Ms. Gu Ren, Mr. Tai Kwok Leung
Alexander, Dr. Liu Xiaofeng and Dr. Yang Ruizhao shall retire and being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.
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General Meetings

During the Review Period, an annual general meeting was held and the
attendance of the individual Directors at the meeting is set out in the

BRRAEEZ

EEEHA - BT - RARRBEFREEE
EEFHRELERNBNRTE

table below:
Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEnA BIRHE AHERE
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) PERSE(FE)

(appointed on 24 August 2018) (PA2018 48 A 24 HEZE(E) 0/0
Mr. Yan Danhua (appointed on 24 August 2018) B ESE (A 2018 8 A 24 HIEER(T) 0/0
Mr. Zhang Jianbing B e

(appointed on 24 August 2018) (FR20184F 8 A24 HEZ ) 0/0
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou FEREL

(resigned on 22 November 2018) (FA20184F 11 A 22 HEHE) 1”7
Mr. Jin Lei (resigned on 21 March 2019) @A E (F2019F 3 A 21 HET) 0/1
Dr. Cui Guiyong EEEET 0/1
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 5£ 4

(resigned on 21 March 2019) (FA20194 3 A 21 HEHE) 0N
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan £ 4

(resigned on 25 August 2018) (PR 20184 8 A 25 HEHE) 0/1
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BEREE

(resigned on 25 August 2018) (2201848 A 25 A BHE) 0/1
Mr. Wei Zhen (resigned on 25 August 2018) BT A (20184 8 A 25 HEtE) 0/1
Mr. Nie Fei (resigned on 8 May 2018) FMALA (R 201845 A8 HEHT) 171
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander HERTE

(appointed on 24 August 2018) (FR2018F 8 A24 HEZ ) 0/0
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (appointed on 24 August 2018) 2B IE18 (52 2018F 8 A 24 HIEER(T) 0/0
Dr. Yang Ruizhao (appointed on 9 November 2018) 83 AE L (A 2018411 A9 B EERE) 0/0
Mr. Wu Yaowen (resigned on 24 August 2018) SRR EA (7220184 8 A 24 HET) 0/1
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5t 4

(resigned on 7 September 2018) (FR20184E9 A7 HEHE) on
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law BARSLA

(resigned on 7 September 2018) (FR2018F9 A7 HEHT) 1”71
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett %t 4

(resigned on 7 September 2018) (R 201849 A7 ARHE) 1/1
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or committee members at least three days
before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they
will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity
to make their views known to the chairman of the Board prior to the
meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings will be
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held.
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During the Review Period, four board meetings were held and the ERIREHRA  EESETTHNRAEE  S&EF
attendance of the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in  HEELEHNBERNETX :
the table below:
Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEnA BER MR ATHERE
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman) BBRLAE (EFE)

(appointed on 24 August 2018) (FRA20184 8 24 HEZE ) 3/3
Mr. Yan Danhua (appointed on 24 August 2018) B EE A (R 2018 F 8 H24 BEER(T) 3/3
Mr. Zhang Jianbing B e

(appointed on 24 August 2018) (FR2018F 8 A24 HEZ ) 3/3
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou WA RE L

(resigned on 22 November 2018) (FA20184F 11 A 22 H&HT) 4/4
Mr. Jin Lei (resigned on 21 March 2019) SEWEAE(R201943 A 21 BEHE) 4/4
Dr. Cui Guiyong ENBELT 4/4
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 54

(resigned on 21 March 2019) (FA20194 3 A 21 HEHE) 4/4
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan Peter Randall Kagan 7t 4

(resigned on 25 August 2018) (2201848 A 25 A BHE) 2/2
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BT E

(resigned on 25 August 2018) (FA20184F 8 A 25 HEF(E) 2/2
Mr. Wei Zhen (resigned on 25 August 2018) MBI A (PP 201848 A 25 HE (L) 2/2
Mr. Nie Fei (resigned on 8 May 2018) IR A (FA20184F 5 A 8 HELT) 11
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BERTE

(appointed on 24 August 2018) (FR2018F 8 H 24 AEZE) 2/3
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (appointed on 24 August 2018) 2EEEE (2018 F8 A24 HEL ) 2/3
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BinaE T

(appointed on 9 November 2018) (72018 11 A9BEZEF) 0/0
Mr. Wu Yaowen (resigned on 24 August 2018) SRR XA (R2018F 8 A 24 HEHT) 2/2
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5t 4

(resigned on 7 September 2018) (FA2018F 9 A7 HEHT) 2/2
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law RERLA

(resigned on 7 September 2018) (FR20184E9 A7 BHEE) 2/2
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett %0 4

(resigned on 7 September 2018) (FA20184F9 A7 BHEHE) 2/2
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The chairman of the Board and the president of the Company are
currently two separate positions held by Mr. Ming Zaiyuan as the
chairman of the Board and Mr. Yan Danhua as president, with clear
distinction in responsibilities. The chairman of the Board is responsible
for providing strategic advice and guidance on the business
development of the Group, while the president is responsible for the
day-to-day operations of the Group.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Company also established written guidelines on terms no less
exacting than the Model Code (the “"Employees Written Guidelines”)
for securities transactions by relevant employees who are likely to
possess inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings
in the Company’s securities. No incident of non-compliance of the
Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant employees was noted
by the Company during the Review Period.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision-making authorities on all major
matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to
be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and the corporate governance
duties include:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

() to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the
Company and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 32
to the section headed “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report.

The remuneration of the senior management who were senior
management of the Group as at 31 December 2018 is within the
following bands:
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32

R2018F 12 A3 BIEAREBSREREEN
BRETEABNFHNSEENT

2018
2018 £
Number of
Individuals
A

Emolument bands 6 =
HKD1,000,001-HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 7% 7T 6
HKD1,500,001-HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T 2 2,000,000 7 7T 1
HKD2,000,001-HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7c 2= 2,500,000 7% 7T 0
HKD2,500,001-HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7T % 3,000,000 7 7T 1
8
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Directors’ Liability Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against its Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee comprises
three members, namely Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander, Dr. Liu
Xiaofeng and Ms. Gu Ren, the majority of who are independent non-
executive Directors. The chairman is Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander,
who confirmed that he possesses appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing
Rules. The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

1. to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company's staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the auditor before submission to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the external auditor's independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard and discuss with external auditor the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

3. to review the appropriateness and effectiveness of the
Company'’s financial reporting system, internal control system
and risk management system and associated procedures,
including the adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, reports to the Board on any material
issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Review Period, three meetings of the Audit Committee  ZEBIEEERN @ EXEE QLT T
were held to discuss and consider the following matters:

v

NP
INE

b=111

mALEF T ANEIR

e reviewed annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries for o  FHEARQA T REME AT EZ2017F12

the period ended 31 December 2017,

H31 BHMHFE S

J reviewed interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries for e EMARFIRENBRAREHZ2018F6

the period ended 30 June 2018; and

A30HHEIEM P EIZESE UK

. reviewed the unaudited financial information and the third e ERARRAREMNBAGEHZE20184F9
quarter operations update of the Company and its subsidiaries A30BHIENERMABAMBEMNNE

for the nine months ended 30 September 2018.

SEEERER -

The attendance record of the Audit Committee members is set out in S EBZEEE€KEMEFELEERE TE

the table below:

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEnA BER MR ATHERE
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander R A A
(Chairman of the Audit Committee) (BERZESF/E)
(appointed on 24 August 2018, (FA20184 8 A 24 H
appointed on 7 September 2018 as Chairman) TEZ(E - R2018F9 A7 HEZHF
RERE)
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (appointed on 24 August 2018) 2B IE18 (5220188 A 24 HIEZR(T) 11
Mr. Jin Lei (appointed on 7 September 2018 and ST E(R2018F9 A7 BEZ TR A
resigned on 21 March 2019) 201943 A 21 HEHE)
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law BARSLA 2/2
(resigned on 7 September 2018) (FA20184 9 A7 HEE)
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw BT A 2/2
(resigned on 25 August 2018) (7R20184 8 A 25 H gt {E)
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5t 4 2/2

(resigned on 7 September 2018)

(R 201849 A7 HEHE)

Pursuant to the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code, the Audit RIBEGEEIATRIMERE CI3GRTE - B
Committee should meet with the Company’s auditors at least twice a ZESREFELEARTZBENSE MK
year. During the Review Period, the Company had met the auditors ~FEEIEHA - AR F 2 BZBETSE M A

twice.

86 AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Corporate Governance Report
TRERKE

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three members, namely Dr. Liu Xiaofeng, Mr. Tai Kwok
Leung Alexander and Mr. Zhang Jianbing, the majority of whom are
independent non- executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
determined by the Board;

3. either to determine, with delegated responsibility or to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. These
include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions of
the Group;

6.  to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7.  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

8. to ensure that no Director or any of his associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Review Period, two meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following matters:

o reviewed and discussed the performance evaluation results and

bonus distribution principles for the year 2017;

° reviewed the effectiveness of terms of reference for the o

Remuneration Committee;

J reviewed proposed remuneration for candidates of Directors and e

independent non-executive Directors; and

J reviewed emolument bands and salary adjustment rules of senior e

management.

The attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members is

set out in the table below:

FEEESAN - FHEE R
NTHFEI%;%J’/(T$I§ .

FNEZEeNEmMBREETEY XM RA AT
Huh A ER] -

TTMREE A

%V&J 2017 FERBAGEER 1L

D ECRAN ;

BEZEFNES
A LA

MIFERTEEREARHR

EEMEIEA BN E MR
BRI -

BHFMNEEERENHELERL TR

Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EENE BER LR ATHERE
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng ZIEEEE + 0/0
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) (FNZE =)
(appointed on 24 August 2018, (7201848 A 24 H
redesignated as Chairman on 7 September 2018) TEE(E - R2018F9 A7 BEFRFT
RERE)
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal & 4 2/2
(resigned on 21 March 2019) (7R 20194 3 A 21 HEHE)
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BEIREE 0/0
(appointed on 24 August 2018) (FRA20184 8 A 24 HEZ )
Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks 5t 4 2/2
(resigned on 7 September 2018) (720189 A7 AEHE)
Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett 5L 4 2/2

(resigned on 7 September 2018)

(R201849 A7 HEHE)
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Nomination Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
consists of two independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. Tai
Kwok Leung Alexander and Dr. Liu Xiaofeng, and an executive
Director, Mr. Ming Zaiyuan, who is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company's corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and the succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer; and

5. to review the Board diversity policy.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time
and effort to assume the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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During the Review Period, two meetings of the Nomination Committee  7ERIEEEIR  IRRELEESHRITTMAEE N

were held to discuss and consider the following matters:

Al am M EHATEIR

. reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the o EREFTENEE RE - @ANAMZT

Board;

k£ :

. reviewed and considered election of Directors, retirement and e B EREEAESR  REMNEE

re-election of Directors;

o reviewed the effectiveness of the terms of reference for the e ERREZEEEeNZEABESENA N

Nomination Committee;

1%

. reviewed the independence of independent non-executive e BT IENITEENB YL AR

Directors; and

J reviewed the Board diversity policy.

s EREFEUEZITIHE-

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are 1ERZEE M EZMENESETE LA NT

available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. B AT HER -
The attendance record of the Nomination Committee members is set FIEZEE@KEMHELERE T& ¢
out in the table below:
Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
BEEHE BER MR ATHERE
Mr. Ming Zaiyuan ABERSEE
(Chairman of the Nomination Committee) (ITBEZEEF/E)
(appointed on 24 August 2018) (FR20185F 8 H24 HEZ ) 0/0
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (appointed on 24 August 2018) RUEEIRIE (72018 8 H24 HEERT) 0/0
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander BERTE
(appointed on 7 September 2018) (FR20185F9 A7 BEEZERE) 0/0
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou BramELT
(resigned on 24 August 2018) (FA20184F 8 A 24 HEFE) 2/2
Mr. Wu Yaowen (resigned on 24 August 2018) R XA (FR2018F 8 A 24 HEHT) 2/2
Mr. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law PR A
(resigned on 7 September 2018) (FR2018F9 A7 BEHT) 2/2
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Strategic Development Committee (formerly known as the
New Business Committee)

As at the date of this annual report, the Strategic Development
Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors,
being Dr. Yang Ruizhao and Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander, and a non-
executive Director, Dr. Cui Guiyong . Dr. Yang Ruizhao is the chairman
of the Strategic Development Committee.

The principal duties of the Strategic Development Committee include
the following:

1. to review and evaluate the investment strategies, annual
investment plan(s) and the relevant risk management policy of
the Company and make recommendations to the Board;

2. to review and evaluate the investment opportunities of the
Company and issue opinion for long-term development plan
(including mergers and acquisition, joint venture and equity
investments) and make recommendations to the Board;

3. to review and evaluate significant investment projects pursued
under the Company’s investment strategy and annual investment
plan, review and approve the issue of non-binding indicative
offers or letter of intent, and make recommendations to the
Board on final proposals of significant investment projects;

4. to review and assess, in addition to new opportunities, the
ongoing investment strategy, technical merits and risks
associated with existing development and exploration projects,
including the annual reserve and resource assessments and make
recommendations to the Board;

5. tosupervise the implementation of the above-mentioned matters
duly approved by the Board and assess periodically the
Company’s capacity to conduct technical work and the
Company'’s approach in managing technical risk associated with
above matters;

6. to advise management from time to time on the engagement of
appropriate external financial and technical advisors in
connection with material acquisitions or divestitures, including a
review of the terms of their proposed compensation; and

7. other matters as delegated by the Board.
The written terms of reference of the Strategic Development

Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.
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During the Review Period, only one meeting of the Strategic
Development Committee was held due to the Liming partial offer and
the change of management, failing to comply with its terms of
reference which required meeting at least twice a year. The Company
will review and ensure the compliance with terms of reference of
Strategic Development Committee. The following matters were
discussed and considered during that meeting:

° reviewed annual reserve and resources assessments;

o assessed progress made in respect of development technologies
for Mabi concession;

o reviewed and discussed the new business development strategy
and opportunities; and

. reviewed the effectiveness of the terms of reference for the
Strategic Development Committee.

The written terms of reference of the Strategic Development
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

The attendance record of the Strategic Development Committee
members is set out in the table below:

REEHA - ARFAARD BHWEREEE
HE BRERZBQERITRNGHE - Kb
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Attended/
Name of Director Eligible to attend
EEnE BIRHE TTHERE
Dr. Yang Ruizhao BinAE L

(Chairman of the Strategic Development Committee)  (Eil5EREZE S L /E)

(appointed on 9 November 2018) (FR2018F 11 A9 HEZT) 0/0
Dr. Cui Guiyong (appointed on 7 September 2018) EEBEL(R2018F987HEZT) 0/0
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander HER A 0/0

(appointed on 7 September 2018) (FR20185 9 A7 BEZRE)

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (appointed on 7 September 2018 as  ZIBEIE1E L (722018 F 9 B 7 HEER(T 0/0

Chairman, resigned on 9 November 2018) BERF - R2018F 11 A9 HET)

Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal Saurabh Narayan Agarwal 54 11

(resigned on 7 September 2018) (FR201849 A7 HEHTE)

Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett Fredrick J. Barrett 54 11

(resigned on 7 September 2018) (PA20184E9 A7 HEHE)

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks Robert Ralph Parks %t 4 1”71

(resigned on 7 September 2018) (R2018F9 A7 BEHT)

Mr. Wu Yaowen (resigned on 24 August 2018) SRS (R 20184F 8 A 24 HEHT) A
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

All board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight Directors.
Three of the Directors are independent non-executive Directors,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the management
process. The Board is also characterized by significant diversity,
whether considered in terms of culture and education background,
professional background and skills.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in respect
of Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 which give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of
the Group's results and cash flows.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, the management
has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for
approval. The Company provides all members of the Board with
monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
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The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
the section headed "Independent Auditor’'s Report” of this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis. The Board is also
aware of the fact that such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable assurance and not absolute assurance against

material misstatement or loss.

The Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Company adopted the three lines of defence model in the
management of risk. Operational management form the core of the
first line of defence as they contact with the risk sources in the first
place. They are responsible for identifying, reporting and preliminarily
managing risks in their daily operations. Our second line of defence is
the risk management function, comprised of HSE, Legal departments
etc., aiming to facilitate and monitor the implementation of effective
risk management practices by operational management throughout
the Company. Our internal audit function is the core of the third line of
defence and mainly responsible for checking, auditing and monitoring
the work performed by the first and second lines of defence.

The Company's risks are identified from business processes in our
established enterprise-wide risk assessment methodologies. Key
responsible personnel for the management of risk in each of the
business process are selected as interviewees to identify the risks to
form our risk universe. Each risk within the risk universe is assessed in
terms of likelihood of occurrence and the significance of impact, taken
into account the current internal controls in place to mitigate these
risks. The risk assessment results are reported to senior management
and the Board for them to evaluate whether risks have been
appropriately managed and decide on our priorities in risk
management, based on the Company’s risk appetite, and in particular
how much risks the Company is willing to take for the achievement of
its strategy and business objectives, the availability of resources for risk
mitigation, and the effectiveness of current internal control system.
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During the Review Period, five risk areas had been selected by senior
management and confirmed by the Board to form the top of the
Company's 2018 risk management agenda, aiming to reduce the risk
exposures to an acceptable level. In order to better mitigate the five
risk areas, the management had formulated some action plans which
were approved, and carried out after rounds of discussions and
evaluations. The five risk areas were addressed through the design and
implementation of new policies and procedures, and in particular the
establishment and refinement of internal controls.

The Company's internal control system is based on Internal Control —
Integrated Framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission, and has five components, namely
Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities, Information
and Communication, and Monitoring Activities. The system intends to
facilitate the design and functioning of good control practices and
reduce the likelihood and impact of risks to an acceptably low level, in
order for us to achieve our objectives in operations, reporting, and
compliance.

Any material internal control defects identified are timely
communicated and carefully evaluated for their potential impacts. The
departments or functions who are owners of these controls, are
required to propose corrective measures and obtain approval from
management before implementation. The implementation statuses are
monitored by both management and the internal audit function to
ensure these control defects are properly resolved in a timely manner.
The Company has also established policies and procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The information to
be disclosed should be properly reviewed and approved by our
compliance functions and management to ensure its appropriateness
and accuracy, and is closely monitored after disclosure.

In 2019, the Company will use its best endeavour to continuously refine
our risk management and internal control systems whenever necessary,
which would include the establishment of a more systematical risk
response process, improvements to be made in control design and
execution in high risk areas identified through our annual risk
assessment, and a mechanism to monitor the resolution of control
deficiencies, to mention but a few.
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Internal Audit Function

The Company'’s audit and supervising department plays a major role in
the monitoring of the Company's internal governance processes, i.e.,
to provide independent assurance that the Company’s risk
management, governance and internal control processes are operating
effectively. The major tasks of the department include providing
assurance on the effectiveness of the Company’s governance, risk
management and internal controls in areas of operations, safeguarding
of assets, reporting, and compliance, and conducting risk-based audits
of the Company and its subsidiaries on a regular basis with
recommended action plans to audit findings. The department also
provides consulting services in risk management and internal control

related issues within the Company.

The Company’s audit and supervising department conducted annual
independent full scope risk assessment update and internal audit for
selected areas, and reported to the management and the Board.

Review of the Effectiveness and Adequacy of Our Systems
The Company prepare and submit reports to the Board in related to
risk and control at least annually, detailing how risks have been
managed and internal controls been designed and implemented in
accordance with the established risk and control frameworks, to keep
our overall risk exposures within risk appetite and achieve our business
objectives. The Board reviews the reasonableness of these reports and
representations from management and makes sufficient enquiries
whenever they feel necessary, before reaching their conclusions.

During the Review Period, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems with the application of the above review process, and
considered our risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate in both design and operations.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITOR'S
REMUNERATION

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the total remuneration paid or

payable to the Company’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
("PwC"), for audit and other services totaled RMB5,641,000.
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An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to PwC is set out
below:

B ENGREERUOGENBE TN T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3MBLEE

2018

20184

RMB'000

ARET T

Auditors’ remunerations AN E A 5,641
— Audit Service — FETARTS

— The Company . VNE] 3,800

— Subsidiaries — B A A 600

— Non-audit services — BT RTE 1,241

Non-audit services primarily represent tax and advisory services

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Ming King from Vistra Hong Kong, an external service
provider, has been engaged by the Company as its company secretary.
The primary corporate contact person at the Company is Mr Zhang
Jianbing, an executive Director.

During the Review Period, Mr. Chiu undertook at least 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group's business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The AGM provides opportunity for Shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board and the chairmen
of the Board Committees of the Company will attend the AGMs to
answer Shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of the Company
will also attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

* TR AT RIS = RIS R AR RS
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
Shareholders and maintains a website at http://www.aagenergy.com/,
where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM") by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an EGM. An EGM shall also be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. The Directors shall within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene such meeting. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders of
the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company under the Articles and the Cayman Islands Law (2016
Revision). Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals at general
meeting may refer to the preceding paragraph to make a written
requisition to require the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director are published on the website of the Company.
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Enquiries to the Board and contact details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send their
enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Unit 2109-10, 21st Floor

China Merchants Tower

Shun Tak Centre

No. 168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Email: xiaohang.su@aagenergy.com

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

An amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of
the Company was adopted by the Company on 5 June 2015 and was
effective on the Listing Date. The Company has not made any other
significant changes to its constitutional documents during the year
ended 31 December 2018 except for the revision of the “Terms of
Reference for the Audit Committee” made on 28 December 2018.

The memorandum and articles of association and the terms of
reference for the Audit Committee of the Company are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

NEESREEHARBEENM

R EMESZREMNEMEHAUEEFE
NEBEXERNT - OBEKEZEHRNAF MR
NFREIE - REAIZHX FMEHRERKEUT
oAk
HYE B

TF#EH 168-2005%
=P

HBERKE

2118210910 F
(KREZRT)
xiaohang.su@aagenergy.com

ERXHNEE

ANAFIR20155F 6 A5 BRALEFTMES
RAREBERRMRME - B ETHERE
e BRARDNER2018F 12 A28 HIER] T [ ]
BEZEgHmEGE] BHE2018F 128318
HFE - ARREEXHF T ETAIEMmERE
E °

ARAABERNAL AN RERZ S SRE
HE LR 3P N AN BIAB U A SR -

DEREREBRERRF/ —E—\FFH 99



Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BA R

i
pwec

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of AAG Energy Holdings Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
108 to 189, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

J the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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' PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888  Fax: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to:

o Share-based compensation

Key Audit Matter
BRESBHE

B HE R E
BEXERERERATAKRR(E)
(REESHEFMALA BRI A])

EEEEE |
FIRES FBEERELMOEXAE - RAYH
AHREHRBERENEARSEZNTH 15
LEFEERMBAERBS M ERE R T A
ERRHEITRIZN - AT S ELRHRER
BEEHNER o

BMER T HBI R R ES FHEMN
o AR AR M

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN ES R ERRENEE

Share-based compensation

BARRAD % E 1 69 3R

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
BLHEA B IRERMFE20 °

In addressing this matter, we have performed the
following procedures:

HRERRESFFET  RANTTUATERF

The Company has adopted and operated Pre-IPO Share

Option Scheme and Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit e

Scheme (collectively the “Schemes”) to reward its
employees, which are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 2 “Share-Based Payments”. Share-based
compensation expenses totalling RMB36.1 million (2017:
RMB20.5 million) for the year ended 31 December 2018
comprise net expenses from the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme of RMB3.8 million (2017: RMBO0.3 million) and
expenses from the Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme
amounting to RMB32.3 million (2017: RMB20.2 million)
which were recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. Included in the expenses of the
Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme was RMB15.4
million related to the change of control of the Company
during the year (note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements).

ERRIEEMI HITERAFAEEABRETSIMNE R
P ER B HIRD BALAE (A OHATTE A [ 5HEl ) LARED
BT - WEEEBMBREERE 25 [ ARMD BEGH)
) - BZE20185F 12 A 31 BIEFE - AR B E 5 &Y 3R
ERBEBERARKEIITEIL(2017F : ARB205858
) EPeEE R ARBEERBRETEZFERBARE
3BEBIL(2017F : ARKOIBES L) MERAREER
RESIRGD M8 2 BROARKE323HET (2017 F ¢
ARB202887T)  YRNEHEERERTHER - £BE
2018F 12 A31 AL FE B R AFE SRR I BALat
EvERTBREARKISARBITEARIEHIEY EIEH
(2BE MM BRRMTE) -
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We obtained and examined the terms and
conditions of the Schemes and documentation and
the schedule of share-based compensation (the
"Schedule”) prepared by management.

BPVERI RS T 5188 RGN B 12 g 4
féj&’\)}L‘AHQ@?%%%E’U%&MIE’UW#*D@@J%(Tﬁiﬁ

In respect of the share-based compensation
expense during the year, we checked the number
of awards expected to be vested as shown in the
Schedule against the criteria of vesting and the
terms of acceleration as set out in the Schemes
and underlying supporting documents, including
minutes and resolutions of Board of Directors,
human resources records, scheme, the fulfilment of
performance conditions and other relating
documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter
BHREER

B HE R E
BEXRERERERATBRR (B)
(REESHEFMALA BRI A])

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNMNEEFARETSEH

Share-based compensation

BARR 47 75 2 8 A9 SR A

The estimation of share-based compensation expense is
based on certain key basis and assumptions, including
determination of the fair value of relevant awards granted,
the incremental fair value arising from cash settlement of
awards under the Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit scheme,
and the number of awards which are expected to be
vested, including the number of awards vested on
accelerated basis pursuant to the change of control.

UAR ) RS e RN B B eV (b St BN S TR R B B R R
BEABER TRENAAEENETE  ERERAME
ERIBERN ELFENR S EENRBSRANRAE
EEMN - ARTEREHE THRBEE 25 FEbE
B MERH IR THRBRE -

Because of the significance of share-based compensation
during the year ended 31 December 2018, together with
the use of judgements and assumptions, we had identified
this matter as a key audit matter.
ARABROAERNEMNEE2018F 12 A3 HILFE
MEBATE  URBHBRERNER  RABNZER
REARRETEE -

J We tested the mathematical calculations of share-
based compensation expenses during the year.

o BRAS T AFEARN AEROHRMERNE -

Based on our work, no significant exception has been
noticed.

EREMIOTHE  REREREF -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED (Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

LEONG Kin Bong

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 March 2019

(If there is any inconsistency between the English and Chinese version
of this independent auditor’s report, the English version shall prevail.)
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

Mm12A31H
2018 2017
20184 2017 £
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5E AR®ET T AREETFIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment TEE « THMEEE 6 3,651,419 3,504,437
Land use rights + s A A 7 11,700 11,982
Intangible assets W EE 8 39,589 39,832
Restricted bank deposits SRR IR TFER 11 43,767 37,663
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE 142 1,434
3,746,617 3,595,348
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 11,506 2,444
Other current assets Himeh&eE 17,002 14,330
Trade and other receivables E UK BR 30 N B4 fE U 0 9 575,459 283,597
Cash and cash equivalents HERESEEY 11 1,656,523 2,236,970
2,260,490 2,537,341
Total assets BEE 6,007,107 6,132,689
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of BERALRMAEENER
the Company
Share capital [N 12 2,077 2,041
Share premium IR A= (B 4,475,667 4,385,637
Other reserves E b 13 307,208 383,703
Retained earnings B 591,901 178,964
Total equity miER 5,376,853 4,950,345
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at 31 December

MR12H31H
2018 2017
2018 2017 £
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5E AR®ET T AREETFIT
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Asset retirement obligations BEZEBRG 14 16,741 14,609
Borrowings EE:N 15 - 513,593
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFSHaE 16 307,322 232,080
324,063 760,282
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables JFEASEBR 7R K EAth FE 15 3R 17 256,284 396,953
Current income tax liabilities EHIFEHAE 49,907 25,109
306,191 422,062
Total liabilities e E 630,254 1,182,344
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 6,007,107 6,132,689
The notes on pages 113 to 189 are an integral part of these HF113EE189EMM TR AAHUBRERN
consolidated financial statements. RIS o

The financial statements on pages 108 to 189 were approved by the
Board of Directors on 21 March 2019 and were signed on its behalf.

Director
Ed
Yan Danhua

BE

F108EE 189 MM B MEAEETZMN 2019
FIF2THUE  THERKRESE -

Director
0
Zhang Jianbing
AR
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BHRERER

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31MHILEE

2018 2017
2018 2017 £
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5E AR®ET T AREETIT

Revenue WA 18 978,671 541,598
Other income Hlg A 19 279,169 193,913
Other gains/(losses), net HiF§, (BK) — F5 371 (83)
Operating expenses BERX

Depreciation and amortisation PrE L EY (203,686) (110,419)

Employee benefit expenses EERAMY 20 (209,949) (142,130)

Materials, services and logistics R IR R YR (214,128) (134,686)

Others EHAth (26,853) (26,071)
Total operating expenses ReERZHEE (654,616) (413,306)
Profit from operations R 603,595 322,122
Interest income B A 21 25,701 6,306
Finance costs B 75 & 21 (25,556) (12,977)
Exchange losses B I 1B 5k 21 (7,480) (4,510)
Finance costs, net HSER — F5 (7,335) (11,181)
Profit before income tax BRFr 55 B A E 22 596,260 310,941
Income tax expense IRy k-4 23 (183,323) (127,743)
Profit attributable to owners of the BEEBRAATMEEN

Company for the year FERNHE 412,937 183,198
Other comprehensive income: Hipim & W -
ltems that may be reclassified Hig gt E S Z B i) H

subsequently to profit or loss
Currency translation differences INEEITE =5 60,826 (90,363)
Total comprehensive income FEREAATFREEN

attributable to owners of the FESREWREAE

Company for the year 473,763 92,835
Earnings per share (RMB) R E (AR T)
— Basic — HXK 24 0.123 0.055
— Diluted — e 24 0.123 0.055
The notes on pages 113 to 189 are an integral part of these HF113E 2 189EHMM TR AAHIUBHREN
consolidated financial statements. BREEE D o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOREEET R

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRRAAARNAEE
(Accumulated
deficits)/
Share Share Other Retained Total
capital premium reserves earnings equity
(RitER)/
RA& RAEE Hibfs BEls BER
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
53 ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTT ANRETT
As at 1 January 2017 R2017%1518 2,034 4,375,343 463791 (4,234 4,836,934
Comprehensive income Gaka
Profit for the year FENE - - - 183,198 183,198
Currency translation differences  SMETEZR - - (90,363) - (90,363)
- - (90,363) 183,198 92,835
Transactions with owners HBEENRS
Share-based compensation PR B R SR 20(b) - - 20,515 - 20,515
Vesting of RSUs GEXRAIRNEL 12 7 10,201 (10,208) - -
Exercise of options IERE 12 - %3 (32) - 61
7 10,294 10,275 - 20,576
As at 31 December 2017 R2017%12A8318 2,041 4,385,637 383,703 178 964 4,950,345
As at 1 January 2018 R2018F1 818 2,041 4,385,637 383,703 178,964 4,950,345
Comprehensive income Gaka
Profit for the year FENE - - - 412,937 412,937
Currency translation differences  SMEHTEZR - - 60,826 - 60,826
- - 60,826 412,937 473,763
Transactions with owners HIEENRS
Share-based compensation PR B A SR 20(b) - - 31,531 - 31,531
Vesting of RSUs GEXRAIRNEL 12 15 44,813 (44,828) - -
Cash settlement of RSUs RS EFNT RS
RiIAER - - (10,231) - (10,231)
Exercise of options TFEERE 12 21 113,160 (113,793) - (612)
Dividends B 25 - (67,943) - = (67,943)
36 90,030 (137,321) - (47,255)
As at 31 December 2018 R2018%12831H 2,077 4,475,667 307,208 591,901 5,376,853
The notes on pages 113 to 189 are an integral part of these S 113EE189BENMFEREAE HHBHERERD
consolidated financial statements. BESEy -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHBEERER

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2018 2017
2018 & 2017 E
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

i & ARBTFR ARETT

Cash flows from operating activities RETHHRESHRE

Cash generated from operations REFEIRS 26 516,370 487,398
Interest paid BB (28,123) (32,883)
Income tax paid BATFTEHR (83,314) (16,214)
Net cash generated from operating KESEB TSI FEE

activities 404,933 438,301
Cash flows from investing activities RETHHERESRE
Purchases of property, plant and BEILHE  TREERE

equipment and intangible assets VAR BT B (439,371) (456,318)
Increase in restricted bank deposits R EIRITEFFIE N (6,104) (6,080)
Proceeds from disposal of property, H:'I%TEJ? Ik

plant and equipment JAEFTISFIE 45 391
Interest received EHAE 25,837 6,451
Net cash used in investing activities KETHAREF5 (419,593) (455,556)
Cash flows from financing activities METBHEESRE
Proceeds from exercise of options TR REFT 1S 7R 2,227 61
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIERATISRIA 44,489 39,687
Repayments of borrowings BEEX (607,389) -
Finance costs paid ENHMBER (6,524) (13,356)
Dividends paid to company's AR

shareholders (67,943) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEES (FTR),/

financing activities FT{83R & %% (635,140) 26,392
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and fﬁ,%&ﬁ%%f’%

cash equivalents W), R (649,800) 9,137
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E%}]ﬁ@&fﬁﬁéﬁf‘f%

of the year M 2,236,970 2,343,764
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and HERBESEBYIEN

cash equivalents Wiz, (BK) 69,353 (115,931)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FREERESEEY

of the year 11 1,656,523 2,236,970

The notes on pages 113 to 189 are an integral part of these F113BZ189BHMMH TR AAHIUBREN
S B <
A

138
consolidated financial statements. BRI o
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GENERAL INFORMATION

AAG Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the "Group”) are principally engaged in
exploration, development and production of coalbed methane
("CBM") in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability on 23 December 2014. The address of
the Company’s registered office is P.O. Box 31119, Grand
Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1205, Cayman Islands.

The Group conducts its business through two production sharing
contracts ("PSC") entered into with China United Coalbed
Methane Corporation Ltd. (“CUCBM") and China National
PetroChina Corporation ("“CNPC") (authorising its subsidiary
PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”)) for the Panzhuang
and Mabi concessions respectively in Shanxi Province of the PRC.

The Overall Development Plan (“ODP") of the Panzhuang
concession was approved by the National Development and
Reform Commission (“NDRC") of the PRC on 28 November 2011,
which allowed the Panzhuang concession to enter into the
commercial development phase. On 8 October 2018, NDRC
formally announced the Approval Regarding the Overall
Development Plan ("ODP") in respect of the Foreign
Cooperation Project within the Southern Area in Mabi
concession, Qinshui Basin, Shanxi Province. According to the
announcement, the approval was officially issued in September
2018. With this approval, Mabi is eligible for commercial
development. As at 31 December 2018, the Northern Area of
Mabi concession was still in exploration phase.

The Company's initial public offering (“IPO") of its shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited was
completed on 23 June 2015.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BRAR c RARIR MR EEMU A
P.O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus
Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A
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GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued)

On 14 May 2018, Liming Holding Limited (“Liming”), an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary, controlled through Sichuan Liming
Energy Development Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan Liming”), of Xinjiang
Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd. ("XTRQ"), a company incorporated
in the PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 603393), announced that it would make a voluntary
conditional partial cash offer to acquire a maximum of
1,692,295,936 shares (representing approximately 50.5% of the
shares in issue as at that date) or such higher number of shares
representing 50.5% of the shares in issue as at the final closing
date (including any shares for which a valid notice of exercise has
been delivered in respect of an option on or after that date and
on or before the final closing date) at the offer price of HK$1.75
per share and, pursuant to Rule 13.1 of the Takeovers Code,
extend an appropriate offer to cancel or acquire (as applicable) a
maximum of 100,956,224 options and 20,444,228 RSU shares
(representing approximately 50.5% of the outstanding options
and RSU shares, respectively, as at that date).

On 16 August 2018, being the final closing date, Liming
announced that it had received (i) valid acceptances of the partial
offer in respect of 2,758,498,386 shares, representing
approximately 82.3% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of the Announcement (or approximately 82.3% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at 16 August 2018), (ii)
194,462,080 valid acceptances in respect of the option offer, and
(iii) 36,116,793 valid acceptances in respect of the RSU offer.
Pursuant to the terms of the partial offer, Liming took up
1,692,871,886 shares at HK$1.75 per share. Pursuant to the terms
of the option offer and RSU offer, Liming took up and cancelled
100,323,140 options and 20,154,383 RSUs at HK$0.5647 per
option and HK$1.75 per RSU, respectively.

The Directors regard Liming, Sichuan Liming and XTRQ as the
immediate parent entity, intermediate parent entity and the
ultimate parent entity of the Company respectively after the
completion of the takeover (“Change of Control”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These

2. ERETBERRBE

mAEAAHMBEHRRFEANEE ST
RER T BRBARAIN - WFHE
HEFDISBHAEFERNERER -

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation 21 REEE
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have REBHEHUBREEBERE
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong BREAYBREEL([EHBHE
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS") and WEER ) MEBRREHDNE
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies ordinance Cap. CRENRTRE - &I BREK
622. The consolidated financial statements have been RIEFE L RAERE -
prepared under the historical cost convention.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in BB AEHRAN - AHEIERERIAA
Renminbi (“RMB") unless otherwise stated. R ([ AR ]) T3 -
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity B E BBV BREELNNT
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting WREEFEAETHERES A -
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its NEEEEELEAANEENZT
judgement in the process of applying the Group's HERERITEENE - RS E
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of B HIET S m EAE A SRS - S8
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and N8 BB IS SRR AE H B KRR AN
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial HETRVERE - A4 R HEE -
statements are disclosed in Note 4.
(@) New and amended standards adopted by the (a) AEBEEERMFITREIEE
Group 8|
The Group has applied the following standards and K& E R2018F1A1H
amendments for the first time for their annual EHFEERESHRENRA
reporting period commencing 1 January 2018: LA AR R AEET -
e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments o EEBUBHMEERE?
FEMITA
o HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with . BB & ERIE 15
Customers SEEEP 2 Er & R E
ERTHA
o Classification and Measurement of Share-based o  RIITNXRBHISIER
Payment Transactions — Amendments to itE — BEBUBHRE
HKFRS 2 ERZE 2 mfEET

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15
are disclosed in note 2.2 below. The other standard
did not have any impact on the Group’s accounting
policies and did not require retrospective

B Bt BB ISR 45 28
5 95% N 55 1557 M & A B &7
LEEMITE 2.2 INEE - HAhE
BN R AN EERN S FEUR
EREREE S NTHET
BT -

adjustments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

116

(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for 31
December 2018 reporting periods and have not been
early adopted by the Group. The Group's assessment
of the impact of these new standards and
interpretations is set out below.

HKFRS 16 Leases

Nature of change

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in
almost all leases being recognised on the balance
sheet by lessees, as the distinction between operating
and finance leases is removed. Under the new
standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item)
and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised.
The only exceptions are short-term and low-value
leases.

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Impact

The Group has set up a project team which has
reviewed all of the Group's leasing arrangements in
light of the new lease accounting rules in HKFRS 16.
The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
the Group's operating leases.

As at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of
RMB10,336,000, see note 28. Of these commitments,
approximately RMB3,053,000 relate to short-term
leases which will be recognised on a straight-line
basis as expense in profit or loss.

For the remaining lease commitments the Group
expects to recognise right-of-use assets of
approximately RMB57,021,000 on 1 January 2019,
lease liabilities of RMB52,313,000 (after adjustments
for prepayments and accrued lease payments
recognised as at 31 December 2018). Overall net
current assets will be RMB13,216,000 lower due to the
presentation of a portion of the liability as a current
liability.

The Group expects that net profit after tax will
decrease by approximately RMB1,402,000 for 2019 as
a result of adopting the new rules. Adjusted EBITDA
used to measure segment results is expected to
increase by approximately RMB8,489,000, as the
operating lease payments were included in EBITDA,
but the amortisation of the right-of-use assets and
interest on the lease liability are excluded from this
measure.

2. EESHBEXBE®H)

MRELERE (&)

2.1

DEREREBRERRIF/ 2 \FFH

(b)

CEET TSNS L
()
BB B HELAE 165
28
ye

AEERITEBEEEK R
BEREMBEREENFE 165
FHESFNFREHAE
BARAEHELHETTE
Bl- WEAKEIEZEAR
BEeBHENERIE -

HEREH  AEBEHEAD
T RERNEERERFE B
10,336,0007T * 2 RH17E28 -
Hep - S5 HEERBNKL
& M & A 4 /53,053,000 7T
BIRREGEERABAL
T AEE -

HNRISHHE&SE ~NEF
FEEHE P 20194 1 A1 BfER
K FAEE EE 494 57,021,000
T MEAE(RIEN2018
F12 831 BERNIBNZHIE
MBREENREETHAE
% H£%8) 552,313,000 7T °
ARS8 EHYRERE
BfE - FTLUFRENE E KR
{K.#913,216,000 7T °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

118

(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Date of adoption by Group

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory
adoption date of 1 January 2019. The Group intends
to apply the simplified transition approach and will
not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to
first adoption. All right-of-use assets will be measured
at the amount of the lease liability on adoption
(adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease expenses).

There are no other standards that are not yet effective
and that would be expected to have a material impact
on the entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies
This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9

Financial Instruments and HKFRS 15 Revenue from

Contracts with Customers on the Group's financial

statements.

(a)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that
relate to the recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(a)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

The new impairment model under HKFRS 9 requires
the recognition of impairment provisions based on
expected credit losses ("ECLs") rather than only
incurred credit losses. The Group applies the HKFRS
9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade and notes receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, the Group makes periodic
assessments on the recoverability of the receivables
based on the background and reputation of the
customers, historical settlement records and past
experience. Management considers that the expected
credit loss is close to zero and the adoption of HKFRS
9 has no significant impact on the recognition of
impairment.

The Group has financial assets subject to HKFRS 9's
new expected credit loss model:

—  trade receivables,
—  notes receivables, and
—  other receivables

For trade and notes receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach to providing for expected
credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which requires
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade and notes receivables.

2. EESHBEXBE®H)
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O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

120

(a)

(b)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

For other receivables, the Group recognizes a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the other
receivables since initial recognition or the other
receivables is not determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date, in which cases the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to
the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers from 1 January 2018 which
resulted in changes in accounting policies and
adjustments to the amounts recognised in the
financial statements. In accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has adopted this
standard using the modified retrospective approach
which means that the cumulative impact of the
adoption shall be recognised in retained earnings as
of 1 January 2018 and that comparatives will not be
restated. The Group has assessed the effects of
applying the new standard and found no cumulative
impact of the adoption on retained earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

24

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.

Production Sharing Contract

The Group's exploration, development and production
activities are primarily conducted through PSCs which
establish joint control over the exploration, development
and production activities. Each participant is entitled to a
predetermined share of the related output and bears an
agreed share of the costs.

The consolidated financial statements reflects:

(i) The Group's assets used in joint operations;

(i) Any liabilities that the Group has incurred;

(i) Any income from the sale or use the Group's share of

the output of the production, together with its share
of any expenses incurred in the production; and

(iv)  Any expenses that the Group has incurred in respect
of its interest in the production.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2. EESHBEXBE®H)

POLICIES (Continued)

122

2.4 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

The Group's PSCs comprise of three phases: the
exploration phase, development phase and production
phase. Costs incurred with respect to exploration activities
within the PSC contract areas are solely borne by the
Group. All costs incurred subsequent to the date of the
approval of ODP are treated as development costs and
provided by the Group and the PSC partners in the
proportion of their respective participating interests.
Operating costs incurred for the production operation shall
be borne by the Group and the PSC partners in proportion
to their share of the output of the CBM productions in each
concession.

Pursuant to the Panzhuang and Mabi PSCs, the annual
gross production of CBM, after payment of value-added tax
("VAT") and royalties, is allocated into Cost Recovery CBM
and Remainder CBM.

(@) Cost Recovery CBM

Cost Recovery CBM is the CBM allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for recovery of the
operating costs, as well as the exploration costs and
development costs. 70% and 80% of annual gross
production of CBM is deemed as Cost Recovery CBM
under the Panzhuang and Mabi PSC, respectively.
Cost Recovery CBM is allocated until all costs incurred
by each party have been fully recovered. Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated as follows:

(i) Prior to the production phase, Cost Recovery
CBM is firstly applied to recover costs incurred
during the exploration phase of the PSC and
once such costs have been fully recovered, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated to recover costs
incurred during the development phase.

(i)  After the PSC enters the production phase, Cost
Recovery CBM is allocated according to the
following mechanism:

Operating cost recovery: payment in kind for
the operating costs actually incurred but not yet

recovered by each party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Production Sharing Contract (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Cost Recovery CBM (Continued)

(i)  (Continued)
Exploration and development cost recovery:
after operating costs have been fully recovered,
the Cost Recovery CBM is allocated to the
Group and the PSC partners for the recovery of
exploration and development costs. Exploration
costs, 100% of which are borne by the Group,
are fully recovered before development costs
can be recovered. Upon the full recovery of
exploration costs, any remaining Cost Recovery
CBM is allocated between the Group and the
PSC partners for the recovery of development
costs according to the respective participating
interests in the CBM concessions.

For the purpose of recovery, exploration costs
do not include any interest, while development
costs include a deemed interest calculated at a
fixed compound interest rate of 9% per annum.

Remainder CBM

Remainder CBM represents the remainder annual
gross CBM production after payment of VAT, royalties
and allocation to Cost Recovery CBM.

The Remainder CBM is further divided into allocable
remainder CBM and share CBM. The allocable
remainder CBM equals to the total remainder CBM
multiplied by a factor (X) and the share CBM equals
the Remainder CBM minus the allocable remainder
CBM. The factor (X) is determined in accordance with
a set of successive incremental tiers on the basis of
the annual gross CBM production as set out in the
PSCs. The allocable remainder CBM is allocated
between the Group and the PSC partner according to
the respective participating interest in the PSC. Share
CBM is allocated 100% to the PSC partner.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
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2.5

2.6

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the directors and chief executive of the
Company.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is US$, whereas the
functional currency of the production sharing projects
in the PRC is RMB. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash
and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
within “exchange gains/losses”.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies
The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii)  all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in OCI.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than exploration and
evaluation assets and construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditures that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Other than gas properties, depreciation of each asset is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate its cost
less its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
as follows:
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Gas gathering station and
relating facilities
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Vehicles

Bl

Furniture, fittings and others

RIE - B RHEAM

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to
its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.12).

Construction in progress represents development costs
occurred after the technical feasibility and commercial
viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable
and the buildings, machinery and equipment for which the
construction work has not been completed. It is carried at
cost which includes construction expenditures and other
direct costs less any impairment losses. Upon completion,
the development costs recorded in construction in progress
are transferred to gas properties. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until they are
completed and available for use.

Spare parts are accounted for as property, plant and
equipment when (a) they can be used only in connection
with an item of property, plant and equipment; or (b) the
Group expects to use them during more than one year.
Other spare parts are classified as inventory.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognised within “other gains/losses” in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation expenditures mainly include
acquisition of rights to explore, topographical, geological,
geochemical and geophysical studies, exploratory drilling,
sampling and activities in relation to evaluating the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a
mineral resource.

During initial stage of a project, exploration and evaluation
expenditures are expensed as incurred. Expenditure on a
project after it has reached a stage at which there is a high
degree of confidence in its viability is capitalised as
exploration and evaluation assets. If a project does not
prove viable, all irrecoverable expenditures associated with
the project are expensed in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Costs of exploratory wells are capitalised and evaluated for
economic viability within one year after completion of
drilling. The related well costs are expensed as dry holes if
it is determined that such economic viability is not attained.

Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost less
impairment provisions. Exploration and evaluation assets
are reclassified to gas properties when the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral
resource are demonstrable.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may
exceed its recoverable amount, and also tested for
impairment immediately prior to reclassification to gas
properties.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2. EESHBEXBE®H)

POLICIES (Continued)

128

2.9 Gas properties

Gas properties include drilling costs, exploration and
evaluation costs, development costs and other direct costs
attributable to the gas production properties. Gas
properties are depreciated based on the unit of production
method. Unit of production rates are based on proved and
probable gas reserves estimated to be recoverable from
whole concessions based on the current terms of the
respective PSC and taking into account estimated future
development costs necessary to bring those reserves into
production.

2.10 Land use rights

Land use rights represent upfront prepayments made for
the land use rights and leasehold land and are expensed in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income on
a straight-line basis over the lease period or when there is
impairment, the impairment is expensed in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

2.11 Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent computer software. Acquired
computer software are capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives
ranging from 3 to 10 years.

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows which are largely independently of
the cash flows from other assets or group of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Inventories

2. EESHBEXBE®H)

Inventories are mainly spare parts and consumables with
low value and stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for gas
sold in the ordinary course of business. Trade receivables
are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that
is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
group holds the trade receivables with the objective to
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Other receivables are mainly government grants due from
government and Chinese partners and cash call due from
Chinese partners, which are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

See note 9 for further information about the group’s
accounting for trade and other receivables and note 3.1(a)
for a description of the group’s impairment policies.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and term deposits with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note 12).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

130

2.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost; any difference between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has a contractual or an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.

2.18 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income in the
period in which they are incurred.

2.19 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense for the period comprises current

and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income, except to the extent

that it relates to items recognised in OCI or directly in

equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in OCI or

directly in equity, respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date in the countries where the
Group companies operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

132

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and tax liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

2. EESHBEXBE®H)

220 EHIRIEZE TSR (8)

(b)

(c)

EIEFTEH (%)

SMEEE
BEFFSHRABRRIEA
AIRAERHNREMES
FERTE B ERBIFIKE - IR
FENNELEMSHAEY
2 B o 05 B A 5 B E
B I AT R RN K] B
BOIERERERI -

BIEFTSREEM ENE A
AkAERHNREMESL
B AT AR R E R T AR
R EEERHERRAES
RAKRER YERENE
R BEHE A AR TR E
FPFTT AT HERR

H

ERAEARITRNOGEE
MAEERRBAAGEERE
BIEER R RS MR — 1
B RaR - Al KR E A
BEARBAABEMRAENE-
BEASEEATAHRITHER
HEBA BRI FEARERS

B REREEARKEEH
BE AAKEMHEEE

&
HIHEA BT AR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.21 Employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits, that are expected to be settled wholly within 12
months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled.

The Group operates various pension schemes. The schemes
are generally funded through payments to insurance
companies or various government-sponsored pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a monthly
pension based on certain formulas. The Group has defined
contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan which the Group pays contributions into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior periods. The
contributions are recognised and allocated to related cost
of assets and expenses based on different beneficiaries.

All Chinese employees of the Group participate in other
employee social security plans, including medical, housing
and other welfare benefits, organised and administered by
the governmental authorities. According to the relevant
regulations, the premiums and welfare benefit contributions
that should be borne by the Group are calculated based on
percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a
certain ceiling, and are paid to the labor and social welfare
authorities.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a
restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and
involves the payment of terminations benefits. In the case
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration

134

received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts and VAT.

Sales of gas

The Group produces and sells gas. Sales of gas are
recognised when control of the gas has transferred, being
when the gas is delivered to the customers. The amount of
revenue is allocated based on the terms of the PSCs and
gas sales agreements.

2.23 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred with no future related
costs, such as refund of VAT paid and subsidies granted
according to CBM production, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable. Note 19
provides further information on how the Group accounts for
government grants.

2.24 Lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases (Note 28). Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor), are charged to the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Share-based compensation

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates two equity-settled share-based
compensation plans, under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options and restricted share unit) of the
Company. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options and
restricted share unit is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options and
restricted share unit granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining as an employee of the Group over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or to hold shares for a
specified period of time).

Non-market performance and service conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options
and restricted share unit that are expected to vest.
The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options and restricted
share unit that are expected to vest based on the
non-marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Share-based compensation (Continued)

136

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received from the exercise
of options net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (and share
premium).

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
at a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified. An additional expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the options and restricted share unit,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as
measured at the date of modification.

Share-based payment transactions among group
entities

The grant by the Company of options and restricted
share unit over its equity instruments to the
employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is
treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of
employee services received, measured by reference
to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the
vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit
to equity in the parent company entity accounts.

2.26 Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Provision — Asset retirement obligation

Asset retirement obligation for environmental restoration is
recognised when: the Group has a present constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation
and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. Asset retirement obligation is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Asset retirement obligation are measured at the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), liquidity risk and concentration
risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a) Credit risk
As the majority of the cash at bank balances are
placed with state-owned and international banks and
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong, and
there has been no recent history of default in relation
to these banks and financial institutions, the
corresponding credit risk is relatively low. Therefore,
the Group's credit risk arises primarily from trade and
other receivables. The Group has controls in place to
assess the credit quality of its customers. The Group’s
sales were only made to the customers with good
credit history. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly
monitored.
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O I AR M A

3.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group has financial assets subject to HKFRS 9's
new expected credit loss model:

—  trade receivables,
—  notes receivables, and
—  other receivables

For trade and notes receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach to providing for expected
credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which requires
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade and notes receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 36 month before 31
December 2018 or 1 January 2018 respectively and
the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
Based on the Group's historical experience and
forward-looking information, the expected credit loss
rate of accounts receivable for sales of gas is
extremely small throughout the life.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses of notes
receivables, the Group calculates the expected credit
loss based on the default risk exposure and the
lifetime expected credit loss rate, with the
consideration of the historical credit loss experience,
the current situation and the forecast of future
economic conditions. Considering all of the notes
receivables are bank acceptance bills and there is no
default experience in the past, the Group does not

recognise any impairment.

For other receivables, the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the other
receivables since initial recognition or the other
receivables is not determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date, in which cases the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

The other receivables of the Group are considered to
have low credit risks since the majority are due from
government and Chinese partners. Based on
management assessment, no impairment provision is
recognised.

Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to US$. Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions
or recognised assets or liabilities are
denominated in a currency other than the
entity’s functional currency.
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O I AR M A

3.

140

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(b)

(1)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Prior to 30 April 2016, the Group was exposed
to non-cash foreign exchange risk arising from
retranslation of US$ denominated inter-
company loans. To manage the foreign
exchange risk, management decided to execute
a debt restructuring on 30 April 2016 by
converting the inter-company loans into
perpetual loans through entering into perpetual
loan agreements between respective group
companies such that the perpetual loans do not
bear interest and the lenders can not request
repayment. Upon completion of this debt
restructuring, any foreign exchange differences
arising from retranslation of these US$
denominated perpetual loans are recognised in
equity in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates, and by monitoring the amount of
the US$ loan utilised from the US$250 million
revolving credit facility (Note 15), which is the
Group's only US$ borrowings from third parties.

As at 31 December 2018, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 1% against the US$ with all
other variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year would have been
RMB2,250,000 (31 December 2017: negative
RMB902,000) lower/higher, respectively, mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of US$ denominated receivables and
payables held by the Group entities with their
functional currency as RMB.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

(c)

3. M¥ERERE®

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BERERBEE(E)
Market risk (Continued) (b) TiZEE(E)
(i) Cash flow interest rate risk (il B REFFER
The Group's income and operating cash flows REFRW A RKEETE
are substantially independent of the changes in SREEY T m5
market rates. The Group's floating-rate bank MRS E - RE
borrowings expose the Group to cash flow B8)ZBFRIBITER
interest rate risk. A detailed analysis of the FEAREEBEERSRT
Group's bank borrowings, together with their Kby - AEBRITHE
respective interest rates and maturity dates are HHEFH DT - ERE
included in Note 15. SR BN RSk
RHIEES ©
Liquidity risk () MEMEEE
The liquidity risk of the Group is mainly controlled by AEENRBUERABRFER
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents BRGERBRFTERRTTR
through operations and funds from shareholders. The HKOR e NRESEEBYET
table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities ZHl e TRESAEENE
into relevant maturity groupings based on the MEE LREBEND S
remaining period at the balance sheet date to the Bl BEREERESRE
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in HIAM R R EET D -
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. TRIAEESEARMEN
SRIMEME o
Less than Over
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years Total
SR-F —EmMF MELF RENE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETR ARBTT ARETRT ARETR
As at 31 December 2017 2017F12R31H
Borrowings fEmx 31314 32,542 578,296 - 642,152
Trade and other payables FERTBRF R At R 372,804 - - - 372,804
404,118 052 57829 _ 101495
As at 31 December 2018 2018512311
Trade and other payables FERBRF R At R 240,571 - - - 240,571
240,571 - - - 240,571
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3.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d) Concentration risk
Revenue of the Group is mainly derived from
Panzhuang concession. Any disruption to the
operation of the concession may have a material
adverse impact to the result of operation and the
financial position of the Group.

During the year, 67.5% of the Group's revenue was
derived from sales made to the top five customers
(2017: 77.9%). In the event that these customers
terminate their business relationship with the Group
and the Group fails to find new customers, it may
have a material adverse impact on the Group's
financial position and result of operations.

3.2 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by using debt-to-cash ratio
analysis. This ratio is calculated as amount of borrowings
divided by total cash and bank balances as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet, and monitoring when the
borrowings are due for repayment. The debt-to-cash ratio
at 31 December 2018 is zero because of the repayment of
the borrowing (31 December 2017: 22.6%).
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3. H¥EREEw@
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 RABEME
The measurement of fair value uses different level of inputs NABENFEEATRSHREA
to valuation technique. Such inputs are categorised into FREHOMLERN - 25 W ABBE
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: RABESFHRADB/=(EX ©®
RIS
o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for o HREEXAELERTS
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). EHMECRAR)(B1E) -
e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level o KBRTF1EBABIEMREN -
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either ZEEMBEMNITERME
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived fibda A - Al R E# (BHIn{E
from prices) (level 2). %) sk (AR EE) (2
) -
e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on e EENBGBIWIFKEBEUTER
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) ISR R & A (BDFE AT ERER
(level 3). BWA)(E3IE) -
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. BARETHEE R HE
JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are HErRAEERERATER A EMEE
based on historical experience and other factors, including (BREERLEERTEHRREHNEEE
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable B ETHHE T o REBE RIKELET
under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and HEEBE -BLEE @it HstmE
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting HEMERERER - S TRV KREE
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual MEEHBEMNEREBEEREATHE
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk HfEET B RERFT RN T

of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.1 Estimation of proved and probable gas reserves
Proved gas reserves are those quantities of CBM that by
analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially
recoverable, from a given date forward and under defined
economic conditions, operating methods, and government
regulations. Probable gas reserves are those additional
reserves of CBM that analysis of geoscience and
engineering data indicate are less likely to be recovered
than proved reserves but more certain to be recovered than

possible reserves.

The Group's reserve estimates were prepared for each
concession area and include only CBM that the Group
believes can be reasonably produced within current
economic and operating conditions. Reserves cannot be
measured exactly. Reserve estimates are based on many
factors that require evaluation by the engineers interpreting
the available data, as well as price and other economic
factors. The reliability of these estimates at any point in
time depends on both the quality and quantity of the
technical and economic data, and the production
performance as well as engineering judgement.
Consequently, reserve estimates are subject to revision as
additional data become available. Well tests and
engineering studies will likely improve the reliability of the
reserve estimate. The evolution of technology may also
result in the application of improved recovery techniques
such as supplemental or enhanced recovery projects, or
both, which have the potential to increase reserves beyond
those envisioned during the early years of a reservoir’s

producing life.

Proved and probable reserves are key elements in the
Group's investment decision-making process. They are also
an important element in testing for impairment. A reduction
in proved and probable reserves will increase depreciation
and amortisation charges (assuming constant production)
and reduce net profit. Proved and probable reserve
estimates are subject to revision, either upward or
downward based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including gas prices, contract

terms or development plans.

In general, changes in the technical maturity of gas reserves
resulting from new information becoming available from
exploration, development and production activities and
change in gas price have tended to be the most significant

cause of annual revisions.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2

4.3

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation assets are capitalised on a field-
by-field basis and are assessed for impairment when
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may
exceed its recoverable amount. This assessment involves
judgment as to (i) the period for which the Group has the
right to explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected
to be renewed; and (ii) substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area is neither budgeted nor planned; and (iii)
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the
specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has
decided to discontinue such activities in the specific area;
and (iv) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is
unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development
or by sale. While conducting an impairment review of its
assets, the Group makes certain judgments in making
assumptions about the future gas prices, reserves and
future development and production costs. Changes in
these estimates could require a material change on the
carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets.

Impairment of gas properties

Gas properties are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell or value in use. In estimating the recoverable
amounts of assets, various assumptions, including future
cash flow to be associated with the assets and discounted
rates, are made. If future events do not correspond to such
assumptions, the recoverable amounts will be revised and
this may have impacts on the Group's result of operation or
financial position.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
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JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.4 Income taxes and deferred tax
The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are certain transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will be reflected in the
income tax expense and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

In addition, the realisation of future income tax assets is
dependent on the Group's ability to generate sufficient
taxable income in future years to utilise income tax benefits
and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future profitability
from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and
liabilities that could have a significant effect on the income
tax expenses.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker ("CODM") has been
identified as the directors and chief executive of the Company
who review the Group s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The CODM has determined
the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group’ s operating segments are defined by PSCs, which is
the basis by which the CODM makes decisions about resources
to be allocated and assesses their performance. The financial
information of the two PSCs has been separated to present
segment information to be reviewed by the CODM.

The measurement of results and assets of the operating
segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. The CODM evaluates the
performance of the operating segments of the PSCs based on
profit before income tax, depreciation and amortisation, interest
income, finance costs and exchange gains/losses (“EBITDA").
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. o#ER @)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the %%12018¢12ﬂ NBEFE: A2
reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as RO EBIRPETELERRTENDIE
follows: *’HZDT :
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Total
BHER BUER At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

Year ended 31 December 2018 HZ2018%F12A31H

LHFE
Revenue from external customers 7R B 9N UL A 853,728 124,943 978,671
EBITDA EBITDA 896,259 40,134 936,393
Other income HipUdg A 241,728 37.441 279,169
Operating expenses R (355,347) (167,003) (522,350)
Depreciation and amortisation e NEHE (156,261) (44,255) (200,516)
Interest income FBUWA 7,515 305 7,820
Finance costs B ER (7,145) (457) (7,602)
Exchange gains/(losses) P&z /(18 11,867 (15,062) (3,195)
Income tax expense FTSHiER (183,323) = (183,323)

Year ended 31 December 2017 BZ2017%12H31H

LHFE
Revenue from external customers R B 9MNEEEF HULA 512,886 28,712 541,598
EBITDA EBITDA 552,844 (26,889) 525,955
Other income HA 180,170 13,743 193,913
Operating expenses BB (231,281) (84,760) (316,041)
Depreciation and amortisation ENEHE (90,993) (15,375) (106,368)
Interest income B WA 4,613 21 4,824
Finance costs e R (2,065) (123) (2,188)
Exchange (losses)/gains 3 (%) s (9,726) 17,074 7,348
Income tax expense ST & R (127,736) - (127,736)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2EER @)
Panzhuang Mabi
concession concession Total
BHER EVESR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T AREFIT
As at 31 December 2018 MA2018%F12H31H
Total assets BEE 2,747,283 2,316,141 5,063,424
Total liabilities BEE 564,631 58,707 623,338
Additions to non-current assets  3EiENE E G AN
(other than deferred (BEEFRIEE ERRIN)
income tax assets) 123,438 72,833 196,271
As at 31 December 2017 M2017%F12H831H
Total assets BEE 2,141,264 2,282,764 4,424,028
Total liabilities mas 507,976 145,908 653,884
Additions to non-current assets  JEJEENE E L AN
(other than deferred (RERIBEEERIN)
income tax assets) 163,208 157,108 320,316
A reconciliation of EBITDA to total profit before income tax is EBITDA 2R TS B BT M 42 58 A S &0 a0
provided as follows: N
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HIEEE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® T AREFIT
Total EBITDA for reportable segments T 23R % £ #J EBITDA #%8 936,393 525,955
Headquarter overheads BEH R X (129,112) (93,414)
Depreciation and amortisation PrE N Y (203,686) (110,419)
Interest income FEU A 25,701 6,306
Finance costs B 75 & A (25,556) (12,977)
Exchange losses ERTR=ES (7,480) (4,510)
Profit before income tax W PS5 5 A1) 596,260 310,941
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as

follows:

Total segment assets

Unallocated
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents
Others

DRV EERTE

Ko E
AoRRE LB EEY
Hit

5.

TEER (&)
AR BEERBEENAGNOT -

4,424,028

1,703,240
5,421

Total assets per balance sheet

BEERBERMREERR

6,132,689

Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities

as follows:

Total segment liabilities

Unallocated
Unallocated long term borrowings
Others

DB ERRE

Ko E
Ao RHER
Hity

653,884

513,593
14,867

Total liabilities per balance sheet

BEERBERMRAGBRER

1,182,344
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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6. TBE  IHMKRRE

Gas
Exploration  gathering
and  station and Furniture,
Gas  evaluation relating Construction fittings and
properties assets facilities  in progress Vehicles others Total
BAR SRER GE £8
RAREE TEEE B EEIR B REfh L
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:
As at 1 January 2017 ®2017%1R81A
Cost R 1,075,627 1,704,962 356,560 508,118 14,900 51,373 3,711,540
Accumulated depreciation 2:iE (411,315) - (69,265) - (10,772) (31,514) (522,860)
Net book value REFE 664,312 1,704,962 287,295 508,118 4128 19,859 3,188,674
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE2017512B3 ALEE
Opening net book value FURAFE 664,312 1,704,962 287,295 508,118 4128 19,859 3,188,674
Additions =10 266 142,146 264 283,574 723 3,660 430,633
Transferred in/(out) #)/(H) 1,199,908 (1,146,713) 178,662 (231,857) - - -
Disposal — cost BE— KA - - - - - (2,503) (2,503)
— depreciation —hE - - - - - 2,047 2,047
Depreciation charge TEER (62,751) - (30,664) - (2133) (10,175) (105,723)
Currency translation differences I EESR (4,339 (3,649) - (599) - (104) (8,691)
Closing net book value FREMFE 1,797,396 696,746 435,557 559,236 2,718 12,784 3,504,437
As at 31 December 2017 R2017€128318
Cost XA 2,269,530 696,746 535,486 559,236 15,623 52,387 4,129,008
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (472,134) - (99.929) - (12,905) (39,603) (624,571)
Net book value FEFE 1,797,396 696,746 435,557 559,236 2718 12,784 3,504,437
Year ended 31 December 2018 BZ2018512A31 ALEE
Opening net book value ENREFE 1,797,396 696,746 435,557 559,236 2,718 12,784 3,504,437
Additions #in 285 1,957 282 330,830 408 1,680 335,442
Transferred in/(out) BA/(H) 532,559 (69,263) 113,680 (576,976) - - -
Disposal — cost RE—HA - - - - (560) (1,051) (1,611)
— depreciation —fE - = = - 560 1,037 1,597
Depreciation charge TEER (149,457) - (39,709) - (1,389) (7,224) (197,779)
Currency translation differences INEREER 5,964 1,420 - 1,939 - 10 9,333
Closing net book value EXEEERE 2,186,747 630,860 509,810 315,029 1,737 7,236 3,651,419
As at 31 December 2018 R2018%12 8311
Cost R 2810334 630860 649,448 315,029 15,471 53,041 4,474,183
Accumulated depreciation Z:ITE (623,587) - (139,638) - (13,734) (45,805) (822,764)
Net book value REFE 2,186,747 630,860 509,810 315,029 1,737 7,236 3,651,419
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. THE - IRERE®
(Continued)
During the year, borrowing costs capitalised in property, plant HZE2018F 12 A3 HIEFE » TEE
and equipment amounted to RMB33,069,000 (2017: ITHEZEELRLNERKE A
RMB39,176,000) (Note 21) at the weighted average rate of 8.37% A #33,069,0007T (2017 FF = A R #&
(2017: 7.15%) per annum. 39,176,0007t) (FizE21) » IR hHEF IS F|

RB8.37% (2017 4F = 7.15% )5 8. »

During the year, the additions of property, plant and equipment HZ2018F 1231 HIEFE  THE
include RMB1,220,000 (2017: RMB785,000) relating to the asset T M iR 518 hn A R 1,220,0007T (2017
retirement obligations recognised during the year. F: AR®7850007T) @ HEF AR

BERBEERGHERA -

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the exploration and HE207F12A3NHEHIEFE  ERE
evaluation assets of Southern Area in Mabi concession were AT 1TIE R E A ITIEE - BUEHRE
reclassified to gas properties upon the technical feasibility and ERHEMTEEEENEERAARE
commercial viability were demonstrable. e
7. LAND USE RIGHTS 7. LTifERAE
RMB’000

AREFIT
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1818
Cost R 14,099
Accumulated amortisation RET (1,834)
Net book value REFE 12,265
Year ended 31 December 2017 HZE2017F12A31HLEEFE
Opening net book value FHEREFE 12,265
Amortisation charge BIHER (283)
Closing net book value FARREFE 11,982
As at 31 December 2017 ®2017F12831H
Cost B 14,099
Accumulated amortisation ESIE: 35 2,117)
Net book value BREDFE 11,982
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZE2018F12A3MHILLEE
Opening net book value FYRREFE 11,982
Amortisation charge HiHE R (282)
Closing net book value FAREEEFE 11,700
As at 31 December 2018 M2018F12H831H
Cost [B%N 14,099
Accumulated amortisation G (2,399)
Net book value BREDFE 11,700
The Group's interests in land use rights represent prepaid AREB T FRAEFOERIEEMES
operating lease payments. All of the Group's land use rights are HEH  KREEM T HERAED IR
located in the PRC. BIHA o
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

8. EIEE

Computer
software
EEE 4
RMB'000
ARETFIT
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1818
Cost BN 41,117
Accumulated amortisation RET (7,210)
Net book value BREFE 33,907
Year ended 31 December 2017 HZE2017F12A31HLEEE
Opening net book value FHEREFE 33,907
Additions 0 10,338
Amortisation charge HiHE M (4,413)
Closing net book value FARREFE 39,832
As at 31 December 2017 M2017%F12H31H
Cost BN 51,455
Accumulated amortisation Sty (11,623)
Net book value BRI E 39,832
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZE2018F12A31HILEFE
Opening net book value FHREFE 39,832
Additions 340 5,382
Amortisation charge HiHER (5,625)
Closing net book value FAREEFE 39,589
As at 31 December 2018 M2018%F12H31H
Cost [2%N 56,837
Accumulated amortisation RET (17,248)
Net book value R FE 39,589
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 9. FEWRM K H M EWRR
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2018 2017
2018 % 2017
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Trade receivables (a) FEUCBR X (a)
— CUCBM — CUCBM 205,155 10,769
— PetroChina — A 49,548 10,503
— External customers — HNEE R 24,539 80,008
279,242 101,280
Notes receivable (b) FEWZEE (b) 40,000 32,600
Government grants receivables (c) JE LR T 478 Bl (<)
— Government — B 172,747 70,084
— CUCBM — CUCBM 12,551 20,938
— PetroChina — A H 12,866 4,432
Due from related parties for cash calls UL AR IR e &R
and accrued expenses (d) NIEIRE A (d)
— CUCBM — CUCBM 40,598 54,642
— PetroChina — A 9,882 -
Deposits and others HeMmMEMmER 7,573 6,818
575,459 290,794
Less: provision for impairment W R ERE = (7,197)
575,459 283,597
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

154

Trade receivables

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as
follows:

9. EBWERAKEMEWRIR )
JFE Uk B 2k

(a)

(i)

YRR RSO

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Within 3 months =EAA 253,043 67,514
3 months to 6 months =ERA=NEAR 7,064 20,510
6 months to 1 year NERE—F 15,350 6,059
1 year to 2 years —EME 3,785 -
Over 3 years =LA E - 7,197
279,242 101,280
Provision B - (7,197)
279,242 94,083

Trade receivables due from CUCBM represent the
cash collected from external customers attributable to
Sino-American Energy, Inc. ("SAEI") and deposited
into CUCBM'’s bank account on behalf of the Group,
which is jointly managed by CUCBM and SAEI.

Trade receivables due from PetroChina represent the
amount to be collected from PetroChina relating to
the sale of the Group's share of CBM from the Mabi
concession.

Trade receivables due from external customers
represent the amount to be collected from the
independent customers relating to the sale of the
Group's share of CBM from the Panzhuang
concession.
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BOF M I WK M A

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 9. EWRMREHEMERKR @)
(@) Trade receivables (Continued) (a) FEWBRFK (&)

(i) Trade receivables past due but not impaired (iiy CEAMERBENERERR
As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables of R2018F 12 A31 8 » UK
approximately RMB62,189,000 (31 December 2017: B % AR 62,189,000
RMB72,811,000) were past due but not impaired. The (2017F12A31H: AR®
ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as 72,811,0007T ) & %1 #11B KRR
follows: B ZEERWFRIBERNRR D

HipENE
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Past due but not impaired 2@ BB R R E
Over credit term but within 3 months 28 EHEER ={E AN 35,990 46,242
3 months to 6 months =@EAZEXEA 7,064 20,510
6 months to 1 year NEAE—F 15,350 6,059
1 year to 2 years —FEME 3,785 -
62,189 72,811

(iii)

These relate to PetroChina and a number of
independent customers for whom there is no
significant financial difficulty and based on past
experience, the overdue amounts can be recovered.

Movement of bad debt provision:

(iii)

ZERAEP OB RARET
BEAMBRENBIEP
Bl RESEER af
SR -

RRBEED

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLLEE

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 &

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARETFIT

Beginning of the year i =)| 7.197 7,197
Write-off 1% 88 (7,197) -
End of the year WER - 7,197

EEES

BERIERBRARF / —F
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9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

156

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Notes receivable are bank acceptance with maturity dates
within one year.

This represents the VAT refund and government subsidies
for CBM receivable from the government through CUCBM
and PetroChina.

This represents CUCBM's and PetoChina's share of the
cash calls and accrued expenses for the development and
production costs of Panzhuang and Mabi concession yet to
be received from CUCBM and PetroChina, respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amounts of trade and

other receivables approximated their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

9. EWERMKHEMEWIR @)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

FEEE AR PR E—FARER
TR ERE -

It 38 38 CUCBM K2 7 75 5 JiE Uk B
R EE RIS ER R RBTHE
8k o

bt & CUCBM K A A0l 2k & T @
B N 55 AT BB 5 B e A EE R AR R 3R
CERRBERER MAKRM
CUCBM K/ Al E
MR2018F 12 A31H  EWERZ X
HEmEWsmRmERERE AR EE
& -

7R 6% ] Y R MK Pl R e EL At P AR A
REEA T EBEE

As at 31 December

MW12H31H
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREETFIT
RMB AR 574,928 282,967
HK$ BIT 531 630
575,459 283,597

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BOF M I WK M A

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

10. &R T B (IRER)

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2018 2017
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Financial assets as per balance sheet REESBRNERMEE AR¥T T ARBTT

Loans and receivables BRI W

Trade and other receivables (Note 9) FEUBE X R H i FE UG 7 (BF3E9) 575,459 283,597
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 11) REMBLEEYWFETE11) 1,656,523 2,236,970
Restricted bank deposits (Note 11) R EIRITER (HE11) 43,767 37,663
2,275,749 2,558,230

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2018 2017
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Financial liabilities as per balance sheet REEESBEXRNEHMESE AR®BT T AREFIT
Financial liabilities cRaE
Borrowings (excluding finance lease BR(TEEREHEEEE)
liabilities) (Note 15) (3£ 15) - 513,593
Trade and other payables excluding FE BRI B AT 3R
non-financial liabilities (Note 17) TREFEREE (HE17) 240,571 373,410
240,571 887,003
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11.

158

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 11. R RBITEE

Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY

— Cash at banks — BITTER 2,236,970

Restricted bank deposits (a) SRR HIERTTIE R (a) 37,663
2,274,633
(@) As at 31 December 2018, restricted bank deposits (@) M2018F12A318 » ZBRHIRIT
represented land restoration deposits for Panzhuang and FERAERRREE VR T i
Mabi concessions. BIRTFER °
Cash and bank balances were denominated in the following R& RPITHEMIBEATER2 -
currencies:

566,169
1,368,162
340,302

2,274,633

HK$ BT
Us$ ETT
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12. SHARE CAPITAL 12. R
Equivalent
Number of Nominal value nominal value
ordinary of ordinary of ordinary
shares shares shares
TEREE TEREE SERSERE
Thousands US$'000 RMB’000
T FET AREEFIT
Issued and fully paid: EETRHE -
Ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each &% {&0.0001 = JTHY
LEAR
At 1 January 2017 M2017F1 818 3,326,780 333 2,034
— Exercise of share options (a) — 1T{F EEARAE (a) 60 - -
— Vesting of RSUs (b) — BEXREIRG
17 (b) 9,881 1 7
At 31 December 2017 M2017%12H31H 3,336,721 334 2,041
— Exercise of share options (a) — (T{EREARHE (a) 30,718 3 21
— Vesting of RSUs (b) — BEXREIRG
B (b) 23,119 2 15
At 31 December 2018 M2018%12H31H 3,390,558 339 2,077

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 30,718,269 share
options were exercised (2017: 60,000 share options were
exercised) (Note 20(b)(i)).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 23,118,838 RSUs
were vested (2017: 9,880,788 RSUs were vested) (Note 20(b)
(ii)).

(@) # E2018%F12A318 1F &F E -
30,718,269 10 BB AEHE B 77152 (2017

£+ 60,00017) (P &£ 20(b)(7)) °

b) EHZE2018%F12A31HIFFE -
23,118,838 ZBR HI % 7 BE (L B &5
B (2017 £ : 9,880,7881% ) ( Fff #*

20(b)(ii)) °

TERERERERAR/ —E-N\FER
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13.

OTHER RESERVES

Other reserves consist of share-based compensation and foreign
currency translation difference.

14. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

160

13. HitbfEHE
L A (5 185 B0 LA B 19 75 L RIS 0 3R M R S
W

14. EEEZEERK

Year ended 31 December

HBZ12A3MBLEE

2018 2017

2018 2017 F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBTFT

Beginning of the year REH] 14,609 13,176
Provision e 1,385 917
Accretion expenses 211753 747 516
End of the year WRER 16,741 14,609

The asset retirement obligations represent the present value of
estimated future expenditures on decommissioning of gas
properties and restoration of land.
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BOF M I WK M A

15. BORROWINGS

15. &%

As at 31 December

MW128318
2018 2017
2018 2017 £
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Bank loans, secured IRITER - R

Between 2 and 5 years MERF = 513,593
- 513,593

Annual interest rate FH & LIBOR+4.15% LIBOR+4.15%

Annual effective interest rate ERFEFIE 8.37% 7.15%

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's borrowings were
denominated in US$, which were drawn down by SAEI. On 8 July
2015, SAEI as borrower entered into an up to US$250 million
senior secured revolving credit facility with AAGI as guarantor,
and with AAGI’s shares in SAEl mortgaged as security, for a term
of 69 months with a final maturity date of 31 March 2021 bearing
interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 4.15% for the first 4 years and
4.65% for the remainder of the facility.

The Group prepaid all outstanding loans on 6 September 2018
and the total facility of the borrowings was cancelled.

R2017F12A31H » KREB W E A
ELE AEFREREARARER B
201567 A8H » EHBLRAIERIENR
AR Em 25 BEETMELBIRERER
EERE  AREREEEIREAER
AAH T £ R A R A (0 (E IR 38 -
BbE AHIGOE A - &4XEIHIR & 2021 4
3A3TA HEEFMNHERBIRTH
EIREN KR NA5%E - FlgpFEED
A B mBIRITRZEIFE FI L IN4.65%
ATE -

R2018F 960 REBEIRRIEET
FraEREEER WS TREME -
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15.

162

BORROWINGS (Continued)

15. R @)

Movements in borrowings are analysed as follows: fEREF DM T
RMB’000

ARETT
Year ended 31 December 2018 BZE2018F12A31HLFE
Opening balance as at 1 January 2018 M20184 1 A1 A VIR 513,593
Addition o 44,489
Repayments B (607,389)
Amortisation of financing costs A& B AN 5 22,943
Currency translation differences HNEE T E E R 26,364
Closing balance as at 31 December 2018 R2018 %12 A 31 BERHKRHE S
Year ended 31 December 2017 BZE2017F12A31HLEE
Opening balance as at 1 January 2017 2017 F 1 A1 BEAERER 496,376
Addition 4N 39,687
Amortisation of financing costs BB K AN 5 7,087
Currency translation differences INEE YT R (29,557)
Closing balance as at 31 December 2017 R2017 %512 A 31 BEREREE 513,593
As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of borrowings MR2017E12 A3 BB AR EBE
approximated to RMB514 million. The fair value was within level 2 WEANRES14EBITL - AR EBHEHEBSE

hierarchy (Note 3.3).

AR (PRE33) ©
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16. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 16. EEZEFFEHAR
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income FERIBEERRERIBBEESTOT -

tax liabilities is as follows:

As at 31 December

R12A831H
2018 2017
20184 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Deferred income tax assets: EEFRBHEE
— Deferred income tax assets to be — 51218 B AUk [E AR FE
recovered within 12 months RSB E 735 981
— Deferred income tax assets to be — AR 1218 A 12 U a4y
recovered after more than 12 months BEAMSHEE 494 2,168
1,229 3,149
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFFEHAR :
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — B 121E A RYEE
recovered within 12 months BEMGHEE (16,175) (16,065)
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — BB 1218 A 1% U Bl Ay
recovered after more than 12 months RIEFGSHAasE (292,376) (219,164)
(308,551) (235,229)
Net balance HERRE (307,322) (232,080)
All deferred income tax assets and liabilities are related to FTEREIEEMEEHBEREN S
Panzhuang concession, where the Group has legally enforceable AR - ANEEDOKE I ITERERNE
right to offset each other. Accordingly, it is presented on net MEMGHEE - FALOFEEEZY -
basis.
The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as EEFTIS AR B BT ¢
follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLEEE
2018 2017
20184 2017 £
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Beginning of the year HNEH (232,080) (148,213)
Charged to the consolidated statement of A& 4R & a0k (FF7E23)
comprehensive income (Note 23) (75,242) (83,867)
End of the year RER (307,322) (232,080)
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16. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

The movement in deferred income tax account is as follows:

164

16. EBIEFMEHREB @)
EEFSREE BEMT -

Depreciation Income not yet

and subject to
amortisation tax and others Total
TAMBE
e R Wz R H Ath et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREFT ARETT
At 1 January 2017 ®2017F181H (33,144) (115,069) (148,213)
Charged to the consolidated RaftiEa W&k
statement of comprehensive (M$7%23)
income (Note 23) (33,941) (49,926) (83,867)
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12831H (67,085) (164,995) (232,080)
Charged to the consolidated RE Bz e RN
statement of comprehensive (Kt 23)
income (Note 23) (23,599) (51,643) (75,242)
At 31 December 2018 "2018F12A31H (90,684) (216,638) (307,322)

For the purpose of filing of PRC corporate income tax,
development expenditures incurred prior to commercial
production from tax perspective are tax deductible over a 8-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production; exploration expenditures incurred prior to
commercial production from tax perspective except for those
qualified as production wells are tax deductible over a 3-year
period starting from the commencement date of commercial
production.

Deferred income tax expense mainly relates to government
grants which comprise of government subsidies and VAT refunds
received by the Group, which will be taxable in specified future

periods according to relevant tax regulations and local authority
in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax in respect of the exploration and development
expenditures of Mabi concession. Such expenditures are tax
deductible over certain periods starting from the commencement
date of commercial production. As at 31 December 2018, the
Northern Area and Southern Area of Mabi concession are still
under exploration stage and development stage respectively.
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BOF M I WK M A

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 17. BRERRR GRS

As at 31 December

M®12H831H
2018 2017
2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBTT
Trade payables JEFER TR 228,043 350,956
Amounts due to related parties e~ A 7 708
— CUCBM — CUCBM - 1,000
— PetroChina — A 4,078 9,243
Tax payables FERTTR R 810 1,795
Payroll liabilities FENT& 14,903 21,748
Other payables H b e R 8,450 12,211
256,284 396,953
(@)  The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows: (@) BENEFMIERRIIWT

M2018F12A31H ERNEEHR
R RS BRFRM R AT U0 T -

At 31 December 2018, the ageing analysis of the trade
payables based on invoice date is as follows:

As at 31 December

R12H31H
2018 2017
20184 2017 £
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREETIT
Within 6 months NMEA A 166,785 205,987
6 months to 1 year NEAE—F 13,100 59,960
1to 2 years —EME 26,066 56,339
2 to 3 years E=4F 8,801 12,205
Over 3 years =FLAE 13,291 16,465
228,043 350,956
(b)  As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amounts of trade and (b) M2018F12A31H  EHERK
other payables approximated their fair values. Hit BN EEEEAREEA

A -
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17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

@]

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other
payables are denominated in the following currencies:

17. BRI H th FE A 7K ()
(© AEBHM IR RE A R
BRE{EIA 5 S8 HE

As at 31 December

M12H831H
2018 2017
2018 % 2017 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
RMB AR 249,720 383,438
HK$ BT 739 3,182
Us$ ETT 5,825 10,333
256,284 396,953

18. REVENUE

All the Group's revenue is derived through the sale of the
Group's share of CBM sold to customers in the PRC. The amount
of revenue is allocated based on the terms of the PSCs and gas
sales agreements.

19. OTHER INCOME

166

18. kA

AEBHB WAL KB AREE A5 CBM
HRBEEPHHEMS - WASERE
a0 A R KR E S 3H & 1 a8 1O 165K
FADEL

19. Hi A

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLFE

2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREFIT
VAT refund (a) RETIRT () 92,267 50,063
Government subsidy (b) B #ERE (b) 186,902 143,850
279,169 193,913
(@) VAT refund is granted by the PRC government according to (@) IEEFE R D B BT IRIECE K

“The Notice on Tax Policy Issued by The Ministry of Finance
and The State Administration of Taxation on Speeding Up
The Drainage of Coalbed Methane” ((Bf X ZBEI R T 7542 /B
B 50 AR K [ SR, T ER A8 8 5 W 3R RS B Y 38 R )). CUCBM
and PetroChina applies for the VAT refund for Panzhuang
and Mabi concession, respectively. The Group recognises
its entitlement based on the Group's share of CBM sold
and when there is reasonable assurance that the amount
will be received.
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19. OTHER INCOME (Continued)

(b)

Government subsidy is granted by the PRC government
according to “The Implementation Opinions of Subsidies
Granted by The Ministry of Finance on The Development
and Utilisation of Coalbed Methane” (€ Bf Ex B B8 A M 8 &
(FL 8) 58 % ) B # BE /9 B 56 = 8. )) at RMBO0.3 per cubic
meter of the CBM sold. CUCBM and PetroChina applies for
the subsidy for Panzhuang and Mabi concession,
respectively. The Group recognises its entitlement based
on the Group's share of CBM sold and when there is
reasonable assurance that the amount will be received.

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

19. HMUWA @)

(b)

8 478 B A2 AP B KT AR 45 B R 5D
AR E | (FLET) M2 B RA A
EEERIRL - ©£%EMECBM
By HAKAARBOITIFE-
CUCBM KA A 5 Bl 4 7% 5t @ 5%
NMEVEBEPFRMN - ASEDRIR
BAREEELFIECBMR B G E
REZcAENWOBEREM=ZS
K8 o

20. EEEARX

Year ended 31 December
HZE12A3MHILEE

2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREETFIT
Wages and salaries ITENFHS 96,967 98,533
Welfare and other benefits (a) BF) & E A F 5 (a) 25,205 23,082
Share-based compensation (b) PARZ D A BRI FREN (b) 36,076 20,515
Termination benefits BRET 51,701 -
209,949 142,130

(a) Welfare and other benefits (a) B/FRIRHMF =

In the PRC, the pension plans are organized by the
municipal and provincial governments at a rate of 19% of
the employees’ salaries, subject to certain ceilings. In Hong
Kong, the Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
"MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month
based on a monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plans vest immediately.

In the PRC, the Group also contributes to government-
sponsored housing funds at a rate of 12% of the employees'’
salaries, subject to certain ceilings.

TERERERERAR/ —E-N\FER

KA ZEEHFESMI9%(ZE
T ERAR) M T REBRTERE
RS ETEIEH MR - REE -
RE BRI 58 H1E AT S FEHE A
BB TRAHRFERBIEATESEINE
FlarEl((aEestEl]))  HRAE
BER2HEAESHTINELES -
TR B BRI AR S5%1EL
R ABRE A BEUA 30,0004 7T
FFEHEA1,5008 T MZEs
SHER BV RENR SR -

RPE NEETZEEF SN
12% (ZET ERAR) ABBFE
BV ERE £ S EHHRK -
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b) Share-based compensation

168

20. EEEAB @)

(b)

BARR 7 %5 L1 Y 3R A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2018 2017
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFIT
Share-based compensation VAR A7 A L A 3 B
— Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (i) — BRAFREERBRE
&1 () 3,809 (1,119
— Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit — BRAFBEEEZRES
Scheme (ii) f& 15 B ALET 3 (i) 32,267 20,242
— Incremental fair value related to — BRI AR R ey
change of terms AREE = 1,392
Amount charged to employee AR BB
benefits expenses 36,076 20,515
— Incremental fair value on — UR e EEENNAEE
settlement in cash (4,545) —
Net amount credited to other reserves =t A EH fh (8 F 58 31,531 20,515

(i)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme on 31 March 2015. The vesting conditions of
the unvested options under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme are (a) 50% of the options shall be time-
based and shall vest at the rate of one half for each
12-month period commencing from 1 January 2015 if
the relevant employment date is on or prior to 1
January 2014; or one third for each 12-month period
commencing from the relevant employment date if
such date is after 1 January 2014; (b) 50% of the
options shall be KPI-linked and shall be divided into
three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of three KPIs and vested at the rate of
one half for each 12-month period commencing from
1 January 2015 if the relevant employment date is on
or prior to 1 January 2014; or one third for each
12-month period commencing from the relevant
employment date if such date is after 1 January 2014.
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)
(i)  Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(1

2

Movements in the number of share options
outstanding and their related weight average
exercise prices are as follows:

20. EEEAB @)

(b) UARMABERAREM(E)
() BERLRBREABRETS
(%)
(N MRITENERESE
REMEFHITEED
ZET

Exercise price Number of
per share  share options

BRITEE BRERE

Us$ thousands
EYv T4
As at 1 January 2017 R2017%F1A1H 0.151 230,615
Exercised B1THE 0.151 (60)
Forfeited 2 e 0.151 (6,447)
Expired 2 & 0.151 (1,100)
As at 31 December 2017 M2017%12H831H 0.151 223,014
Exercised 21T 0.151 (30,718)
Forfeited 2 ERE 0.151 (164)
Expired 2 Em 0.151 (21,747)
Cancelled 2 HU8 0.151 (64,993)
Cancelled pursuant to AR 9% 2 16 4 5 5 BB
Change of Control (Note) (MEE1) 0.151 (100,323)
As at 31 December 2018 M2018%12H31H 0.151 5,069

As at 31 December 2018, the share options
outstanding have expiry dates between 2019
and 2023, all of options (31 December 2017:
214,858,731) were exercisable.

() F2018F128318 -
MR T BB AR A A B HR
A A2019F £ 20234 -
2 B0 EE IR (2017 612
A31H :214,858,731)
Al AT -
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)

170

(ii)

Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme

On 18 December 2015, the Company announced the
granting of restricted share units ("RSUs") to certain
grantees of the Group in accordance with the Post-
IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme conditionally
approved and adopted by the Company on 5 June
2015. The acceptance letters of the RSUs to the
grantees were signed on 31 January 2016. The vesting
conditions of the RSUs under the scheme are (a) 50%
of the RSUs shall be time-based and shall vest at the
rate of one fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2016; and (b) 50% of the
RSUs shall be KPI-linked and shall be divided into
three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of the three KPIs and vested at the
rate of one fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2016.

AAG ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

20. EERABEXZ @
LAR 0 B BB AR ()

(b)

(ii)

BRALABBREARSRIRG
B{rstal
R2015F 12 A18H » XA A
B MHIRE AR R FR2015F 6
RSB A GHHE RERA T
BRAAEEEZRH KRG
BRFERAEEE T AEK
ABRME 2SI, EL([F
FREIRBEN ) - BUEIR A
KSR SRR 1D BALIE 4 I E
R2016F1A31TBEE - %
FH 8118 T R %I % (0 BB AL 1y
BT IS (a) 50% SR
A% 1 B8 i 78 1% B F) B 2E R
B B2016F3H31H st
SNREAPEERD Z—
(1/4) L Bl 55 &8+ 2 (b) 50%
ZRAIR M EM BB E
EiiZE BEADA=S
D BHE = EEREEE
Bz —#49 IWHE2016F3
A 31 B#EET #1218 A BE%
oz —(1/4) L ISR -
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BOF M I WK M A

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(b) Share-based compensation (Continued)

(ii)

Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme (Continued)

On 24 March 2017, the Company announced the
granting of RSUs to certain grantees of the Group in
accordance with the Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit
Scheme conditionally approved and adopted by the
Company on 5 June 2015. The acceptance letters of
the RSUs to the grantees were signed on 31 May
2017. The vesting conditions of the RSUs for grantees
except for independent non-executive directors are (a)
50% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at
the rate of one fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2017; and (b) 50% of the
RSUs shall be KPI-linked and shall be divided into
three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of three KPIs and vested at the rate of
one fourth (1/4) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2017. The vesting
conditions of the RSUs for those independent non-
executive directors are (a) 25% of the RSUs will be
vested immediately after the acceptance; and (b)
37.5% of the RSUs will be time-based and shall vest at
the rate of one-third (1/3) for each 12-month period
commencing from 31 March 2017; and (c) 37.5% of the
RSUs shall be KPI-linked and shall be divided into
three equal instalments, with each instalment being
linked with one of three KPIs and vested at the rate of
one-third (1/3) for each 12-month period commencing
from 31 March 2017.

20. EEEAB @)

EEES

(b)

BERIERBRARF / —F

U B E R AR ()

(ii)

BRALABBREARSRIRG
BsE (%)
R20179FE3A24H » &NA 7]
B MHIRE AR QT R2015F 6
RSB A GHHE RERA T
BRAAEEEZRH KRG
BRFERAREEE T EEK
A SR 6 A% 0 BB AL - 2
AR AR HI M BB A%
%WLQJEE/\\ZOWES)EJ% H%
o LA A (B IEITE
%%M\)E’]x@ﬁ]ﬂxﬁﬁu
F & A (a) 50% R H A%
f’“’“@ﬁﬂyﬁﬁ'ﬁ%fi%%
B2017F3A31HiEHF12
EAHEIEMN S 2 — (1/4) L
Bl : K (b) 50% 5 R i A%
MEBAENABREEERR
e BADA=ZZH  &H
m-(EREREERE 8
8 W BE2017FE3A31H#E
ATE12ME A HEIR N D 2 —
(1/4) e BIER 8 - AR S/
#iﬂﬁﬁ%mxﬁﬁﬂﬂxf‘“
48 TR (a) 25% 2[R
%IJHXT‘“’“MHEA?%W&EH%
558 5 M (b) 37.5% X R I i%
MEBAGIESHEEERE -
B2017F3A31HiEsH 12
EABEZE=22—(1/3)
BB © K(c) 37.5% % R
Wﬁﬁ&;ﬁéﬁf%ﬁ%%ﬁ%%
By BB AB=%5%H"
ME=EREREEREZE S —
ey WHE20174F3A31H
BErE12@ABEE=22
—(1/73) L BIERES -
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 20. REBABEXZ @
(b) Share-based compensation (Continued) (b) LI AERMNRM(E)
(ii) Post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme (Continued) (i) BROABEREAZRERSG
B{UstE (&)
Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as HARITE IR &I %D B &
follows: BE#mT :
Closing price Number of
on grant date RSUs
RELHBHN = PR I R 42
W E BNEE
HK$ per share thousands
FREBET T4
As at 1 January 2017 M2017%1H1H 40,154
Granted (18 May 2017) O F (20175 818H) 1.27 10,907
Granted (31 May 2017) EET(017F5A318) 1.29 15,426
Forfeited B 1ERE (2,622)
Vested 2B (9,887)
As at 1 January 2018 M2018FE1 818 53,984
Forfeited 2 VERE (833)
Vested ERE (23,119)
Cancelled 2HUH (9,878)
Cancelled pursuant to Change of R #5127 % 8 BUS
Control (Note1) (MF=E1) (20,154)
As at 31 December 2018 M2018F12H31H -
The fair values of RSUs granted were determined by ERTXREIBKRGELHD
the closing price quoted on The Stock Exchange of AEBEERAREABRESE
Hong Kong Limited on the grant date. B R 5 AR A R AR
M{EETE -
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)
Five highest paid individuals

(c)

(c)

Details of five highest paid individuals are set out below:

20. EEEAB @)

AUGESHMAL
A REHMATOFTOT

Number of Individuals

AE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 £
Director (Note 32) E=E (M5E32) 1 1
Non-director individuals (i) IEEEKE () 4
5

The emoluments payable to the non-director individuals during the

year are as follows:

RAFEERNFEZTATHNFN
T

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31ALLEE

2018 2017
2018 % 2017 ¢
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREFT
Basic salaries and allowances EARE & R 10,448 13,207
Discretionary bonuses WiFEe - 3,241
Share-based compensation LARR A7 % EE Tt 1) SR M 12,194 9,251
Other benefits including pension HipaH (BRRAKE) 2,042 2,070
Termination benefits BHREF 18,915 -
43,599 27,769

The emoluments fell within the following bands: HIMEE T :

Number of Individuals
AH
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 %
Emolument bands HNEsE

HK$4,500,001-HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 77T 2 5,000,000 7 7T = 1
HK$6,000,001-HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 7 7T Z 6,500,000 7 7T - 1
HK$7,000,001-HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 78 7T 2 7,500,000 7% 7T 1 -
HK$9,500,001-HK$10,000,000 9,500,001 77T 2 10,000,000 % 7T = 1
HK$10,500,001-HK$ 11,000,000 10,500,001 7 7L 2 11,000,000 47T 1 -
HK$11,500,001-HK$ 12,000,000 11,500,001 % 7T 2 12,000,000 7 7T 1 1
HK$21,500,001-HK$22,000,000 21,500,001 77T 2 22,000,000 7 7T 1 -
4 4
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21. FINANCE COSTS, NET

21. MKEBH — S5

Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31MHILEE

2018 2017

20184 2017 £

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®ET T ARETFIT

Interest expense of bank borrowings RITEFRWOFEER (33,069) (39.176)

Bank loan commitment fee WITERALE (24,960) (12,577)

Accretion expenses of asset retirement BEEBEEBHREIZER

obligations (596) (400)

Subtotal INEt (58,625) (52,153)
Less: amounts capitalised on B EEREEENMLER

qualifying assets (Note 6) (fF5E6) 33,069 39,176

Finance costs B E R (25,556) (12,977)

Interest income FEU A 25,701 6,306

Exchange losses P& K8k (7,480) (4,510)

Finance costs, net S ER — F58E (7,335) (11,181)

22. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax was determined after charging the

following:

22. BRFF1SBLAT R

REGFAEHATAEOERWT -

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLFE

2018 2017

2018 F 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® T AREFIT

Operating lease expenses RETHEE 15,270 13,947

Auditors’ remunerations AT R 3 B

— Audit services — Ei IR

— The Company e VNET 3,800 3,600

— Subsidiaries — B A 600 600

— Non-audit services — JEEERTS 1,241 583
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23. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

23. FRSHEH

Year ended 31 December
HZE12A3MHILEE

2018 2017

2018 % 2017 4

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREEFIT

Current income tax = HAFT SR (108,081) (43,876)
Deferred income tax (Note 16) EIEFTE R (FizE16) (75,242) (83,867)
(183,323) (127,743)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempt company with limited liability and, accordingly, is
exempted from payment of local income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the
Group did not derive any assessable profits in Hong Kong during
the year.

AAGI and AAG Energy (China) Limited, which were incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands under the International Business
Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands, are exempted from
payment of local income tax.

SAEI, which was incorporated in Samoa under the International
Business Companies Acts of the Samoa, is exempted from
payment of local income tax.

Corporate income tax in the PRC is calculated based on the
taxable profit of branches established in the PRC. According to
the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law promulgated by the PRC
government, the tax rate applicable for the PRC branches of the
Group's subsidiaries is 25%.

ARBERESHSTMRLA/REAR
RA) - FILFRREE HATEHR -

HRASERANFELRZAEEBIG
EAERTAE - WAL BAHEF AN
i o

BEEBERRBESBEEER AR
EEEM RSB R AREE
[E & X AAG Energy (China) Limited %A%
B PTG ©

RIBEEEDBBRBERRANEEDE
A A2 B SR BETR A BB S B L PR AR
B o

B (b P IS AR TR AR A R B RS2 B
DA ERB B E - RETBERA
B R BERRMETOE - AEEMNE
R B R B RO B A B R /% 25% e
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23. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as

follows:

23. MEHRERA®)

7N 55 BIRR BT 15 25 A1 AR O 50 TR B2 5 &

EREAENERBBETR - 715

T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2018 2017
2018 2017 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Profit before income tax FREFS AT FE 596,260 310,941
Tax expense calculated at applicable  {ZiEFEATEH R ER
statutory tax rates HIAE R (145,264) (146,350)
(Current year)/utilization of previously (ARG [E),fF A ARTFEE
deductible temporary differences FERELEREERN
for which no deferred tax asset was AN ER
recognised (33,396) 22,848
Expenses not deductible for taxation A IR A &
purposes (811) (1,812)
Others Hith (3,852) (2,429)
Income tax expense FTiSHi & A (183,323) (127,743)
24. EARNINGS PER SHARE 24. BB Wz
(a) Basic (@ EX

ARG W THIERBIR AR AT
BENF BB ULE E218F &
201712 AN BIEFEARAD ET
LRI IEETESD -

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Year ended 31 December

HBZ12A3MBLEE

2018 2017

2018 F 2017

Profit attributable to owners of the BEENRNAAGIFAEEN 412,937 183,198
Company (RMB’000) MEAREFT)

Weighted average number of ordinary £ %77 % BEKRRH 3,358,654 3,333,675
basic shares in issue (Thousands) IREF S (FRR)

Basic earnings per share (RMB) ERRKE(ARET) 0.123 0.055
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24. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company has share options and RSUs
outstanding which are potentially dilutive. The assumed
proceeds from conversion of these options and RSUs shall
be regarded as having been received from the issue of
ordinary shares at average market price of ordinary shares
during the period. The difference between the number of
shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise
of the share options and RSUs and the number of shares
that could have been issued at the average market price of
the ordinary shares during the period with the same total
assumed proceeds is the number of shares issued for no
consideration. The resulting number of shares issued for no
consideration is included in the weighted average number
of ordinary shares as the denominator for calculating
diluted earnings per share.

24. BRWE @)
(b) Wi

TR RIS R AR
TELBALIL 3018 - RIBE RITE
BREOIMEFHEEE - ARAG
A AR B LB AR ¢ RS A
BRI EA - BRIELER
HEFN IR %1 AR 15 B807 34 R P ER Y
{8 20 e 2180 A 4 BR A PO 3 4 A T 4
TS ERRITMES - TRERT
AR B B R ERBRITE TR
HERSZ IR 51 B& 15 B457 B 2 36 1T MO B
HHE - RBERRBHRNLERT
BT BRI RSER A HE
REER T B BB ITH AR
B - E—ERERITHORS
BB ISR B AR DI T 8 —
05 WERTTERBERKER
DR -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A831BLLEE

2018 2017
20184 2017 5
Profit attributable to owners of the BENARRIEENFE 412,937 183,198
Company (RMB'000) (ARBFT)
Weighted average number of ordinary B 217 A% &9 hi#EF 5 X 3,358,654 3,333,675
shares in issue (Thousands) (FR%)
Adjustments for assumed conversion of &% 2 EE A% 4 & 5 BR ) 752 8,570
share options and RSUs(Thousands) % 7 B &y S (F %)
Weighted average number of ordinary &R ESR KK 3,359,406 3,342,245
shares for diluted earnings per share  E3@AMNAEF S (THL)
(Thousands)
Diluted earnings per share (RMB) WESRKE(ARET) 0.123 0.055

25. DIVIDENDS
A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 of
RMBO0.0737 per share will be proposed at the annual general
meeting on 10 May 2019. These financial statements do not
reflect this dividend payable.

A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 of
HK$83,106,810 (RMB67,943,000) was proposed at the AGM on 8
May 2018 and was paid on 21 June 2018.

25. K&
2018 F E R B E AR A R¥0.0737 7T
BR2019FE5 810 Z MR EFAE +
RE HWEPBRRT ERMZEENS
f& 8 o

HE2017F12831BIEEENHR A
83,106,810/ 7T (AR 67,943,0007T) 2
R2018F5 A8 HMBERAF KNS it
2 WR2018F 6 A21 BIRST »

TERERERERAR/ —E-N\FER 177



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

O I AR M A

26. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flow

generated from operations:

26. BFEFEMERE

(@ BASHANBELZEDHMER
TR EFREA A

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLFE

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Profit before income tax B P15 B A AR 596,260 310,941
Adjustments for: BT SBELAE
Depreciation (Note 6) e (Fst6) 197,779 105,723
Amortisation (Notes 7 and 8) B (fsE7 X28) 5,907 4,696
(Gains)/losses on disposals of HEREE TM&
property, plant and equipment REN(FB)/ BB (38) 16
Interest income (Note 21) FEWA (FIFE21) (25,701) (6,306)
Finance costs (Note 21) VFER(MEE21) 25,556 12,977
Exchange losses RS 7,480 4,510
Share-based compensation LA RS A7 72 BT 1) S
(Note 20(b)) (Bt &E20(b)) 36,076 20,515
Changes in working capital: KEESHNED -
Increase in inventories FEHE (9,.062) (684)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and JFEURBR ZX K E B U X
other receivables (g, w (294,565) 22,269
(Decrease)/increase in trade and FERTBR BN M E B~k
other payables CRL),/$Ehn (23,322) 12,741
Cash generated from operations KEEHESANIRS 516,370 487,398

(b) Changes in bank borrowings arising from financing activities

b) BEDDAELRITERED

Non-cash changes

*REEH
As at Foreign As at
1 January exchange 31 December
2018  Cashflows  movement Amortisation 2018
20185 2018 %
1818 RERE EX2® B 12A3A

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARE®TR AR®TR ARET:R

Long-term borrowings REIER

513,593 (562,900) 26,364 22,943 -
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27. B AR 5B
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, HE— AR HEESMEEEG RS — A
directly or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant HE— PGS MEESRREBAEKR
influence over the other party in making financial and operation TR AR ARE T o KRS
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are SRR EBE T ANEBRETEEEA
subject to common control. Members of key management and B REFR KK B IR AR
their close family member of the Group are also considered as
related parties.
(a) The following companies are related parties of the (a) BZE2018F12HA31HLEFE >
Group during the year ended 31 December 2018 THARARETEENEBE :
Names of the related parties Nature of relationship Ownership interest
L B8 BERME FrEE#ER
Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd.? Ultimate parent entity 49.93%
FEBEFRARKRNOBERARO RPN 7]
Sichuan Liming Energy Intermediate parent entity 49.93%
Development Co., Ltd.?
MIFEAERFAZEBREEARO FREERAF
Liming Holding Limited" Immediate parent entity 49.93%
EBNBAEZERER AR BEERAR
CUCBM PSC partner of Panzhuang concession N/A
FEE R E R EHERMEEMOKERARA NiE A
CNPC/PetroChina‘ PSC partner of Mabi concession N/A
CNPC /A ® BLERERDKEREEA TEA
(i) As at 31 December 2018, Xinjiang Xintai Natural Gas Co., Ltd., (i) TR2018F 12 A31H MEE&EHZ AR

through its 100% controlled subsidiary Sichuan Liming Energy
Development Co., Ltd., holds 100% of the issued ordinary shares of
Liming Holding Limited.

(ii) The exploration phase sales agreement was entered into between (ii)
AAGI and PetroChina (representing CNPC).

REHAERARBBEZERKRARF
M)A R ERREEARRE
TR PERBR AR 100% 2 #1T

5500 S0 B IR 4 45 19k el SR SR KB
RERESAH(RERCNPC)RIL ©
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties

(c)

180

27. BHBAER S (@)
(b) BB AENEARS

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A831BLLEE

2018 2017
20184 2017 £
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETIT
Services received EES KRS
— CUCBM — CUCBM 4,565 4,493
— PetroChina — A 3,134 7,481
7,699 11,974
Sales of gas HEEER
— PetroChina — A 124,943 28,712
Key management compensation (c) EEEEAEHMN
Year ended 31 December
HBZE12A31BLLEE
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Basic salaries and allowances EARE S &2EL 27,719 28,996
Discretionary bonuses RIERS 2,077 6,960
Share-based compensation VAR 157 7% B0 A 3 B 21,187 15,745
Other benefits including pension Higaf (BIEERS) 4,026 3,742
Termination benefits R R A 32,624 -
87,633 55,443
Included in above, RMB78,285,000 are related to former E&xRH AR 78,285,0007T /32018

management who resigned after the Change of Control in

2018.
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28. COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted at the end of the year but
not yet incurred is as follows:

28. FAFHEBIH

(a) EAXAFH
RAFEERDITOETRAEEAN
BEARZAT :

As at 31 December

M®12A831H
2018 2017
2018 F 20174
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREBTFT
Property, plant and equipment TEIE - TRARFE 27,306 123,230

(b) Operating lease commitments
The Group leases office premises from non-related parties
under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The
future minimum lease payable under non-cancellable
operating leases contracted for at the balance sheet date
but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:

(b) KREHEEA
NEEE IR S TRl HEE L E
HEwRTHERARE - 10
BiHGCEHET  REEBERXRH
BEIAERNARERSBENRKE
EEMHEERBIT

As at 31 December

M12A31R
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
No later than 1 year —F LR 7,975 7,125
Later than 1 year but —FERF
no later than 5 years 2,361 427
10,336 7,552

29. RECLASSIFICATION

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform
with the presentation of the financial information for the current
year.

29. EFOE

ETHRENDEHNNE  UTEARF
EHHERNZT -
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30. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 30. A AT EEABEREERE
OF THE COMPANY

(a) Balance sheet of the Company (a) AAREEEER
As at 31 December
R12A831H
2018 2017
20184 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Long-term investment RHEE 3,594,481 3,058,729
Property, plant and equipment TEYE - TRREE 297 679
Intangible assets B EE 41 53
3,594,819 3,059,461
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b e Wk 839 1,488
Cash and cash equivalents HERESEEY 930,154 1,368,258
930,993 1,369,746
Total assets BEE 4,525,812 4,429,207
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners BEBRAARMEENER
of the Company
Share capital A& 7K 2,077 2,041
Share premium &A% (8 4,269,501 4,179,471
Other reserves Hu 510,891 431,379
Accumulated deficits ZEEE (274,912) (196,572)
4,507,557 4,416,319
LIABILITIES &&
Current liabilities REAERE
Other payables Hib = 18,255 12,888
Total liabilities HmEeE 18,255 12,888
Total equity and liabilities mEEREE 4,525,812 4,429,207

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the

Board of Directors on 21 March 2019 and was signed on its

AR EEABERAEZEETN2019
FIA2HIE  WHERKRES -

behalf.
Director Director
EF EFE
Yan Danhua Zhang Jianbing
BE RES
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30. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 30. X ARG EEESEBEXREES T
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Reserve movement of the Company

(b)

(%)

(b) AATEERD

Share Other  Accumulated

premium reserves deficits

B R E Hih s REtEE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETF T AREET T AREFIT

As at 1 January 2017 M2017F1818 4169177 694,535 (125,423)

Loss for the year FEEE - - (71,149)
Currency translation INEHTHE E R

differences - (273,431) -

Share-based compensation LA & EEHE &9 R B - 20,515 -

Vesting of RSUs 55 8 S IR I A A BE iz 10,201 (10,208) -

Exercise of options 1T RERR 93 (32) -

As at 31 December 2017 M2017%12831H 4,179,471 431,379 (196,572)

Loss for the year FEEIE = = (78,340)
Currency translation INEEPTE R

differences - 216,833 -

Share-based compensation  LARR{7 /& ELHE H 4R BM - 31,531 -

Vesting of RSUs 5B X RS E AL 44,813 (44,828) -

Cash settlement of RSUs LAIR & 45 B 89 2R

Petn B4z - (10,231) -

Exercise of options TP RERR 113,160 (113,793) -

Dividend distributed J% #) 55 B (67,943) = =

As at 31 December 2018 A 2018%12831H 4,269,501 510,891 (274,912)
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31.

184

SUBSIDIARIES 31. B A E]
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December ATHIRA2018F12A3THMEEN
2018: BAT
Proportion of
Place of incorporation and Issued/  Principal activities and ordinary shares
Name type of legal entity paid-up capital place of operation held by the Group (%)
B&f7/ REERA
£ EMELBREARREL BARE IEXBREEHE EBRELAI (%)
AAGI British Virgin Islands ("BVI"), US$50,000/  CBM project development, BVI 100%
Limited liability company US$50,000
DXABERER RBEREE((ARAR 000X/ KEREERE ZBERES 100%
#8)) ARAA 50000% 7T
AAG Energy (China) Limited BVI, Limited liability company US$5,000/  CBM project development, BVI 100%
US$5,000
ZREREE  BROA 500%7/ REFREERY XBARES 100%
5000%7T
SAEI Samoa, Limited liability company US$7,000,000/  CBM project development, Samoa 100%
US$7,000,000
ERERLAF BEZ - BRAF TO000X/ REFEERE BEEZ 100%
7,000,000 7
Alpha Eagle Limited Cayman Islands, Limited US$1/US$1  CBM project development, 100%
liability company Cayman lslands
EEBRAR RERE  ARAT 1%1/ RERRBRE HEHS 100%
(E3
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 32. EERAKRRz=

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EEREEIHTENMS
The remuneration of every director and the chief executive BEENEFRTENEFMGOT

is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2018: BZE2018F 12 31 BILFE -

Executive Directors E:liy £
M. Ming Zayun (3 FAERLL)
Mr. Yan Danhua (b) BRAZLED)

M. Zhang Jianbing (b) FEEREN)
Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou (¢ FHEFL()

Non-executive Directors ~ $H#17E%
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw(d) ~ BFAEE()

M. Zhen Wi (0 BEEE)
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan(d) ~~ Peter Randall Kagen
pi0]
M. LeiJin RRE
Dr. Guiyong Cui EftERL
Mr. Saurabh Nerayan Agarwal  Saurabh Narayan
Agamal £
M Fei Nie e Bt
Independent Non-executive ~ BUH(TEE
Directors
Mr. Tai Kiwok Leung FARELN
Alexander ()
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (g) el
Dr. Yang Ruizhao (r) BREALH
M Yaowen W ) RENEL)
Mr. Roloert Ralph Parks () Robert Ralph Parks
RE)
Mr. Fredfick J. Barrett ) Fredrick J. Barrett
RE)

M. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law ()~ BEEZ£X()

Chief Executive BRUOE
M. JingLiK) FREEN
Total At
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 32. EE/ARAE )

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) ESREEIHTENME (B)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017: HZE2017F 1231 BILFE -

Executive Director E:liy £
Dr. Stephen Xiengdong Zou (¢ BRERAL() - 7151 1781 40% L] - - 13119

Non-executive Directors ~ #H#17E%
Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw(d) ~ BFAEE() - - - - - : B .

M. Zhen Wei {0 BEEED) - - - - - - - _
Mr. Peter Randall Kagan (d) ~ Peter Rendall Kagen

pidl] - - - - - - - -
M. Lei Jin SERE - - - - - _ _ _
Dr. Guiyong Cui EEERT - - - - - - _ _
Mr. Bo Bai HiREE - - - - _ _ _ _
Mr. Saurabh Narayan Aganwal  Saurabh Narayan

Agamal £ - - - - - - - R
Mr. Fei Nie (e) ERELE - - - - _ _ _ _

Independent Non-executive ~ BIF#H7EE

Directors

M. Yaoen W ) SEEE) b - - s - - - s
Mr. Roloert Ralph Parks () Robert Ralph Parks

pikd) 7% - - 48 - - - 1174
Mr. Fredfick J. Barrett ) Fredrick J. Barret

pad] 113 - - 5 - - - 1585
M. Stephen Cheuk Kin Law ()~ BEZ£X() %4 - - 370 - - - 1364
Chief Executive ERHfE
Mr. JingLi (K SREEN - 40 1182 4388 8 - - 10024
Total At 3163 11,508 29%9 10174 170 - - 2199
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

(a)

Notes:

(a)

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan was appointed as an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board of the Company on 24 August 2018.

Mr. Yan Danhua and Mr. Zhang Jianbing were appointed as executive
Directors of the Company on 24 August 2018. Mr. Yan Danhua was
appointed as the president of the Company on 7 September 2018.

Dr. Stephen Xiangdong Zou resigned as chairman of the Board on 24
August 2018 and resigned as an executive Director of the Company
on 22 November 2018.

Mr. Gordon Sun Kan Shaw, Mr. Zhen Wei and Mr. Peter Randall
Kagan resigned as non-executive Directors of the Company on 25
August 2018.

Mr. Fei Nie resigned as a non-executive Director of the Company on
8 May 2018.

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 24 August 2018.

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 24 August 2018.

Dr. Yang Ruizhao was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 9 November 2018.

Mr. Yaowen Wu resigned as an independent non-executive Director
of the Company on 24 August 2018.

Mr. Robert Ralph Parks, Mr. Fredrick J. Barrett and Mr. Stephen
Cheuk Kin Law resigned as independent non-executive Directors of
the Company on 7 September 2018.

Mr. Jing Li ceased to be the chief executive officer and the president
of the Company on 7 September 2018.

2. EERARAE @

(a)
BREE -

(a)

DEREREBRERRIF/ 2 \FFH

ESREREATENME (B

MR2018F8 248  FABRALES
EBARBRTEERESTEERE -

R2018F8 A 248 » B ERAFIR
BEEEBETARDRNITES -
MR2018F9A7H B ELEES
EARRRIMLBEE -

R20184F 8 A24 A FHEIGLEHT
EEGEFE - N2018F 11 A228 -
BARETEEARARRNITES -

R2018 48 A25H « T EE - 3R
B2 % 4 F Peter Randall Kagan 5t 4 &
ERRRIRITES -

R20184E5 A8 H » BRI EBAAR
NRIFEWITES -

R2018F8 A24H  HEREEER
FARRBBILIERITES -

201848 A24 A » ZIBEIEIE+EZ
FARRBBILIERITES -

R2018F 11 A9H  BImAELES
FARRBBILIERITES -

R20184F8 A24H - R EABT
RARENIERITES ©

7201849 A7 H ' Robert Ralph
Parks %C4 + Fredrick J. Barrett 5t 4 Al
BEBREAFERARBILIENTE
$ °

R2018F9A7H » TRAETHIE
EARARMNEERITE MBE -
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 32. EEEME A= 5

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments (a) EEREEITENME (B
(Continued)
Directors’ emoluments EEHM
Aggregate emoluments
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by
paid to or receivable by directors in respect of
directors in respect of their other services in connection
their services as directors, with the management of
whether of the Company or the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking its subsidiary undertaking Total Total
EERHEERES EEpHERARQRFHA
(FREAARRNEMEAR) HWEARNNEEEEETRNHEM
MERBXARERNFMAE  REMSREREFHEE Ll A&t
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
2018 % 2017 4 2018 & 2017 2018 % 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTFT AR®F ARBTIT AR®T ARMETIT
4,374 4,857 26,554 13,119 30,928 17,970
Notes: Emoluments above include estimated money value of non-cash Mzt FEMBIEERSENNGHETS
benefits: share options, RSUs and insurance premium. 8 BB - SIREIIRD ELNFRRE
=,
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32. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no retirement
benefits operated by the Group was paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his
services as a director or other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries (2017: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director’s services was
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by the
director was RMB12,188,000 without any payable (2017: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2017: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

There is no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities (2017: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2017: nil).

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

2. EERARAE @

EERAKERN
HZE2018F12A31HIEFE » &
EESERBE MR EARR A
HIfB AR EKEBERMEM
RIS EEREEREE S HiE
HIRIKAER] - ERINE B EUGRIR
B (20174 : &) o

EERERN
HZE2018F 12 A3 B IEFE - 5
EERBRILEESBERNESREY
NHWREXEBNAARE
12,188,0007T + & B £ A JE 1 &K
(20174 « &) -

REZEREOE=ZFREHEPIR
[}
HZE2018F12A31HILEE - 8
BREREFRBME =T IRERN -
F=HIVEHE BBERE (2017 F -
) -

AREOES  ZEHZEARE
ZESHABNEREANE
M EERRAEMRZER

RABEMES - ZIEHEA R
MEREENER  EEREEM
X5 (20174 - &) o

EXAEXRS  ZHIAESHTHE
OEPN
RAFERME2FEMNRRE AQ
AR BRI AT AR E XA
AARPEEHBEN Em (BR
EHERIER)NEARS - ©H
REH (2017 F « &) o
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman)

Mr. Yan Danhua (President)

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (Vice President)

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Cui Guiyong

Ms. Gu Ren (appointed on 21 March 2019)

Mr. Jin Lei (resigned on 21 March 2019)

Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal (resigned on 21 March 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Dr. Yang Ruizhao

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Chiu Ming King

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Zhang Jianbing
Mr. Chiu Ming King

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander (Chairman)
Ms. Gu Ren (appointed on 21 March 2019)
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng

Mr. Jin Lei (resigned on 21 March 2019)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Liu Xiaofeng (Chairman)

Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

Mr. Zhang Jianbing (appointed on 21 March 2019)

Mr. Saurabh Narayan Agarwal (resigned on 21 March 2019)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ming Zaiyuan (Chairman)
Dr. Liu Xiaofeng
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander
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STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS NEW BUSINESS

COMMITTEE)

Dr. Yang Ruizhao (Chairman)
Dr. Cui Guiyong
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung Alexander

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O.Box 31119

Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road

Grand Cayman KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 2109-10, 21st Floor

China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre

No. 168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN CHINA

Guobei Village

Jiafeng Town, Qinshui County
Jincheng City

Shanxi Province, 048204
People’s Republic of China
Panzhuang Management Center

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER AGENT

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Willow House, Cricket Square

P. O. Box 268

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

BRBREZSS (ABHEL
ZE9)

BInAE L (ERF)
EEBEL
BEREE

AR
P.O.Box 31119

Grand Pavilion

Hibiscus Way

802 West Bay Road
Grand Cayman KY1-1205
Cayman Islands

ERANMREEER MR

B

T a8 168-2005%
(B
RERRE
211210910 %

FEIERE R
AR S

(LI P 4 4 T B BB 0
AL+

BEERHL

B4R - 048204

FERERNBFERARE

Campbells Corporate Services Limited
Willow House, Cricket Square

P. O. Box 268

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

ERESERE
EBPREFELERAA
BEBT
2REKBER1835%
AR

171 1712-1716 %
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Bank of Communication Limited, Offshore Banking Unit

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
22/F, Prince's Building, Central
Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law and United States law:
DLA Piper Hong Kong

17th Floor, Edinburgh Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

As to PRC law:

Shanxi Benhe Law Office LI FAARFIEANETSFT
14th Floor, Yicui Commercial Centre 822 575/ /L
Jincheng City,

Shanxi Province 048000

People’s Republic of China

STOCK CODE

2686

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.aagenergy.com
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